Introduction

Melvin 1. Urofsky

One professional task that historians per-
form is to read manuscripts that are submit-
ted to publishers and evaluate them to sce
if they are accurate, well written, and suit-
able for publication. This past summer I read
such a manuscript, a biography of one of the
lesser-known Justices of the Supreme Court,
Wiley Rutledge, who served in the 1940s. In
the course of my own research, I had come
across a quote about Rutledge indicating that
when he died, he was greatly mourned, not just
for that which he had already accomplished,
but for that which he would now be unable to
do. In his new biography of Wiley Rutledge,
John M. Ferren will do much, I believe, to jus-
tify the truth of that statement.

As it turned out, [ was already aware that
Judge Ferren was working on the Rutledge bio-
graphy. I first met him a few years ago when
he was a fellow at the Woodrow Wilson Cen-
ter in Washington, and last year I imposed on
him to talk to the research colloquium that the
Supreme Court Historical Society hosts every
month. He spoke on the Yamashita case, and

we then agreed that he would submit an article
for the Journal. We believe you will find the
article fascinating, a piece that will whet your
appetite for the full Rutledge story.

In many ways, Robert Frankel is one of our
own, since he is one of the editors of the So-
ciety’s Documentary History project. We have
tapped that source often, and the articles grow-
ing out of the editors’ research have shed much
light on the judicial history of the nation in its
early years. Historians have long speculated
on the extent of judicial review before Mar-
bury v. Madison (1803). In this article, we have
one of the more definitive examinations of that
issue.

I just happened to see a copy of a paper
that Sarah Gordon gave last year, and I thought
it was so interesting that I asked her to expand
it for publication in the Journal. With atten-
tion once again focused on polygamy in Utah,
this historical look at that issue 125 years ago
should be of interest to all of our readers.

If you follow books on constitutional and
legal history, you will know that there has been
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arash of publications in the period leading up
to the fiftieth anniversary of Brown v. Board
of Education. We published an essay review
a few issues back on James Patterson’s book
on the legacy of Brown, and I am aware of at
least three other scholars who are also mining
that subject. One of them is Jeffrey Hockett. In
this piece, he talks about how the ruling in that
case had to be legitimized not only in terms
of jurisprudence, but also in terms of popular
acceptance.

Sometimes we take Grier Stephenson for
granted, and we should not. Grier has a busy
career as a teacher and a scholar at Franklin &
Marshall College. In addition, for many years
he has been doing readers of this journal a
great service by providing an overview of re-
cent books on the Court in his “Judicial Book-
shelf.” So, from a grateful editor who is sure
he also speaks for a grateful readership: many
thanks, Grier.

As usual, there is a feast here. Enjoy!



Before Marbury: Hylton v. United
States and the Origins

of Judicial Review

ROBERT P. FRANKEL, JR.!

Marburyv. Madison, decided in 1803, is famous for being the first case in which the Supreme
Court asserted its power of judicial review. The typical American history textbook includes at
least a few lines about how the Court, under the “Great Chief Justice,” John Marshall, struck
down part of the Judiciary Act of 1789 and claimed its authority to stand as the ultimate guardian

of the Constitution.

However, the Court actually employed just
this kind of judicial review for the first time
some seven years earlier, in the 1796 case, Hyl-
ton v. United States. The Court did not overturn
the federal law upon which this case hinged, the
Carriage Tax Act of 1794, but the Justices had
been prepared to do so. In fact, Hylton was an
arranged case, with both parties understanding
that the constitutionality of the statute stood
at issue. That the Court ultimately upheld the
legislation does not mean the Justices had not
employed judicial review, because they clearly
had.

The Constitution says nothing about ju-
dicial review, but many scholars believe the
Framers assumed the existence of such an au-
thority. Alexander Hamilton, who would ar-

gue Hylton on behalf of the government in
the Supreme Court, maintained in Federalist
No. 78 that the judiciary would have the final
word on the constitutional legitimacy of con-
gressional statutes.? It has also been pointed
out that there was a tradition of judicial review
in colonial and state courts.

An examination of the federal courts in
the 1790s strengthens the notion that judicial
review was well accepted in the first years
of the Republic and that Marbury was not
quite as towering a landmark as it is some-
times depicted.’ In 1792, in Hayburn’s Case,
two Supreme Court Justices and a district court
judge, sitting as the United States Circuit Court
for Pennsylvania, effectively voided a federal
law when they refused to adhere to Congress’s
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Alexander Hamilton argued Hylton v. United States
(1796) for the government in the Supreme Court.
The case was the most conspicuous example of the
Supreme Court’s use of judicial review before Marbury
v. Madison.

mandate that they hear the claims of Revolu-
tionary War invalid pensioners. And the Jus-
tices, whether on circuit or sitting together as
the Supreme Court, often found themselves re-
viewing state laws. For example, in February
1796—the same Term in which it decided
Hylton v. United States—the high court ruled
in Ware v. Hylton that the 1783 Treaty of Peace
with Great Britain overrode a Virginia confis-
cation statute passed during the Revolution and
that therefore British merchants could not be
impeded in collecting debts.*

Hylton v. United States, however, stands as
the most conspicuous example of the Supreme
Court’s use of judicial review prior to Mar-
bury. From the outset everyone knew that
the case would be decided on the basis of
whether a congressional act—one bearing na-
tional significance—adhered to the Constitu-
tion. In contrast to Marbury, in which the de-
cision to strike down a portion of the Judiciary
Act had been unanticipated, it was no secret
that Hylton would turn on the Court’s judg-
ment as to the constitutionality of the carriage

legislation. Both sides not only were prepared
to accept that judgment but had actively sought
it. Furthermore, the Court would be ruling not
on an issue relative to the functioning of the
judicial branch, but on the validity of a federal
tax.

The Carriage Tax Act of 1794, passed to
raise revenues to bolster the nation’s defen-
sive capacity as tensions with Great Britain
mounted, laid duties upon carriages, payable
once a year. with rates ranging from one dollar
for the crudest two-wheel vehicle to ten dollars
for a coach.” But objections to the tax on the
grounds that it was unconstitutional had arisen
as early as the congressional debate over the
legislation.®

Article 1 of the Constitution gave
Congress the power to collect taxes and di-
rected that duties, imposts, and excises should
be uniform throughout the nation. However,
in two other places in the first article, it was
stipulated that direct taxes had to be laid in
proportion to the population of each state.”
The question, therefore, was whether the car-
riage tax constituted a direct tax as conceived
of—though never explicitly defined—by the
Framers. If so, Congress should have imposed
it proportionally. But if the tax was not direct,
then it was valid as constructed.

Soon after the passage of the Carriage
Tax Act, certain Virginians resolved to dis-
obey the statute and force a confrontation
in court. In July 1794 Edward Carrington,
the federal supervisor of the revenue for
Virginia, alerted Tench Coxe, his superior in
the Treasury Department in Philadelphia. that
“[a] very general idea prevails in this district,
that the act is unconstitutional, and numbers
of very respectable Characters have signified
their determination to try the point by legal
decision.”™ When the first carriage tax came
due in September 1794, among the distin-
guished Virginians who refused to pay were
the state’s chief justice, Edmund Pendleton, his
fellow judge Spencer Roane, and John Page,
a United States congressman.” That the tax
rebellion flared where it did should not have
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come as a great surprise, for the Virginians
had led the fight against the carriage bill in
Congress. Aside from their constitutional ob-
jections, they perceived the tax as yet another
of Hamilton’s centralizing financial measures,
though it is not clear that the Secretary of the
Treasury himself actually participated in the
crafting of the legislation. Furthermore, there
seems to have been an element of self-interest
at play, as the use of carriages was more preva-
lent in the South than in the North.'?

A mere desire on the part of Virginians
to submit the Carriage Tax Act to a judicial
test would not, however, lead to the docket-
ing of a case. For an adjudication to occur,
the federal government would have to proceed
against one or more of the tax evaders. Carring-
ton understood this, as manifest by his remark
to Coxe that “the institution of suits will rest
with the United States.”!" But as of early 1795,

R e X

A federél tax on carriages, such as those pictured awaiting thei

when the Virginians had yet to see evidence
that anyone was being sued for nonpayment,
they surmised that there would be no case. A
disappointed Judge Pendleton even speculated
that the federal government might rather allow
a handful of people to fail to pay the tax than
risk losing in court.'?

The Treasury, however, had decided to
meet the challenge to the carriage tax and ini-
tiate litigation, with the expectation that the
Supreme Court would ultimately rule on the
question of constitutionality.'® In fact, whether
the Virginians knew it or not, by the begin-
ning of 1795 the government was commencing
preparations for a trial. Commissioner of the
Revenue Coxe was coordinating the effort in
Philadelphia, with Carrington as his operative
out in the field. Coxe, who was not a lawyer,
proceeded according to the guidance provided
by both Secretary Hamilton and Attorney

r passengers outside the Capitol in 1800,

was the subject of Hylton v. United States (1796). The carriage tax was sustained, after debate about the

revenue-raising power of the new national government.
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General William Bradford. The problem was
how, when, and where to bring a suit—and
against whom.

Although Carrington had already taken
steps to get the carriage tax matter into court,
in January 1795 Coxe instructed him to dis-
continue his efforts because the Attorney Gen-
eral was about to become personally involved.
Bradford planned to journey to Virginia for
the trial and join forces there with the United
States attorney, Alexander Campbell. To en-
hance this legal team, Coxe also hoped to re-
tain John Marshall, who was then in private
practice in Richmond. "

There seems to have been some ambi-
guity at this point as to whether the govern-
ment should pursue a single suit or multiple
suits, and whether the venue should be state
or federal court. Both Bradford and Hamilton
favored proceeding on two tracks. In a letter
written in his final days as Treasury Secretary,
Hamilton advised Coxe that the government
should initiate suits both in the United States
Circuit Court for the district of Virginia and in
Virginia state court, though only if two defen-
dants could be secured. To drag one man into
different courts would be “oppressive.” And if
only a single case was to be pursued, Hamilton
preferred the federal circuit court. The Secre-
tary made it plain that his ultimate goal was to
put the controversy before the Supreme Court,
which “can alone produce the acquiescence™ of
the government in the face of an adverse judg-
ment. To get the case into the Supreme Court,
Hamilton stated that the defendant should be
sued in the circuit court for a debt of $2,000,
the threshold amount necessary to obtain a re-
view by the higher tribunal.'> Because such
a large tax bill for any one individual’s car-
riages would have constituted an absurdity,
clearly Hamilton was suggesting the utilization
of a legal fiction. Furthermore, he expressed
the hope that whoever assumed the role of
defendant would cooperate in expediting the
process.'®

That defendant—that single defendant—
turned out to be Daniel Lawrence Hylton, the

Tench Coxe was the official in the Treasury Depart-
ment in Philadelphia who coordinated the Hylton
case for the government. As Commissioner of the Rev-
enue, Coxe, though not a lawyer, helped prepare the
case against prominent Virginians who refused to pay
the federal carriage tax.

same Richmond merchant who had been sued
in the British debt case, Ware v. Hylton. How
this one man ended up as a party in two unre-
lated and dissimilar cases that came before the
Supreme Court at the same time—indeed, two
of the most important cases of the decade—
is not altogether clear. But he had apparently
refused to pay the carriage tax in September
1794, and by January of 1795 Coxe was already
referring to the status of “Hylton’s case.”!”
Furthermore, Hylton was closely tied to the
two federal officials in Virginia responsible for
instituting the suit, Carrington and Campbell,
the latter of whom had been serving for
some time as his counsel in Ware.'® Although
Campbell would be cast as Hylton’s adver-
sary in this case, Hylton was by no means
abandoned, because Marshall, his other attor-
ney in Ware, had agreed to represent him in
the carriage tax litigation.' It is not diffi-
cult to picture these gentlemen—interrelated
members of the Richmond elite—sitting down



ORIGINS OF JUDICIAL REVIEW 5

together and hammering out a consensus on
how to proceed.?°

Back in Philadelphia, Tench Coxe had
been hoping to enlist Marshall to argue for
the government and was disappointed when he
learned, at the beginning of February 1795, that
the lawyer had committed himself on the other
side.?! Then, in April, Coxe discovered that
the Attorney General would also be unavail-
able to help in the case, now slated for the May
term of the Virginia federal circuit court, be-
cause President Washington had asked him to
stay in the capital and prosecute the “whiskey
rebels.”?? In addition to losing the services of
Marshall and Bradford, the government was
apparently running into general difficulty in
its attempt to secure assistance for Campbell.
Venting his frustration with the Virginia bar,
Coxe complained that if no counsel could be
hired, then “[t]he Gentlemen of the law, as a
body, would be substituted in effect for the
Bench of Judges.”?

Coxe was eager for the case to be heard in
May so that it could then be brought before the
Supreme Court at the August Term. Not only
did he wish for the validity of the carriage tax
to be settled as soon as possible, but he be-
lieved such a schedule would be favorable to
Hylton, as Marshall was due to be in Philadel-
phia in August to argue Ware. Such solicitude
on the part of the plaintiff’s side for a defendant
and opposing counsel would certainly be un-
usual in a case that had not been arranged. But
arranged the case was, and in fact Coxe, in pre-
senting Carrington with a proposal by which
the suit might move forward, praised Hylton
for his “spirit of accommodation.”?*

At the May term of the circuit court, con-
sisting of Justice James Wilson and the district
judge for Virginia, Cyrus Griffin, the govern-
ment declared that Hylton had violated the Car-
riage Tax Act the previous September by fail-
ing to pay a duty on his 125 chariots, assessed
at a rate of eight dollars each. Therefore, he
owed back taxes amounting to $1,000, plus an
equal sum in penalties, adding up to $2,000.%°
Though Hylton pleaded that he owed no such

debt, his counsel proceeded to enter into an
agreement with opposing counsel in which the
defendant essentially accepted all of the facts
in the government’s declaration to be true and
waived a trial by jury. It was conceded that
Hylton had disobeyed the Carriage Tax Act,
but that he had done so because he believed
the “law was unconstitutional & void.” With
this agreement on the record, the way was now
open for the lawyers to make their arguments
before the circuit court on purely constitutional
grounds.?®

The two parties, however, were already
setting their sights on the Supreme Court.
Even before the proceedings began in United
States v. Hylton, the Supreme Court clerk—
presumably at the behest of the government—
had made out a writ of error that Hylton would
be able to employ ifhe did not prevail in the cir-
cuit court. Furthermore, the government was
prepared to pay his expenses to take the case
to the next level. Indeed, Coxe apparently envi-
sioned that the agreement on the facts would be
followed by a perfunctory circuit court judg-
ment and that the case would be “fully ar-
gued, and finally determined” that August in
Philadelphia.?’

The circuit court proceedings, however,
proved to be no brief, uneventful stop on the
road to the Supreme Court. The issue was
“fully argued” in Richmond that May. Marshall
did not appear for Hylton, but the defendant
was vigorously represented by John Taylor of
Caroline, who had been intending to play a
role in the case for some months.?® He himself
was one of the Virginians who had refused to
pay the tax.?® And despite Coxe’s troubles in
finding anyone to help Campbell on the gov-
ernment side, able counsel was obtained in the
person of John Wickham, another prominent
Richmond lawyer involved in Ware.

By agreement—and counter to custom—
Taylor led off the proceedings on behalf of Hyl-
ton, the defendant. His argument was long, of-
ten opaque, and suffused with the rabidly Re-
publican, states’ rights philosophy upon which
he would build his reputation. According
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to Taylor, the constitutional provision dictating
that direct taxes had to be laid in proportion to
state population was “the most important stip-
ulation of the whole compact.” If the principle
of proportionality was not adhered to in laying
such taxes, then the federal government would
be in a position to favor certain states while
discriminating against others.*"

As to whether the carriage tax constituted
a direct tax, Taylor harbored no doubts. He de-
fined a direct tax in the broadest of terms, de-
voting a great deal of his presentation to the
contention that the category comprised much
more than a capitation tax, as mentioned in
the Constitution, and a land tax. According to
Taylor, anything that was locally produced and
consumed—that is, necessities such as food
or clothing—was subject to direct taxation.
An indirect tax, on the other hand, would ap-
ply to a commercial item, usually a luxury,
that might be produced in one state and pur-
chased in another at the discretion of the con-
sumer. A citizen paid a direct tax straight to

Attorney John Taylor of Caroline, Virginia, argued
in the circuit court on behalf of Daniel Lawrence
Hylton, a Richmond merchant who refused to pay the
carriage tax in 1794. Having himself refused to pay
the tax, Taylor (above) defended his client’s position
vigorously.

the government and an indirect tax, through
the cost of the product, by way of the mer-
chandiser. In Taylor’s estimation the former
was much more dangerous: “By an indirect tax
we can only be incommoded, by a direct tax
annihilated.” Therefore, while indirect taxes
could be—indeed, had to be—Ilaid uniformly
throughout the land, for a direct tax to be just it
had to be laid according to the principle of pro-
portionality. Equality among the states could
not be maintained if one state or section bore
a heavier tax burden.’!

Though Taylor opened the possibility that
the carriage tax could be reformulated as a pro-
portional tax, he clearly preferred that it be
abolished altogether. Of course, the tax would
be abolished if the court voided the statute,
and Taylor in effect advocated that it do just
that when he made a spirited defense of ju-
dicial review. The Constitution, he averred,
stood as a bulwark against “legislative majori-
ties” and “interpose[d] the judiciary between
the government and the individual.” Under the
American system, it was the role of the courts
to make sure that Congress did not overstep its
bounds. If violations of the Constitution were
permitted, then the document would cease to be
a vital instrument. The courts needed to begin
“deciding constitutional questions, like other
judicial cases—independently of political in-
fluence, upon free discussion, and without a
risque of any disagreeable consequence to the
party propounding them.”*?

When it was Wickham’s turn to argue on
behalf of the government, he refuted the model
of taxation presented by Taylor. For Wickham
a direct tax was “a tax upon the revenue or
income of individuals,” while an indirect tax
was “[a] tax upon their expences, or consump-
tion.” According to Wickham, the carriage tax.
as a tax on consumption, constituted an indi-
rect tax, and, under Article I, had to be im-
posed uniformly. Besides, in light of the great
disparity regarding the number of carriages
in different parts of the country, Wickham
argued that it would have been impossible
to impose the carriage tax based upon state
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population. Philadelphians would end up “pay-
ing farthings,” while a carriage owner in Ver-
mont would have to “sacrifice perhaps half his
income .3

In Wickham’s view Taylor had distorted
the intent of the Framers—by laying down
definitions for taxes that could not possibly
have been the understanding in 1787 and then
by justifying his definitions based on a faulty
grasp of constitutional principles. Wickham
charged that “the counsel for the defendant in-
stead of enquiring into the meaning of the Con-
vention who framed the Constitution, and the
people who adopted it by the words they make
use of, has put himself in their place, and en-
deavours to prove that by his construction only,
can the rights and interests of the people be pre-
served.” Above all, Taylor was guilty of trying
to interpret the Constitution to fit his extreme
states’ rights view of the country. Wickham ar-
gued that America was not “a confederation of
states” but one nation, and that it was ridiculous
to think that the census should generally be
used to apportion taxes the way it was used
to determine representation. The Framers’ no-
tion of equality in taxation was among individ-
uals, not states, and best achieved through the
principle of uniformity, not proportionality. It
was true that states could conceivably be tar-
geted through selective use of the indirect tax,

. but then recourse would have to be obtained
through Congress, not the courts.>*

At the end of his argument, Wickham
cryptically declined to discuss whether there
existed a “power of the court by a judicial de-
cision to declare an act of the feederal legisla-
ture null and void.” In an apparent reference
to Hayburn’s Case, he said that the Justices
had resolved this question while riding cir-
cuit. Therefore, it would be “improper as well
as unnecessary” for him to comment further.
Taylor, of course, had shown no such restraint
in asserting the power of judicial review, but
whether Wickham would have liked to voice
his agreement that the court had the power to
strike down the Carriage Tax Act is not evi-
dent. On the one hand, by making Hylton a

test case, the government was implicitly rec-
ognizing the power of the courts to pass on
the statute. On the other hand, Wickham, as
a lawyer striving for victory, may well have
wanted to argue against the court’s authority.
His co-counsel Campbell reputedly believed
that the carriage tax was unconstitutional but
that the court could not overturn an act of
Congress.>

When the judges delivered their opinions,
Wilson and Griffin split, the former siding with
the government and the latter with Hylton.3
Under the Judiciary Act of 1793, when a cir-
cuit court bench divided, the case was sup-
posed to be held over until the next term to
sec whether agreement could be secured. If
the split persisted, then the decision of the
presiding justice would prevail.’” Because of
the desire to get this case before the Supreme
Court as soon as possible, however, Hylton
confessed judgment. By consent of the parties,
the court entered judgment against the defen-
dant for $2,000, with the proviso—consistent
with the terms worked out at the beginning
of the circuit court proceedings—that the pay-
ment of sixteen dollars would discharge the
debt. To insure that Hylton’s confession would
not impede his course to the Supreme Court,
the judgment explicitly provided that it “shall
not bar the Defendant from the benefit of a
Writ of Error, nor be considered as a release of
any Error of which the Defendant might have
availed himself if this Judgment had not been
confessed, but had been regularly rendered by
the Court.”3® Aside from obtaining Wilson’s
signature on the writ of error, all Hylton had to
do now to bring the case before the Supreme
Court was to submit an assignment of error,
a task performed on his behalf by Campbell,
the opposing counsel. In his capacity as dis-
trict attorney, Campbell also attached to the
assignment a statement denying the necessity
of a citation—*"the United States being always
present in their Courts”—and acknowledging
notice.>

Why did Campbell submit Hylton’s as-
signment of error rather than Taylor? Perhaps
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there is an innocuous explanation, but it soon
became clear that Taylor had abandoned the
path of accommodation. In the wake of the
Richmond proceedings, he took steps to pub-
lish his circuit court argument, much to the
dismay of the new Treasury Secretary, Oliver
Wolcott, Jr., and others in Philadelphia. These
federal officials believed that for Taylor to re-
duce his argument to print while the case was
being reviewed constituted a threat to the judi-
cial process, though they were poised to parry
his offensive in the forum of public opinion
with the release of Wickham’s argument.*’

Meanwhile, the government began to pre-
pare for the August Term of the Supreme
Court. Attorney General Bradford brought
Alexander Hamilton back into the case by se-
curing the President’s permission to hire him
to represent the government. Bradford told
Hamilton that it would be an auspicious oc-
casion upon which “to make your debut in the
Supreme Court,” for “I consider the question
as the greatest one that ever came before that
Court; & it is of the last importance not only
that the act should be supported, but supported
by the unanimous opinion of the Judges and on
grounds that will bear the public inspection.*!

Soon, however, news reached Philadel-
phia that Taylor was refusing to appear in the
Supreme Court. Even worse, he was advis-
ing Hylton to present no case at all and let
the Justices proceed as they desired. Brad-
ford’s analysis of Taylor’s position was that,
“Having succeeded in dividing the opinions
of the Circuit Court, he wishes to prevent
the Effect which a decision of the Supreme
Court on full argument would have.” Fur-
thermore, the Attorney General resolved that
if Hylton did not lay out an argument, then
the government would not either. The Jus-
tices should decide the case based on the ar-
guments made in the circuit court, of which
Taylor’s materialized in pamphlet form in late
July#? At the August Term of the Supreme
Court, the clerk entered Hylton v. United States
on the docket, but when no one appeared
for the plaintiff in error, the Court took no
action.*?

Taylor had thrown the case off course,
though only temporarily. As the February 1796
Term of the Supreme Court neared, Hylton
signaled that he did not share in the efficacy
of his former counsel’s tactics and wished to
resume the cooperative arrangement that had
once governed between the parties. In late
January he signed an agreement in which he
declared that Hylton should “be heard and de-
termined at the Approaching session” of the
Supreme Court rather than continued, for his
“object in Contesting the law” was “merely to
ascertain a Constitutional point and not by any
means to delay the payment of a public duty**

The government once again got ready to
go into court. As a result of Bradford’s death,
the new Attorney General, Charles Lee of
Virginia, assumed command of the effort, and
Hamilton honored his commitment to argue
for the United States.*> Who, however, would
represent Hylton? Taylor, of course, could not
be counted on to serve, and though Marshall
would be present at the Supreme Court
that Term to argue Ware, he was apparently
unavailable.*® James Madison, who sympa-
thized with Hylton but assumed the Justices
did not see the issue “in the same light,” feared
that there would be no “professional appear-
ance” for his fellow Virginian and that his
case would “be espoused by junior & unskil-
ful volunteers.” If that were the situation, he
would prefer “the cause should rest on the
printed arguments & on the discernment of
the Bench.”*’ Madison, though, need not have
worried, for soon enough Jared Ingersoll, the
attorney general of Pennsylvania, was seeking
his advice on how to argue on Hylton’s be-
half. At the eleventh hour the government had
taken on the burden of hiring counsel for the
other side and selected not only Ingersoll but
also Alexander Campbell. Despite Campbell’s
record of service in this case as United States
attorney for Virginia, he was slated to argue
for Hylton in Ware and apparently had ques-
tioned the legitimacy of the carriage tax from
the outset. 8

In their arguments on behalf of Hyl-
ton, now the plaintiff in error, Ingersoll and
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Campbell employed a more tempered ap-
proach than Taylor had in the court below.
Though they maintained that only proportional
taxation was truly fair to the states, they did not
resort to heated states’ rights rhetoric or insist
that the union was a mere confederation. Nor
did they advance an explicit, sweeping defini-
tion of what constituted a direct tax. Instead,
they hewed closely to the Constitution and sim-
ply contended that a direct tax was any tax that
was not a duty, impost, or excise. And they em-
phasized the point—only briefly alluded to by
Taylor in the circuit court—that proportional
taxation could be made to work in practice
by allowing regional variation. Different items
could be taxed in different states, as long as the
process resulted in each state’s making a just
contribution to the union based on its popula-
tion. What mattered was the final amount of
money raised in a state, not the object or rate
of taxation.*’

It appears that Hamilton bore the brunt of
the argument for the United States, the defen-
dant in error, and that Attorney General Lee

Jared Ingersoll (pictured), the Attorney General of
Pennsylvania, and Alexander Campbell, a United
States attorney for Virginia, argued Hylton's case be-
fore the Supreme Court, taking a more tempered ap-
proach than Taylor’s. This portrait of Ingersoll was
completed at a later time; no known portrait of
Campbell exists.

played a more modest role. Hamilton main-
tained that the Constitution endowed Congress
with broad powers of taxation and that the leg-
islature’s main obligation in wielding those
powers rested in treating individuals—not
states—equally. He conceded that trying to dis-
tinguish between a direct and indirect tax could
be a difficult exercise, for “we cannot observe
an exact line.” However, he thought that most
taxes qualified as duties, excises, or imposts
and that therefore few taxes—in fact, only cap-
itation and land taxes for certain—could be
subsumed under the “direct” rubric. Because
he believed the carriage tax constituted an ex-
cise or a duty, he deemed it to be an indirect
tax that had been properly laid according to the
rule of uniformity. The proof that it should be
considered an indirect tax was that imposing
the tax proportionally would have led to “very
absurd consequences,” which could never have
been the intention behind the Constitution.>
Neither side dwelled at any length on the
question of whether the Supreme Court pos-
sessed the power of judicial review. At the very
beginning of the arguments, Ingersoll, on be-
half of Hylton, raised the issue simply to assert
that such a power existed. He made reference
to the “Sentiments of the Judges individually,”
which may have been another invocation of
Hayburn’s Case. Hamilton did not challenge
opposing counsel on this score, stating that
“a Law inconsistent with the Constitution”
was “void,” though adding the caveat that the
Court’s authority to declare it so had “to be
exercised with great moderation.”"
Argument in Hylton stretched over three
days—February 23, 24, and 25, 1796.52 When
Hamilton launched into a three-hour presen-
tation on the second day, the courtroom was
crowded with members of Congress and for-
eign dignitaries who wished to witness the
former Secretary’s first appearance before the
Justices. He did not disappoint. Despite be-
ing plagued by poor health, Hamilton per-
formed impressively by most accounts, al-
though Madison sounded a somewhat sour
note in a letter to Jefferson in which he praised
Ingersoll and Campbell but related that the
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effect of Hamilton’s argument “was to raise
a fog around the subject.”>?

Only four members of the Supreme Court
heard argument in Hylton—James Wilson,
James Iredell, William Paterson, and the
newest Associate Justice, Samuel Chase. IlI-
ness prevented William Cushing from at-
tending, and the new Chief Justice, Oliver
Ellsworth, was not sworn in until March 8§,
the day the opinions were announced. Because
Wilson presided over the case in the circuit
court, he refrained from delivering an opin-
ion, though he proclaimed that, with only four
Justices present for the full proceedings, he
“should have thought it proper to join in the
decision . .. did not the unanimity of the other
three Judges, relieve me from the necessity.”**

As Wilson stated, Iredell, Paterson, and
Chase were unanimous in affirming the circuit
court judgment in favor of the United States.
Not only did they reach the same conclusion,
but much of their reasoning was similar. All
three of the Justices maintained that the car-
riage tax was a tax on consumption or expense,
and therefore an indirect tax. None of them
could imagine that the Framers of the Consti-
tution, in addressing the issue of direct taxes,
had contemplated much more than a capita-
tion tax and a land tax. Chase was prepared
to call the carriage tax a duty, but all three
Justices held that Congress possessed the au-
thority to impose taxes that were not direct but
did not fit neatly into the Constitution’s cate-
gory of “Duties, Imposts, and Excises” either.
In these cases, Congress would be wise—and
within its discretion—to adhere to the princi-
ple of uniformity.>

Trying to apportion taxes based on state
population, the Justices believed, was a dif-
ficult proposition. Paterson was the most ve-
hement on this point, asserting that the rule
of proportionality was “radically wrong.” This
delegate to the Philadelphia Convention of
1787 claimed that the only reason the con-
cept found its way into the Constitution was
to assuage Southerners who wished to protect
their slaves and land, though in practice pro-

The newest Associate Justice to hear the case,
Samuel Chase was the only one to touch on the sub-
ject of judicial review in his opinion upholding the
carriage tax.

portional taxation was almost unworkable.>®
The Justices went to great lengths to show how
“absurd” the results would be if the govern-
ment attempted to lay a carriage tax based on
state population, as the tax bills for two men
in two different parts of the country possess-
ing the same kind of carriage could vary sub-
stantially. They were also dismissive—even
contemptuous—ofthe notion that different ob-
jects could be taxed in different states, for such
a system would surely turn out to be unwieldy
and inequitable.’’

The only member of the Court to touch
upon the matter of judicial review was Chase,
who stated at the end of his opinion that be-
cause he was affirming the legitimacy of the
carriage tax as imposed, “it is unnecessary, at
this time, for me to determine, whether this
court, constitutionally possesses the power to
declare an act of Congress void, on the ground
of its being made contrary to, and in viola-
tion of, the Constitution.” He added, however,
that “if the court have such power, I am free to
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declare, that I will never exercise it, but in a
very clear case.”®

By upholding the Carriage Tax Act, the
Supreme Court interpreted the Constitution in
a way that bolstered the power of the fed-
eral government and rejected the Virginian,
states’ rights view of congressional authority.
The Court’s judgment affirmed that Congress
could exercise wide latitude in its method of
taxation, unhampered to a large extent by the
Article I language on direct taxes. More gen-
erally, the decision possessed important impli-
cations for the federal-state balance.

The outcome of Hylton v. United States,
however, lacked the momentousness that
would have accompanied the overturning of
the Carriage Tax Act. Not until Marbury did
the Supreme Court strike down a piece of fed-
eral legislation as unconstitutional, and thus
that case, with Chief Justice Marshall’s explicit
defense of judicial review in the opinion of the
Court, secured its place in history. But despite
Chase’s statement in Hylton that he need not
discuss the Court’s authority to declare laws
unconstitutional, he and his brethren did test
and affirm a statute in light of the Constitu-
tion. There can be little doubt that such was an
exercise in judicial review.
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The Mormon Question: Polygamy
and Constitutional Conflict
in Nineteenth-Century America

SARAH BARRINGER GORDON

My research into the “Mormon Question” has blurred disciplinary boundaries, demonstrat-
ing that legal history occurs outside the confines of law books, out in the world of popular
culture, political cartooning, and sermonizing, and even in outbreaks of violence. This article
is designed to illustrate how an entire body of constitutional law was made in opposition to the
marital and sexual arrangements of Mormons in the Utah Territory in the nineteenth century.

The Mormon Question tied together ques-
tions of religion, law, and the perceived sexual
enslavement of women in a tantalizing mix.
Many Americans in the nineteenth century
were intrigued, dismayed, and ultimately per-
suaded that Mormon men were dangerous to
the women they married. They also believed
that polygamy was a threat to the entire politi-
cal and constitutional system. !

Opponents of polygamy claimed that
Mormon plural marriage was, in essence, a
political and legal question. They imagined
Mormon men, especially, as violent and de-
fiant. A political cartoon from the 1880s, for
example, depicted a Mormon atop a platform
labeled “polygamy,” shaking his fist at a cow-
ardly Congress, with his wives chained at the
neck and labeled like so many cattle. Needless

to say, this kind of attack was painful in the ex-
treme to Mormons, who claimed that they were
misunderstood by the rest of the country.?

The arguments made on both sides of
the debate over polygamy were complex and
changed over time, and I can only go into a
few of the many fascinating venues of the con-
flict. For the purposes of this article, the key
point is that the combatants ranged across gen-
res and into multiple fields of conflict, forcing
our gaze as lawyers out beyond the bounds of
doctrine, teaching us once again that constitu-
tional theory and legal doctrine are rich sources
of cultural insight: they are the stuff of great
stories.

This story begins with religious faith.
Joseph Smith founded the Church of Jesus
Christ of Latter-day Saints, commonly called
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This 1880s political cartoon from The Judge depicts a Mormon atop a platform labeled “polygamy” (on the
supporting pole), shaking his fist at a cowardly Congress. His wives are chained at the neck and labeled like
cattle.
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the Mormon Church, in 1830. He was the sect’s
Prophet, its first president, and the translator of
the “golden plates,” which, he reported, were
revealed to him by an angel. He was known in
upstate New York as a counterfeiter, fortune-
teller, and treasure hunter.’> And yet Smith’s in-
spiration forever changed his world and drew
a following whose faith was severely tested
by scorn and persecution. Smith not only pub-
lished the Book of Mormon—a new revela-
tion that placed America at the center of re-
ligious history—but also embraced a concept
of ongoing revelation in the “latter days.” The
new covenant between God and his servant
Joseph Smith assured followers that they were
part of a glorious cosmic plan, which was grad-
vally unfolded for their exaltation and, ulti-
mately, for the salvation of the world.*

Mormonism was born in a society satu-
rated with religious messages. Smith under-
stood that he and his followers were enmeshed
in what he called a “war of words” among
Christians, and he claimed that his new revela-
tion was the only uncorrupted and truly Chris-
tian Word of God.>

The Mormon Church quickly acquired
passionate adherents and equally passionate
opponents. Everywhere they went, Mormons
excited the enmity of their neighbors. The
story is a complex one, and involves charges
of violence on both sides, but there can be
no doubt that Mormons suffered greatly. In
1838, seventeen men and boys were killed by
local residents in what is known as the Mas-
sacre at Haun’s Mill, Missouri. The governor of
Missouri called for the expulsion of all Mor-
mons from the state; officials in other states
were less explicit, but let Mormons know that
they could not rely on state protection. The
Prophet himself was tarred and feathered by
an angry mob in Ohio.®

Smith and other Mormon leaders called
on the federal government to protect them
against such violence in the name of reli-
gious freedom. But, as everyone knew in the
nineteenth century, such questions were re-
served for state law. The Bill of Rights, includ-
ing the First Amendment’s protection of the

free exercise of religion, applied to the federal
government only. This was as clear as anything
in the constitutional order: the federal Consti-
tution guaranteed only that the federal govern-
ment must respect the religious freedom of its
citizens; the states were not affected by con-
stitutional provisions aimed explicitly at the
national sovereign.’

This lesson in the limits of constitutional
freedoms filled Smith with disgust for all as-
pects of states’ rights. He called them a “dead
carcass—a stink, and they shall ascend up as a
stink offering in the nose of the Almighty.”
For the Constifution to be interpreted prop-
erly, Smith claimed, he would have to assume
the presidency of the United States. Smith’s
presidential campaign coincided with the cre-
ation of a Mormon military force and his own
new title of “Lieutenant General.” Etchings of
Smith on his charger in full uniform illustrate
the Mormons’ conviction that they must meet
force with force. It also reveals why Mormons
in general—and Smith in particular—had be-
come so controversial by the early 1840s.

This period in Mormon history is perhaps
the most dramatic of all. It includes Smith’s
explicit assumption of political and military
power as well as considerable theological
and institutional development, including the
introduction of polygamy into Mormonism.?

Polygamy was not one of the original
tenets of the faith. Instead, the doctrine of “ce-
lestial marriage,” as Mormons called it, was
revealed to Smith in 1843. Although evidence
exists of sexual experimentation by Smith at
earlier dates, for our purposes it is vital to re-
alize that the official commencement of the
practice of polygamy on the part of Smith and
his most trusted followers coincides with other
aspects of state-building.’

Smith developed a theory of govern-
ment in the early 1840s that took him deep
into the realm of theocracy and even fur-
ther outside the American mainstream than
he had been. His was a vision of a reunited
church and state, a “Kingdom of God.” Latter-
day Saints were to prepare for the Second
Coming in the New World. Polygamy was
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According to his critics, Mormon Prophet Joseph Smith combined great physical charm with hypnotic powers
and boundless sexual appetite.
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Tarred and feathered.

a vital part of such planning. According to the
revelation on celestial marriage, God’s com-
mand to Mormon men was instituted for the
purification and edification of the world. The
children of Mormon patriarchs would usher in
the Millennium.'”

Polygamy was an immediate source of
discord, even though it was kept secret for
almost ten years. After Smith ordered a print-
ing press destroyed when its owner published a
story critical of polygamy and containing other
rumors, he was arrested by Illinois officials.
He was murdered by an angry mob of anti-
Mormons who attacked the jail in 1844.

Smith’s lynching created a martyr; it also
seared into Mormons’ minds the fact that they
needed their own space for their new govern-
ment. They migrated to Utah in the late 1840s,
in a trek that is memorialized in Utah as “Pio-
neer Day.” Brigham Young, the second Presi-
dent and Prophet of the church, led the faithful
westward. He brought with him an acute sense
of the limits of the federal government and the
power of local majorities.'’

Once in Utah, Young and other lead-
ers established a government that replicated
the structures of faith, settling in to build
what Mormons called the “political king-
dom.” Young was not only the president of
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Violence against Mor-
mons included attacks
on the Prophet himself,
shown here as the vic-
tim, at the hands of
an lllinois mob, of the
painful and humiliating
practice of tarring and
feathering.

the Church, but also the governor; other lead-
ers held commensurate positions of political
power. The legislature granted valuable water-
courses, timber stands, and grazing rights to
the church and individual leaders. They also
protected the structure of family government
that Smith had instituted. They passed a law
incorporating the church, giving it the power
to own unlimited amounts of real and per-
sonal property and the right to govern mar-
riage for all members. The decisions of the
church, the legislation provided, “shall not be
legally questioned.” As one territorial legis-
lator put it, marriage was “the very founda-
tion of all government.” Its perversion in the
“monogamic states” meant that the whole su-
perstructure “is radically wrong, and will con-
tain within itself the seeds of its own decay and
dissolution.”'?

As their confidence grew, and as travelers
began to send reports east of what life was like
in Utah, Mormons finally confirmed what had
long been rumored. In 1852, the church called
a general conference and announced that its
leaders believed in and practiced plural mar-
riage. Orson Pratt read aloud the “Revelation
on Celestial Marriage” and described the so-
cial and political benefits of polygamy. Like
many subsequent defenders of plural marriage,
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In the early 1840s, “Lieutenant-

Smith formed the

“Nauvoo Legion,” an organization
viewed by those outside the
Mormon faith with considerable
suspicion.

The murder of Joseph
Smith has become a
central event in Mormon
religious history. The
lynching of Smith, who
was ostensibly under
the protection of state
officials, confirmed for
many Mormons that per-
secution was all they
could expect from the
states.

Pratt argued that polygamy was the sure cure  important, polygamy provided the opportunity
for prostitution, and that its prevalence as a  for a faithful man to demonstrate his fidelity
marital form around the world demonstrated to the commands of God, replicating the mar-
that it was both natural and civilized. Most riages of the biblical patriarchs. Sexuality was
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a divine attribute, according to Mormon doc-
trine, and its exercise by righteous men meant
that polygamy would be practiced in purity and
rectitude. "

Polygamy also provided for the essen-
tial right of all women, according to Mormon
doctrine. In contrast to what Mormon lead-
ers called the “whoredom, adultery, and
hypocrisy” of the rest of the country, in Utah
all women understood that they could be united
with a responsible and proven man, who would
openly acknowledge his relationship with her
and his paternity of her children.'*

Notwithstanding these defenses of poly-
gamy, the rest of the country greeted the
Mormon announcement with shock, and soon
with condemnation. Although antipolygamists
claimed that Mormon polygamy was entirely
foreign and even barbaric, Mormons’ claims to
absolute control over marriage in Utah was nei-
ther unprecedented nor un-Christian. For cen-

In 1868, the magazine The Juvenile In-
structor explained to young readers that
Sarah understood that Abraham had a
right to additional wives under the law of
celestial marriage and gave Hagar to him
as a plural wife.

turies, polygamy had been bruited about on the
fringes of the Protestant Reformation. '’

In nineteenth-century America, the rela-
tionship between religious and sexual fervor
was clearly marked not only by Mormonism,
but also by other religious groups that sprouted
after independence. The Prophet Matthias
mixed sexual exercise with prophetic teaching,
Oneida Perfectionists practiced group mar-
riage and selective breeding, and Shakers com-
bined ecstatic worship with vows of total
celibacy.'®

But Mormons were different. They were
the largest, the most powerful, the most ex-
plicitly political, and the best organized. They
also had their own territory, and they claimed
the rights of government there. They personi-
fied the power and the instability of religious
innovation. What had been a local tradition of
anti-Mormonism before the exodus to Utah be-
came a national commitment to antipolygamy,
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L1ZZ2TKE MONROE IN IER PRISON.~BRIGHAM YOUNG MARKING INSULTING PROPOSALS.

The frontispiece of Orvilla Belisle’s antipolygamy novel, Mormonism Unveiled, showed Brigham Young making
advances to an affronted and unprotected young woman.

with profound implications for the rights of
local majorities to control their own “domes-
tic relations” and for the constitutional law of
religion.

Mormons thus made American history,
not only in their own remarkable determination
and commitment to faith, but also indirectly
through the determination of their opponents,
who seized on polygamy as the centerpiece
of what was dangerous about Mormonism.
Antipolygamists made many different argu-
ments. Among their most powerful and ap-
pealing claims was that polygamy constituted
the abuse of women. Opponents argued that
legal protection for women was best realized
in monogamous societies, and that polygamy
nurtured rape, incest, and other crimes against
women.'”

In terms of cultural appeal, there is no
doubt that the opponents won the day. Within
only a few years, it was clear that no respectable
American could openly support polygamy. It

took courage even to argue that Mormons
should be allowed to decide for themselves
whether or not to practice polygamy. So effec-
tive was the correlation between the claim that
polygamy was bad for women and the claim
that it was bad for the entire nation that an-
tipolygamists eventually won what had looked,
at the outset, like a losing battle. In the process,
they created a whole new area of constitutional
law.

The story is deeply connected to race and
questions of racial justice. Among the earliest
and most effective methods of connecting the
interests of white women in Utah with those
of African Americans was the argument that
polygamy was a new form of slavery, this time
focused explicitly and exclusively on women.
By the late 1850s, it was commonplace to al-
lude to the sexual exploitation of slaves and
to stress the sensuality and self-indulgence of
slaveholding men. The sexual abuse of women,
the argument went, produced tyrants like
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This Currier and Ives lithograph commemorating the 1856 Republican Party platform and its antipolygamy
and antislavery provision depicts President James Buchanan being bowled over by Republican forces.

slaveholders, incapable of governing them-
selves or participating in democratic govern-
ment. The graphic violence that novelists ar-
gued was a corollary of polygamy catered to
audiences that had been trained in the human-
itarian tradition of antislavery fiction.

Politicians picked up on these connec-
tions. In 1856, the Republican party, in its
first national platform, called for the abolition
of those “twin relics of barbarism—polygamy
and slavery” in the territories. Southerners
understood the implications immediately, and
they blocked any action against polygamy as
the first step toward emancipation. They re-
alized that it was far more popular to oppose
polygamy than to oppose slavery. They knew
that Republicans hoped to capitalize on the
identification of the “twin relics.” Southern
Democrats said they despised polygamy as the
sure destruction of marriage. But they also ar-
gued that it was invalid for the federal govern-
ment to interfere in the “domestic relations™ of
any portion of the United States.'®

The “law of God,” replied one an-
tipolygamist, required Congress to “avenge the
insult [of polygamy] to our own wives and our
own daughters, and the wives and daughters
of our constituents.” Every other state and ter-
ritory had criminalized polygamy: only Utah
flouted civilization and Christianity.'?

But before the Civil War, Southerners and
Mormons had the better of the argument, at
least in constitutional terms. Intervention in lo-
cal affairs was the essence of what had spurred
the Revolution, argued Democrats. The Con-
stitution’s protection of federalism meant that
domestic relations were outside the realm of
national power, and were consigned to local
majorities and state constitutions.

The Civil War answered the debate over
the right of individual states and territories to
maintain slavery within their borders, but slav-
ery’s “twin,” polygamy, remained unchecked
in Utah, and by the late 1860s it had spread to
neighboring territories as well. Thus, the ques-
tion became how to translate the “insult” into a
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constitutionally sustainable argument for fed-
eral power over polygamy. Only after secession
and the outbreak of war was positive political
action possible—and then Republicans proved
the Southerners right.

In 1862, Congress passed the Morrill
Anti-Bigamy Act, named after Republican
Senator Justin Morrill, who was known for his
antislavery and antipolygamy views. The Act
prohibited the marriage of one man to more
than one woman in all United States territo-
ries. As Southerners had feared—and many
Northerners had hoped—federal legislation on
polygamy was a prelude to action against slav-
ery. Only three months later, Lincoln resolved
that slaves in the Confederacy should be eman-
cipated at the first opportune moment.*

Thus, the act was something of a triumph
for Republicans, a first step in a plan to reform
the country along humanitarian lines. Yet it is
also fair to say that the act was a failure. It was
unenforceable. No Mormon jury would indict

George Reynolds was indicted and tried for
polygamy in the 1870s. His case became
a landmark in constitutional law and under-
mined Mormons’ claims to the right to prac-
tice plural marriage.

a polygamist, and loyal Mormons controlled
jury pools in Utah.

It took more than ten years and various
procedural modifications, as well as the con-
tinual hounding of Mormon politicians, to fi-
nally bring a polygamy case to trial. In the
end, Mormons agreed to a test case, offering
up George Reynolds for indictment. Reynolds
was carefully chosen by his superiors. Not only
did they trust him to remain loyal, but he was
young, handsome, and the husband of only two
wives. Reynolds belied the stereotype of the
grizzled patriarch who married ever-younger
women as he grew old and fat.?'

By the time of Reynolds’s trial, the Mor-
mon leadership had decided on a policy of
obfuscation. All the named witnesses experi-
enced sudden gaps in their memory of George
Reynolds and his reputation for having married
more than one woman. Reynolds was only con-
victed after prosecutors brought in a surprise
witness, his very pregnant second wife, who
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had not been coached and openly admitted that
she had married him.?2

Reynolds’s appeal came to the Supreme
Court in 1878. Everyone familiar with consti-
tutional law knows that Reynolds® is a land-
mark case. An appreciation for the texture of
the surrounding debates over polygamy adds
to our understanding, weaving the story of
Reynolds into the institutional and doctrinal
history of the Court.

By the time argument was heard in the
Reynolds case, the Supreme Court had rejected
claims that the post-Civil War amendments
to the Constitution created a tissue of fed-
eral rights for individuals against states. Re-
construction in the South had faded, and the
stage was set for the “reclamation” of white
supremacy. Further back in time, but nonethe-
less still fresh in institutional memory, was the
Dred Scott case and the court’s protection of
slavery.?*

Reynolds allowed the Court to distance
itself from Dred Scott, which the church’s
lawyers relied upon as the deciding prece-
dent in the polygamy case. Polygamy—
which was slavery’s “twin relic,” after all—

The cover of The Judge, January 9,
1885, showing the punitive atmo-
sphere in Congress in the mid-
1880s.

was handled far differently than slavery
had been. In Reynolds, the Supreme Court
held that polygamy would “fetter” the peo-
ple in “stationary despotism,” invading sur-
rounding states and territories, and ultimately
compromising democracy. These arguments,
and the language of bondage and tyranny in
which they were framed, illustrate the distance
that the Justices placed between themselves
and slavery.?

And yet there is a more complex story
here that makes the overlap between polygamy
and slavery—and sex and race—more nuanced
than it might otherwise appear. As the Court
saw it, polygamy was “almost exclusively a
feature of the life of Asiatic and of African
people.” After the Civil War, the racial over-
tones of antipolygamy rhetoric migrated away
from slaveholders and onto those who had been
enslaved.”® As one newspaper editor saw it,
freedpersons had an “ungovernable propensity
to sexual indulgence,” which meant that they
would be easy prey for Mormon missionar-
ies. And Republican politicians also made it
plain that they expected former slaves to adhere
to the rule of monogamy. Equally important,
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antimiscegenation statutes proliferated in the
late nineteenth century, marking new racial-
ized boundaries for marriage. The compari-
son of Mormon practices to those of Asia and
Africa invoked the two continents whose peo-
ples were the most frequent targets of Amer-
ican prohibitions against interracial marriage.
These labels inevitably carried racial and racist
messages, as well as religious ones.?’

Reynolds’s conviction was sustained, and
he went to jail, becoming an instant hero to
Mormons in Utah. However, the opinion in
his case unleashed a stream of antipolygamy
activism and legislation. The Reynolds deci-
sion galvanized the country, even though it did
not change Mormons’ determination to resist
what one leader called “the clamor of a nation
steeped in sin and ripened for the damnation
of hell.”?®

Resistance had been a successful strat-
egy for Mormons for thirty years—after all,
Reynolds was the first man convicted of vio-
lating federal law. But after the Reynolds case,
continued resistance only goaded the rest of the

25

country. New constitutional law had changed
the rules of the conflict; now polygamists could
not plausibly claim that they had the Constitu-
tion on their side. Antipolygamists argued that
Utah had had its chance in the political arena
and at the Supreme Court, and they had lost in
both. It was time to begin enforcing the law.

The result was an array of legislative
invigorations of antipolygamy law and the
eventual prosecution of 2,500 criminal cases
involving a range of sexual offenses from adul-
tery to fornication and from unlawful cohabi-
tation to incest. More than a thousand Mormon
men went to prison, as Congress imposed its
will on a recalcitrant territory with increasing
force and severity. The national government
literally constructed a new family law for the
territory and then imposed it on a stunned—yet
still defiant—people.?’

Here, too, the interplay between race and
sex had interesting and not always obvious con-
sequences. In Utah, the purported victims of
polygamy—that is, women, especially those
involved in plural marriages—were revealed
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This photograph, taken in 1888, shows Mormon bishops convicted of polygamy and “unlawful cohabitation,”

all serving sentences in the Utah penitentiary.
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by the prosecutions as complicit in their own
degradation. Many women fled from federal
officers, or they lied on the stand, or they
“forgot” that they had ever been married and
could not remember who was the father of their
children, and so on. The women whose plight
had sustained the sympathy of reformers even
after the condition of former slaves had ceased
to move them now seemed like part of the prob-
lem, rather than the focus of the solution.?®

In the end, these women were criminalized
as well. Prosecutors claimed that in Utah, “the
women are as bad as the men.” And unlike their
husbands, who were given heroes’ parades on
their release from jail, women indicted for for-
nication or perjury have not been remembered
in the history books. Their lack of contrition
eroded the sympathy of those who would res-
cue them. Like freedpersons, they had to be
“taught” how to behave.?'

The determination to eradicate the Mor-
mons’ polygamous marital structure rested on

THE CARRON CROW IN THE EAGLES NEST,

the conviction that federal control of local af-
fairs was the only appropriate response to a vi-
olation of rights as fundamental as polygamy.
Every other state and territory was “right” on
the question of polygamy, however divided
they had been on slavery. Thus, the message
that opposition to polygamy sent to other states
and territories was that all Americans had
much in common: the cumulative power of
their own local customs defined their national
character. The legal world created by the con-
test over polygamy took the experience of the
states seriously. But it also imposed federal
law for the first time, undermining the tradi-
tion of localism in the name of the rights of
women.

The focus on Utah also obscured the ac-
tions that other states might take in other areas.
Before the Civil War, polygamy and slavery,
gender and race, had been “twins.” In the fi-
nal push to eradicate polygamy in the 1870s
and 1880s, the white women of Utah became

This cartoon, published shortly after the
Reynolds decision was handed down by
the Supreme Court, illustrates the theory
that Utah was isolated among American
jurisdictions—a “carrion crow” that had in-
sinuated itself into the eagle’s brood.
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substitutes for the black women and men of the
former Confederacy.

The formula was a successful one. With its
leaders jailed or on the lam and the entire Terri-
tory of Utah consumed with the punishment or
defense of polygamists, the Mormon Church
capitulated in 1890, promising to counsel
its followers to obey the law, rather than to
defy it.

In the century and more since then, church
leaders have desperately sought to occupy a
“respectable” place, emphasizing their clean-
liness, their thrift, their conservatism. The
history of sex and race that created a new
constitutional world in the second half of the
nineteenth century has faded from national
consciousness.

So profoundly has the new conformist
ethic been absorbed that the great controversy
of the past year in Utah has been the pros-
ecution of renegade polygamist Tom Green.
Many Utahans were outraged, not because they
thought that Green’s practice of marrying very
young women and collecting welfare checks
was really defensible, but because the timing of
the prosecution meant that the Olympic games
in Salt Lake might be marred by attention to a
practice that many Mormons believe tarnishes
their reputation with outsiders.>?

What they missed—and what most press
coverage has missed—is that polygamy was
intimately tied up with American law and
constitutional change. The campaign against
polygamy defined the limits of localism and
highlighted the protection of white women in
Utah, even as it provided cover for Jim Crow
in the South.
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The Battle over Brown’s Legitimacy

JEFFREY D. HOCKETT*

Constitutional scholars have given few Supreme Court rulings the attention that they have
lavished upon the celebrated decision in Brown v. Board of Education.! Yet the literature of public
law is surprisingly unedifying with regard to the process by which the desegregation decision
achieved iconic status in American legal culture. Scholarly inattentiveness to the history of
Brown's reputation is startling, given that southern politicians were not the only persons in
1954 to characterize the decision as a manifest instance of judicial legislation. Even persons
sympathetic to desegregation conceded that the Justices had circumvented traditional legal
constraints in rendering Brown.? In the years immediately following the ruling, some scholars
appealed to the notion of a “living Constitution” to defend Brown against charges that it conflicted
with the original understanding of the Fourteenth Amendment and with the “separate but equal”
doctrine that the Court had established in Plessy v. Ferguson.® But critics, some of whom
even accepted the concept of the “living Constitution,” also challenged the Court’s reading of
social fact—that is, its claims regarding the inherent inequality of segregated schools—which
supposedly justified judicial recognition of a right that conflicted with precedent and with the
intentions of the Framers of the Equal Protection Clause.

If Brown reveals the role that discre- recast the ruling as an attack upon an institu-

tion can play in the process of constitutional
decision-making, however, the decision also
demonstrates that the Court is limited in its
ability to control the meaning of its rulings.
Ironically, this limitation on the Court’s power
worked to the Justices’ advantage in Brown.
For the exalted status that the decision eventu-
ally achieved was, in part, a function of schol-
arly revisions of the basis of the ruling. More
specifically, the fortunes of the Brown decision
improved considerably when certain scholars

tion that, they argued, could only be charac-
terized as a manifestation of white supremacy.
The violence that greeted desegregation efforts
in the South made benign characterizations of
apartheid seem disingenuous and thus solid-
ified the ethical appeal of Brown. The com-
pleteness of Brown ’s triumph as a political icon
is reflected not only in a corresponding decline
in the status of the Plessy decision, but also in
the damage done to the reputations of those
scholars who accepted the morality of Brown
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but continued to question the legality of the
decision.

Scholarly Criticism of Brown

The Historical Critique
To place the debate over Brown s legitimacy in
proper historical perspective, one should note
that flexible interpretations of constitutional
provisions were anything but novel in 1954.
Indeed, the concept of the “living Constitu-
tion” had been an accepted part of American
legal thought and Supreme Court doctrine
since at least the end of the New Deal.*
However, the criticism that some politicians,
journalists, and scholars directed at Chief
Justice Earl Warren’s opinion for a unanimous
Court in Brown revealed that the jurispruden-
tial consensus regarding the idea that consti-
tutional provisions are relative to time and

circumstance applied only to the powers of
government and did not extend to the realm
of individual rights. Warren made no pretense
in his opinion that the Court’s ruling rested
upon the intentions of the Framers and ratifiers
of the Fourteenth Amendment. His treatment
of the historical sources that were the focus of
re-argument in 1953°—a statement that these
sources were, “[a]t best, . . . inconclusive”®—
prompted southern congressmen to empha-
size what the Chief Justice merely implied:
that constitutional history undermined the
Court’s holding that racial segregation in pub-
lic schools violates the concept of equal
protection of the laws. Indeed, the incon-
sistency between the Court’s ruling and the
history of the Fourteenth Amendment was
the focus of the “Southern Manifesto” of
March 1956. That statement of protest against
the Court’s ruling, which more than ninety

The plaintiffs in the school desegregation cases were photographed in 1964 at a press conference. From left
to right: Harry Briggs, Jr., Linda Brown Smith, Spottswood Bolling, and Ethel Louise Belton Brown.
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UNION AND LIBERTY!

AND

TS

UNION AND SLAVERY!

Dutianed by N W, Saincer, Srimier, T8 Cemter Ruriat, Yoonss Renhe,

This 1864 broadside contrasting Republican candidate Abraham Lincoln, as a supporter of equality and free
labor, with Democratic opponent George B. McClellan, as an alleged proponent of slavery, shows black and
white schoolchildren issuing together from a schoolhouse flying the American flag. Southern congressmen
who opposed Brown argued, however, that debates preceding passage of the Fourteenth Amendment showed

no intent to integrate schools.

southern congressmen signed, recalled the
arguments of the lawyers for the defendant
school boards and emphasized that “[t]he
debates preceding the submission of the
14" amendment clearly show that there was
no intent that it should affect the systems
of education maintained by the States.” The
manifesto also noted, among other things,
that “[t]he very Congress which proposed the
amendment subsequently provided for segre-
gated schools in the District of Columbia.”’
Besides noting the Court’s failure to re-
spect the traditional sources of constitutional
interpretation, certain commentators pointed
up the novelty of the apparent basis of the hold-
ing in Brown. Of special concern to these indi-
viduals was Warren’s reference in his eleventh
footnote to the social-science evidence of the
petitioners in the case as support for the con-
clusion that racially segregated public schools
are inherently unequal and, thus, unconstitu-
tional. Echoing the arguments of the National

Association for the Advancement of Colored
People’s lawyers, who represented the peti-
tioners, Warren maintained that segregation
“generates a feeling of inferiority [in black
children] as to their status in the community
that may affect their hearts and minds in a
way unlikely ever to be undone.” In the sen-
tence to which he attached the controversial
footnote, Warren said: “Whatever may have
been the extent of psychological knowledge
at the time of Plessy v. Ferguson, this find-
ing is amply supported by modern authority.”®
James Reston of the New York Times re-
sponded to the opinion with the observation
that, in “ruling out racial segregation in the
nation’s public schools, [the Court] rejected
history, philosophy, and custom as the ma-
jor basis for its decision and accepted instead
Justice Benjamin N. Cardozo’s test of con-
temporary social justice.” Reston declared that
“[t]he Court’s opinion read more like an expert
paper on sociology than a Supreme Court



THE BATTLE OVER BROWN'’S LEGITIMACY 33

opinion.”® In the same issue of the Times,
the august constitutional scholar Alpheus
T. Mason lamented: “Rather than rely on avail-
able judicial precedents, the Court invoked
two of the flimsiest of all our disciplines—
sociology and psychology—as the basis of
its decision.” Another venerable scholar, Carl
Brent Swisher, observed that the “decision was
based neither on the history of the amendment
nor on precise textual analysis but on psycho-
logical knowledge”!°

In an effort to defend the Brown deci-
sion against historical criticism, Alexander
Bickel championed a broader, more flexi-
ble understanding of abstract constitutional
rights, although he did not use the term “liv-
ing Constitution.” Echoing the arguments that
the NAACP’s attorneys had used before the
Court,!! and drawing upon the research that
he had conducted for Felix Frankfurter while
serving as the Justice’s law clerk in 1953,!2
Bickel drew a distinction between “the con-
gressional understanding of the immediate
effect of the [Fourteenth Amendment] on con-
ditions then present” and “the long-range ef-
fect, under future circumstances, of provisions
necessarily intended for permanence.” Withre-
gard to the former notion, he conceded that
“[t]he obvious conclusion to which the ev-
idence...casily leads is that section I of the
fourteenth amendment...was meant to apply
neither to jury service, nor suffrage, nor
antimiscegenation statutes, nor segregation.”
But, he insisted, “the fact that the proposed
constitutional amendment was couched in
more general terms could not have escaped
those who voted for it.” In other words, such
language implied “a rejection—presumably as
inappropriate in a constitutional provision—
of such a specific and exclusive enumeration
of rights as appeared in section I of the Civil
Rights Act [of 1866].” Bickel hypothesized
that the amendment’s language may have been
the result of a compromise between moderate
and radical Republicans in the 39™ Congress.
The former individuals—in order to “defend
themselves against charges that on the day

after ratification Negroes were going to be-
come white men’s ‘social equals,” marry their
daughters, vote in their elections, sit on their ju-
ries, and attend schools with their children”—
sought to avoid terms that explicitly endorsed
radical changes in race relations. The radical
elements in the party, however, would agree
to nothing less than language that was “suf-
ficiently elastic to permit reasonable future
advances.”3

Given the weightiness of the evidence
against the view that the Framers and ratifiers
of the Fourteenth Amendment specifically in-
tended to do away with segregation, Bickel
suggested that Chief Justice Warren “must”
have been considering the broader notion of
the original understanding “when he termed
the [historical] materials ‘inconclusive.””'4
Warren, however, clearly directed his state-
ment regarding the indeterminacy of historical
investigation to the specific intentions inform-
ing the Fourteenth Amendment. For the Chief
Justice followed this comment with the obser-
vation that “{tJhe most avid proponents of the
post-War Amendments undoubtedly intended
them to remove all legal distinctions among
‘all persons born or naturalized in the United
States,”” while “[t]heir opponents, just as cer-
tainly, were antagonistic to both the letter and
the spirit of the Amendments and wished them
to have the most limited effect.” “What others
in Congress and the state legislatures had in
mind,” he said, “cannot be determined with
any degree of certainty.”!> That Warren would
risk appearing disingenuous by declaring the
specific intentions of the Framers and rati-
fiers of the Fourteenth Amendment inscrutable
seems less impolitic when one considers that
Bickel’s argument regarding the meaning of
thatamendment was entirely lacking in eviden-
tiary support and was thus just as vulnerable
to criticism.'6

Four years after Brown, Judge Learned
Hand challenged the view that the “living Con-
stitution” concept should extend to the rights
contained in the Fourteenth Amendment (al-
though he did not focus upon the matter of
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the historical legitimacy of this model of con-
stitutional interpretation). The former federal
appeals court judge insisted that, in a demo-
cracy committed to the rule of law, it is “abso-
lutely essential to confine the power [of judi-
cial review] to the need that evoked it: that is,
it was and always has been necessary to dis-
tinguish between the frontiers of another ‘De-
partment’s’ authority and the propriety of its
choices within those frontiers.” Hand, how-
ever, was at a loss to articulate a standard that
would limit the power of review when judges
did not link the meaning of the Constitution’s
provisions to the original intentions of the
Framers of that document. Immediately after
referring to the Brown decision, he confessed
that he could not “frame any definition that will
explain when the Court will assume the role of
a third legislative chamber and when it will
limit its authority to keeping Congress and the
states within their accredited authority.” Stat-
ing that it was “quite clear that it has not ab-
dicated its former function,” he said he had
“never been able to understand on what basis

it does or can rest except as a coup de main.”"’

The Empirical Critique
In a famous response to Judge Hand, Herbert
Wechsler suggested that the Supreme Court
does not necessarily “function as a naked
power organ” when exercises of judicial re-
view are not grounded in the intentions of
the Framers. Echoing Hand’s commitment
to the rule of law, he said he did not “de-
preciate the duty of fidelity to the text of
the Constitution, when its words may be de-
cisive,” or “deny that history has weight in the
elucidation of the text,” or “deem precedent
without importance.” Nevertheless, he did not
“regret that interpretation [of the Due Process
and Equal Protection clauses] did not ground
itselfin ancient history but rather has perceived
in these provisions a compendious affirmation
of the basic values of a free society . . ..” In de-
fense of the notion of a “living Constitution,”
he said that he preferred to see these and “the
other clauses of the Bill of Rights read as an

affirmation of the special values they embody
rather than as statements of a finite rule of law,
its limits fixed by the consensus of a century
long past, with problems very different from
our own.” To identify “a middle ground be-
tween a judicial House of Lords” (which Hand
feared would result when the Court left “room
for adaptation and adjustment” in constitu-
tional interpretation) “and the abandonment of
any limitation on the other branches™ (which
Hand counseled when the traditional materi-
als of interpretation did not afford adequate
guidance to judges), Wechsler offered the
following:

I putitto you that the main constituent
of the judicial process is precisely
that it must be genuinely principled,
resting with respect to every step
that is involved in reaching judgment
on analysis and reasons quite tran-
scending the immediate result that
is achieved. To be sure, the courts
decide, or should decide, only the
case they have before them. But
must they not decide on grounds of
adequate neutrality and generality,
tested not only by the instant applica-
tion but by others that the principles
imply?'8

Wechsler did not deny the realist in-
sight that judicial decision-making—even that
rooted in neutral principles of adjudication—
involves value choices or discretion. Indeed, he
conceded “that courts in constitutional deter-
minations face issues that are inescapably ‘po-
litical’ . . . in that they involve a choice among
competing values or desires, a choice reflected
in the legislative or executive action in ques-
tion, which the court must either condemn
or condone.” But he rejected the conclusion
that evidence of value choices on the part of
judges necessarily renders courts and legisla-
tures equivalent institutions. “No legislature
or executive,” he observed, “is obligated by
the nature of its function to support its choice
of values by the type of reasoned explanation
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that I have suggested is intrinsic to judicial ac-
tion.” While a decision that “rests on reasons
with respect to all the issues in the case[—]
reasons that in their generality and their neu-
trality transcend any immediate result that is
involved”—is not devoid of discretion, it is
nevertheless distinguishable from “an act of
willfulness or will.” One would be mistaken
to conclude that this contrast between meth-
ods of decision-making amounts to a dis-
tinction without a difference, Wechsler be-
lieved. For the restraints that the requirement
of principled decision-making places upon
judges are substantive, not merely stylistic.
“When no sufficient reasons of this kind can
be assigned for overturning value choices of
the other branches of the Government or of
a state,” Wechsler explained, “those choices
must . . . survive.”!®

Wechsler was not so naive as to believe
that judges invariably remain passive in the
absence of principled arguments for their rul-
ings, strong though the social expectations for
normatively appropriate judicial behavior may
be. Indeed, he concluded that the Brown de-
cision, with which he was careful to express
his sympathy, represented just such an instance
of result-oriented decision-making on the part
of the Court. “[Flor one of my persuasion,”
he confessed, “the school decision. . . stirs the
deepest conflict I experience in testing the the-
sis I propose.” Besides agreeing with the result
in the case, he emphasized (consistent with
his defense of the “living Constitution”) that
he did not find troubling the Court’s refusal
to abide by the traditional materials of con-
stitutional interpretation: “[T]he words [of the
Fourteenth Amendment] are general and leave
room for expanding content as time passes and
conditions change.” His “problem [with the de-
cision] inhere[d] strictly in the reasoning of
the opinion”—the fact that “the separate-but-
equal formula. .. was held to have ‘no place’
in public education on the ground that seg-
regated schools are ‘inherently unequal,” with
deleterious effects upon the colored children in
implying their inferiority, effects which retard

their educational and mental development.”
The Court’s treatment of social fact, or the
supposed harms of segregation, he believed,
hardly seemed sufficient to justify the result
in the present case, let alone to provide ade-
quate guidance in cases that might follow. The
social scientists and expert witnesses in the
lower courts were not of one mind that seg-
regation had the negative effects that the Court
mentioned. And it was not clear whether the
witnesses who acknowledged such harm com-
pared the “position [of the black child] under
separation with that under integration where
the whites were hostile to his presence and
found ways to make their feelings known,” or
whether the point of comparison was simply
“an integrated school where he was happily ac-
cepted and regarded by the whites.” Similarly,
Wechsler wondered whether the Court denied
the existence and relevance of “the benefits
that [segregation] entailed,” such as a “sense
of security” for black children or “the absence
of hostility,” and whether the Justices thought
that the perception in certain black communi-
ties that such benefits existed was insufficient
to sustain segregation.?”

In view of these obvious problems,
Wechsler found “it hard to think the judgment
[in Brown] really turned upon the facts.” He
also recognized the significance of subsequent
per curiam decisions, in which the Court—
citing Brown as precedent, but without ex-
planation—invalidated state-maintained seg-
regated parks, beaches and bath houses, golf
courses, and public transportation. These later
decisions, he thought, indicated that the Jus-
tices regarded Brown as based upon more than
the negative effects of segregation upon black
schoolchildren.?! Anticipating the arguments
of future defenders of Brown,?? he hypothe-
sized that the decision “rested [instead] on the
view that racial segregation is, in principle, a
denial of equality to the minority against whom
it is directed; that is, the group that is not dom-
inant politically and, therefore, does not make
the choice involved.” Yet he did not find this
alternative assessment of social fact any less
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problematic. Such a position, he believed, “in-
volve[s] an inquiry into the motive of the leg-
islature, which is generally foreclosed to the
courts” because of the vagaries of the enter-
prise. Moving from the motives of the alleged
oppressors to the perceptions of the oppressed,
he wondered whether it is “defensible to make
the measure of validity of legislation the way
it is interpreted by those who are affected by
it?” “In the context of a charge that segrega-
tion with equal facilities is a denial of equal-
ity,” he asked, “is there not a point in Plessy
in the statement that if ‘enforced separation
stamps the colored race with a badge of inferi-
ority’ it is solely because its members choose
‘to put that construction upon it’?” After all,
few would conclude that “enforced separation
of the sexes discriminate[s] against females
merely because it may be the females who re-
sent it and it is imposed by judgments predom-
inantly male >

Wechsler thought that a more promising
rationale for the result in Brown would have
characterized segregation, “not {as a problem]
of discrimination at all,” but as a “denial by the
state of freedom to associate, a denial that im-
pinges in the same way on any groups or races
that may be involved.” Yet, while he thought
“that the Southern white also pays heavily
for segregation, not only in the sense of guilt
that he must carry but also in the benefits he
is denied,” he acknowledged that “integration
forces an association upon those for whom it is
unpleasant or repugnant.” Sadly, he confessed
that he could not discover “a basis in neutral
principles for holding that the Constitution de-
mands that the claims for association should
prevail” over the desires of those who would
avoid it. In the absence of a principled argu-
ment, Wechsler was prepared to affirm the il-
legitimacy of Brown. For he reiterated that “the
courts ought to be cautious to impose a choice
of values on the other branches or a state, based
upon the Constitution, only when they are per-
suaded, on an adequate and principled analy-
sis, that the choice is clear.” Adherence to this
norm of behavior, he believed, “is all that self-

restraint can mean and in that sense it always
is essential, whatever issue may be posed.”?*

Persons less sympathetic to the result in
Brown were content to take Wechsler at his
word that there existed no alternative basis for
the decision. They set out to demonstrate the
vulnerability of the Court’s empirical claims
regarding segregation. Ernest van den Haag
challenged the validity of the social-science
evidence to which the Court referred. Confess-
ing that he was “doubtful . . . about the wisdom
of the decision in the desegregation cases” as
well as the sufficiency of the Court’s evidence,
van den Haag went well beyond Wechsler’s ab-
stract musings regarding the effects of segre-
gation. As John Davis had done on behalf of
certain of the defendants during oral argument,
van den Haag took direct aim at Kenneth Clark,
who had been the chief witness for the petition-
ers, and whose research the Court placed first
among the social-science studies listed in the
eleventh footnote of the Brown decision. He
found Clark’s conclusions disturbingly lack-
ing in empirical support. Indeed, like Davis,
van den Haag argued that Clark’s doll study—
in which the researcher offered black children
a choice between a black and a white doll—
did more to harm than help the cause of the
petitioners in Brown. A comparison between
the responses of black children in segregated
and nonsegregated schools “shows that ‘they
do not differ’ except that Negro children in seg-
regated schools ‘are less pronounced in their
preference for the white doll’ and more often
think of the colored dolls as ‘nice’ or iden-
tify with them.” Van den Haag concluded: “[I]f
Professor Clark’s tests do demonstrate damage
to Negro children, then they demonstrate that
the damage is less with segregation and greater
with congregation’?>

A. James Gregor agreed with van den
Haag’s contention and offered his support in
the form of a review of relevant social-science
literature. Sharply critical of the empirical case
for the petitioners in Brown, Gregor charac-
terized the evidence presented to the Court
as a collection of “suppositions” that “traffic
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on the promissory notes of vague hypothet-
icals and surmise.” Focusing on a weakness
that had concerned the NAACP’s lawyers, he
suggested that “[l]ittle if any direct evidence
of the impairments attributable to school seg-
regation per se is tendered. . . . The closest ap-
proximation to the real issue before the Court
isin the discussion of ‘segregation’ [in the peti-
tioners’ social-science appendix to their brief],
which in itself covers a host of ill-defined sit-
uations: housing, recreational facilities, pub-
lic conveniences, transportation, and eating
places as well as nursery, grammar, secondary
schools, colleges, and universities.”?® “The ev-
ident disposition to avoid any discussion of
the available evidence with respect to school
segregation per se,” he surmised, “is conceiv-
ably the result of an awareness that whatever
evidence is available fends to support racial
separation in the schools at least throughout
childhood and adolescence.” Gregor drew at-
tention to studies indicating that “racial sep-
aration may materially enhance the formation
of a coherent self-system on the part of the
Negro by reducing the psychological pressure
to which the child is subjected.” In an ironic
paraphrase of Warren’s language in Brown, he
said: “[I]ntegration gives every evidence of
creating insurmountable tensions for the indi-
vidual Negro child and impairing his person-

ality in a manner never likely to be undone.”?’

Scholarly Defenses of Brown

Early Apologias
Efforts to defend the empirical basis of the
Brown decision actually began several years
before Wechsler, van den Haag, and Gregor—
among others—questioned the validity of the
social-science evidence to which the Court re-
ferred. Indeed, in the year following the deci-
sion, Edmond Cahn anticipated and sought to
answer such criticism. Rather than stand by the
social scientists and their work, however, Cahn
sought to de-emphasize their significance for
the ruling. He regarded as a “genuine danger”

the mistaken belief that the outcome of the
desegregation decisions, “either entirely or in
major part, was caused by the testimony and
opinions of the scientists.” For he “would not
have the constitutional rights of Negroes—or
of other Americans—rest on any such flimsy
foundations as some of the scientific demon-
strations in these records.”” Cahn contended
that some of Clark’s interpretations of his data
seemed to be “predetermined.” And, heralding
Gregor’s critique, he observed that Clark’s doll
test did not reveal the effects of school segre-
gation. “If it disclosed anything about the ef-
fects of segregation on the children,” he said,
“their experiences at school were not differ-
entiated from other causes.” But Cahn main-
tained that, “Fortunately, the outcome of the
Brown and Bolling cases did not depend on
the psychological experts’ [sic] facing and an-
swering the objections, queries, and doubts I
have presented.” “The cruelty [of segregation
to black children] is obvious and evident,” he
explained. In fact, “it is so very obvious that
the Justices of the Supreme Court could see it
and act on it even after reading the labored at-
tempts by plaintiffs’ experts to demonstrate it
‘scientifically.’ ” Cahn characterized Warren’s
decision to make reference to the studies as
a mere “gesture” of “courtesy” from a “mag-
nanimous judge” to the “devoted efforts [of the
plaintiffs] to defeat segregation.”?® As Morroe
Berger suggested in an article that paralleled
Cahn’s conclusions, the Court could “simply
have stated, quite baldly, that it took ‘judicial
notice’ of the fact that segregation means in-
equality[; . . .] it could have ignored [the social-
science materials] completely without chang-
ing its decision in the slightest.”?

Responses to Cahn from several scholars
who defended the petitioners’ and the Court’s
use of social-science evidence reveal that van
den Haag and Gregor had ample reason to be-
lieve that they were not wasting their efforts
in attempting to discredit Brown by attacking
the studies contained in the decision’s eleventh
footnote. Had the Court not made refer-
ence to social-science evidence, William Ball
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wondered, how could it have “counter[ed] the
objection of the state attorneys general, who
said...that they agreed that Negroes and
whites should enjoy equality, but that the
separate facilities furnished provided such
‘equality’?”3? In other words, judges may take
judicial notice only of facts that are not prop-
erly the subject of testimony, or which are
universally recognized as common knowledge.
Neither circumstance applied in Brown, at least
as far as a substantial portion of the Amer-
ican population in 1954 was concerned. In-
deed, as Herbert Garfinkel noted (using the
words of Thurgood Marshall, the NAACP’s
lead attorney in Brown, to make his point):
“‘Acceptance of the [sic] segregation under the
“separate but equal” doctrine ha[d] become so
ingrained that overwhelming proof was sorely
needed to demonstrate that equal educational
opportunities for Negroes could not be pro-
vided in a segregated system.””! Clark added
that “[T]his was not the first time that the
lawyers of the NAACP had sought to con-
vince the United States Supreme Court that
segregation in and of itself was unconstitu-
tional.” He thought it more than mere coin-
cidence that “the lawyers of the NAACP suc-
ceeded in overruling the Plessy doctrine only
after they enlisted an impressive array of social
science testimony and talent and attacked the
problem with this approach.”*?

Although these proved compelling re-
sponses to Cahn, an effective defense of the
Court required of Clark and his colleagues
equally effective rejoinders to van den Haag
and Gregor. Garfinkel, however, provided a
critique of Clark’s research that rivaled that of
van den Haag.®* And Clark defended his in-
tegrity and that of the social scientists, rather
than the usefulness of their findings. He took
umbrage at Cahn’s implication “that the pri-
mary motive of the social psychologists who
participated in these cases was not ‘strict fi-
delity to objective truth””” And with regard to
his failure to control for the effect of public-
school segregation on the personalities of black
children, he insisted he had been well aware

of the limitations of his research and had
pointed out to the NAACP’s lawyers “that the
available studies had so far not isolated this
single variable from the total social complex-
ity of racial prejudice, discrimination, and
segregation.”*

While Garfinkel was unwilling to main-
tain the validity of the social-science evidence
relating to the harms of segregation, he al-
luded to a seemingly more promising strategy
to defend the Brown decision when he sug-
gested that Plessy v. Ferguson was no less de-
pendent upon controversial empirical assump-
tions. “[T]he opinion in Plessy might well have
cited the social science ‘modern authority’ of
its day to support some aspects of its position,”
he contended. For “[a]t that time psychologists
did believe in the inherent intellectual inferi-
ority of the Negro, and most sociologists and
political scientists did believe that ‘stateways
do not make folkways.” That the 1896 Court
did not choose to cite expert authorities does
not alter the nature of these questions or the rel-
evancy of the evidence.”>> Garfinkel, however,
relegated these observations to the conclusion
of his essay and thus left their meaning and
force undeveloped.

Barton Bernstein illuminated Garfinkel’s
point with a more elaborate rendering and cri-
tique of the empirical basis of the Plessy de-
cision. In maintaining the reasonableness—
and thus the constitutionality—of Louisiana’s
segregation statute, Bernstein claimed, Jus-
tice Henry Billings Brown “wrote conser-
vative theory and the prevailing social sci-
ence ‘truths’ into law.” More specifically,
“[t]he court explained that the standard of rea-
sonableness is determined ‘with reference to
the established usages, customs, and traditions
of the people.”” While Brown thought that the
segregation statute was reasonable because it
observed custom with a view to preserving
public peace and good order, he regarded the
petitioner’s argument as plainly contrary to rea-
son because it reflected the mistaken belief
“that ‘social prejudices may be overcome by
legislation.”” In concluding “that ‘legislation
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Louis J. Redding (left) and Thurgood Marshall (right) conferred during a recess in the Supreme Court's hearing
on racial integration in the public schools. Redding represented black schoolchildren in Delaware, and Marshall

was serving as the general counsel for the NAACP.
is powerless to eradicate racial instincts,”
Bernstein noted, Brown drew upon the tenets
of “the popular sociology which emerged af-
ter the Civil War.” For “most sociologists™ at
the time were “good Spencerians,” who be-
lieved “that society, the organism of evolu-
tion, could not be refashioned by legislation.”
As “William Graham Sumner explained[,] . ..
‘legislation cannot make mores’ and state-
ways cannot change folkways.” More than
this, “Franklin Henry Giddings . . . had empha-
sized ‘consciousness of kind, a new guise
for the ‘racial instincts’ concept, to ex-
plain segregation. The implication in Plessy
was that this social custom, the desire for
racially segregated facilities, was grounded in
‘race instincts.” These instincts were unchan-
geable before man-made law.”3°

Bernstein took issue with Justice Brown’s
“questionable factual allegations” and “du-

bious legal and scientific theories.” Without
elaborating, he characterized as “poor his-
tory” Brown’s suggestion that social attitudes
cannot be shaped by law. But, even if it
were the case that legislation is powerless to
eradicate prejudice, Bernstein noted, a decla-
ration of unconstitutionality in Plessy would
not have been equivalent to legislation forc-
ing racial commingling. Rather, a ruling in
favor of the petitioners would have done no
more than preclude laws enforcing racial sep-
aration in transportation. “The practices of
railroads and the social habits of passen-
gers would not have been immediately af-
fected. The prevailing policy would have been
maintained: where informal segregation ex-
isted, it would have remained; where com-
mingling occurred, it would have continued.”
As for Brown’s belief that segregation statutes
were reflective of racial instincts—part of a
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long-standing effort to avoid the baleful effects
of racial prejudice through the curtailment
of interracial contact—Bernstein insisted that
such laws were inconsistent with custom or tra-
dition. Drawing upon the research of C. Vann
Woodward, among other historians, he said:

“When the Plessy court judged it custom, Jim
Crow transportation was but a recent South-
ern creation. By 1896 only eight Southern
states had such laws, and seven of the statutes
were less than eight years old.” He then sug-
gested that southern states did not need these
laws to stem racial conflict, for historical in-
vestigations of the postbellum era reveal that
“Negroes and whites frequently shared the
same coaches” without incident. As “[a] South
Carolinian remarked in 1877[,] ... Negroes in
his state ‘were permitted to, and frequently do
ride in first-class railway and street cars.” At
first this had caused trouble, but it was then
‘so common as hardly to provoke remark.’ %’

Justice Henry Billings Brown, the au-
thor of Plessy v. Ferguson, believed
that segregated facilities reflected un-
changeable racial instincts. Popular
sociology dictated that social preju-
dices and custom could not be over-
come by legislation.

Unlike Bernstein, Garfinkel recognized
the obvious problem with efforts to shift schol-
arly and legal attention from the controversial
nature of the holding in Brown to the vulner-
ability of the empirical basis of Plessy. Un-
fortunately, Garfinkel’s attempt to meet the
conventional view that the Court had always
extended a presumption of constitutionality to
segregation legislation was as cursory as his
discussion of Justice Brown’s reliance upon the
sociological assumptions of his day. Garfinkel
simply declared that a presumption of consti-
tutionality (which, in placing the burden of
proof upon challengers to legislation, liber-
ated southern states from having to do any-
thing more than demonstrate a basis in reason
for segregation laws) “is of questionable ma-
teriality to the school segregation cases. The
burden of proof is placed on the legislatures
in these cases, requiring that they demonstrate
that their statutory restrictions on the relations
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of Negroes and whites do not violate the equal
protection and due process requirements of the

Constitution.”?®

Garfinkel might have defended this view
by noting, as did Louis Pollak, that, in the fed-
eral desegregation case Bolling v. Sharpe,”®
the Court invoked the Japanese curfew and ex-
clusion cases of 1943 and 1944, respectively,
to identify racial classifications as constitu-
tionally suspect.*’ In so doing, to use Pollak’s
words, the Court “could not. . . sustain the rea-
sonableness of these racial distinctions and the
absence of harm said to flow from them, unless
[the Justices] were prepared to say that no fac-
tual case can be made the other way.™'! But,
in view of the fact that the Court had failed
to provide an explanation for its placement
of the burden of proof in the curfew and ex-
clusion cases, as well as in the desegregation

When Plessy was handed down in 1875,
Jim Crow had just begun to be established
in the South. By 1896, only eight Southern
states had enacted segregationist laws, a
trend that accelerated in the new century.
These segregated drinking fountains were
photographed in Georgia in the 1960s.

cases, Pollak could not have expected that his
observation would help to quell criticism of
the Justices. Persons sympathetic to the results
in the desegregation cases, as well as persons
alarmed by the decisions, would have been jus-
tified in demanding such an explanation from
the Court, because Brown and Bolling, un-
like the Japanese curfew and exclusion cases,
involved the invalidation of governmental
action.

Brown Recast
Charles Black provided the earliest and most
compelling scholarly defense of the view
that the Court had ample reason to expect
the defenders of racial segregation to assume
the burden of justifying the constitutionality
of the practice. Although Black expressed his
indebtedness to Pollak, he noted rightly that
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his rationale for Brown differed from that of
his colleague. Where Pollak said that he “[did]
not think it incumbent upon [him], at least for
present purposes, to resolve controversies as
to the justification for and impact of Jim Crow
legislation,”** Black took it upon himself to
demonstrate that “segregation is a massive in-
tentional disadvantaging of the Negro race, as
such, by state law.” In arguing that segregation
“[is] a system which is set up and continued for
the very purpose of keeping [a whole race] in
an inferior station,” he scorned Wechsler’s re-
fusal to assess the motives of southern legisla-
tors. While Black acknowledged “the entirely
sincere protestations of many southerners that
segregation is ‘better’ for the Negroes . . . [and]
is not intended to hurt them,” he believed that
“a little probing would demonstrate that what
is meant is that it is better for the Negroes to
accept a position of inferiority at least for the
indefinite future.”*3

Turning first to history, Black contended
that “[s]egregation in the South comes down in
apostolic succession from slavery and the Dred
Scott case. The South fought to keep slavery,
and lost. Then it tried the Black Codes, and
lost. Then it looked around for something else
and found segregation.” To support his impres-
sionistic view that “[t]he movement for segre-
gation was an integral part of the movement to
maintain and further ‘white supremacy,”” he,
like Bernstein, made reference to the work of
C. Vann Woodward. “Professor Woodward has
shown,” he maintained, that “[segregation’s]
triumph . . . represented a triumph of extreme
racialist over moderate sentiment about the Ne-
gro.” But even without resorting to the schol-
arship of such a respected academic figure,
Black believed, “[h]istory . . . tells us that seg-
regation was imposed on one race by the other
race; consent was not invited or required. Seg-
regation in the South grew up and is kept
going because and only because the white
race has wanted it that way—an incontrovert-
ible fact which in itself hardly consorts with
equality.” An accurate picture of southern race
relations, in short, is “not [one] of mutual sep-

aration of whites and Negroes, but of one in-
group enjoying full normal communal life and
one out-group that is barred from this life and
forced into an inferior life of its own 4

Black defended the view that the non-
involvement of blacks in the construction of
southern society secured the group’s inferior
status therein by noting that “[s]egregation
is historically and contemporaneously associ-
ated in a functioning complex with practices
which are indisputably and grossly discrimi-
natory.” He drew his reader’s attention to “the
long-continued and still largely effective ex-
clusion of Negroes from voting.” One could
not believe seriously that “segregation [was]
not intended to harm the segregated race, or
to stamp it with the mark of inferiority,” he
said, when, “at about the same time [that seg-
regation occurred], the very same group of
people .. . [was] barred...from the common
political life of the community—from all po-
litical power.” Black also noted that, “generally
speaking, segregation is the pattern of law in
communities where the extralegal patterns of
discrimination against Negroes are the tightest,
where Negroes are subjected to the strictest
codes of ‘unwritten law’ as to job opportu-
nities, social intercourse, patterns of housing,
going to the back door, being called by the
first name, saying ‘Sir,” and all the rest of the
whole sorry business.” While not state action,
these oppressive cultural norms “assist us in
understanding the meaning and assessing the
impact of [contemporaneous] state action.” Fi-
nally, the fact that “‘[s]eparate but equal’ fa-
cilities are almost never really equal” provides
clear “evidence of what segregation means to
the people who impose it and to the people
who are subjected to it.” Black asked rhetori-
cally, “Can a system which, in all that can be
measured, has practiced the grossest inequal-
ity, actually have been ‘equal’ in intent, in total
social meaning and impact?” His answer was a
direct response to Wechsler’s stated incertitude
about the nature of apartheid: “[S]egregation,
in all visible things, speaks only haltingly any
dialect but that of inequality.”*
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Indeed, Black believed that to suggest
otherwise—or even to express uncertainty
about the nature of segregation—was not to
take a reasonable, alternative position on a
contested issue but to engage in “self-induced
blindness” and to perpetrate a “flagrant con-
tradiction of known fact.” While he “[did] not
maintain that the evidence is all one way” (“it
never is on issues of burning, fighting con-
cern”), he thought the case “so one-sided” that
he could not appreciate Wechsler’s concerns
over judicial fact-finding. Even if one accepted
“the good faith of those who assert that segre-
gation represents no more than an attempt to
furnish a wholesome opportunity for parallel
development of the races” and acknowledged
“the few scattered instances [segregationists]
can bring forward to support their view of
the matter,” there could be no doubt, Black
thought, about “which balance-pan flies up-
ward” in any objective weighing of the com-
peting claims at issue. Going beyond a mere
summary of his earlier observations, he said:

The society that has just lost the
Negro as a slave, that has just lost
out in an attempt to put him un-
der quasi-servile “Codes,” the society
that views his blood as a contamina-
tion and his name as an insult, the so-
ciety that extralegally imposes on him
every humiliating mark of low caste
and that until yesterday kept him in
line by lynching—this society, care-
less of his consent, moves by law, first
to exclude him from voting, and sec-
ondly to cut him off from mixing in
the general public life of the commu-
nity. . ..

[In view of these “matters of
common notoriety”,] it would be the
most un-neutral of principles, impro-
vised ad hoc, to require that a court
faced with the present problem refuse
to note a plain fact about the soci-
ety of the United States—the fact that
the social meaning of segregation is

the putting of the Negro in a position
of walled-off inferiority—or the other
equally plain fact that such treatment
is hurtful to human beings.*®

Convinced of the force of this argument,
Black speculated that Wechsler possessed “no
actual doubt...as to what segregation is for and
what kind of societal pattern it supports and im-
plements.” Rather, his colleague seemed con-
cerned that “there is no ritually sanctioned way
in which the Court, as a Court, can permis-
sibly learn what is obvious to everybody else
and to the Justices as individuals.”*’ Black also
thought (as did Wechsler*®) that the Justices
likewise regarded segregation as oppressive,
and that this belief (as opposed to “the formally
‘scientific’ authorities, which are relegated to
a footnote and treated as merely corroboratory
of common sense”) formed the true basis of
Brown. Black suspected that the Court’s fail-
ure to “[spell] out that segregation. . .is per-
ceptibly a means of ghettoizing the imputedly
inferiorrace . . . was [caused by a] reluctance to
go into the distasteful details of the southern
caste system.” This “venial fault” of the opin-
ion aside, he reiterated that the Justices “had
the soundest reasons for judging that segrega-
tion violates the fourteenth amendment.” The
Court could acknowledge the oppressive na-
ture of segregation, just “as it advises itself of
the facts that we are a ‘religious people,’ [or]
that the country is more industrialized than in
Jefferson’s day.”*

Perhaps aware that many (including
Wechsler) would challenge the fairness of
these analogies, and that his argument (like
Cahn’s) would thus not square with the doc-
trine of judicial notice, he called upon the legal
community to “[develop] ways to make it per-
missible for the Court to use what it knows.”
The absence of a formal mechanism for resolv-
ing disputes over abstract social facts, however,
did not dampen his faith in the accuracy of
the Court’s assessment of social reality in the
segregation decisions. “[S]urely,” he declared,
“the fact that the Court has assumed as true
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a matter of common [if not universal] knowl-
edge in regard to broad societal patterns, is (to
say the very least) pretty far down the list of
things to protest against.” Black expressed con-
fidence “that in the end the decisions will be
accepted by the profession™ on the basis that
“the segregation system is actually conceived
and does actually function as a means of keep-
ing the Negro in a status of inferiority.”>

In the same way that the Little Rock
integration crisis of 19571958 must have con-
firmed for Black (ifitdid not inspire his assess-
ment of ) the oppressive nature of segregation,
events in the years immediately following the
publication of Black’s essay would make it al-
most impossible for others to accept alternative
interpretations of the practice. Specifically, the
mistreatment and violence that black children
endured when attempting to enter formerly
white schools, and the hostility that young
civil-rights workers experienced during non-

violent protests at segregated lunch counters,
restaurants, libraries, theaters, beaches, mo-
tels, and swimming pools, did much to illu-
minate the brutality of apartheid. The events
in Birmingham, Alabama during the spring
of 1963, perhaps more than any other occur-
rence, solidified this understanding of segrega-
tion in the nation’s collective conscience and,
in so doing, helped to establish an exalted sta-
tus for Brown. News viewers witnessed club-
wielding patrolmen, vicious police dogs, and
high-pressure water hoses that the city’s po-
lice commissioner, Eugene “Bull” Connor, un-
leashed upon Martin Luther King, Jr. and the
peaceful protesters he led. Tragically, thou-
sands of black children were among those
who experienced the fury of Connor’s forces.
Henceforth, Americans would have great
difficulty accepting southern protestations that
segregation reflected consideration for the
welfare of blacks.’'

N

The fallacy that segregation reflected consideration for the welfare of blacks was exposed for the American

public in 1963, when television viewers witnessed vicious attacks by police officers and their dogs on peacefully
protesting African Americans. This photo of men and women kneeling on a sidewalk outside City Hall in
Birmingham, Alabama, captures the pacifism of the protesters, but not the ferocity of the segregationists.



THE BATTLE OVER BROWN’S LEGITIMACY 45

Within the legal community, Wechsler’s
concern over the difficulties involved in ascer-
taining the legislative motives behind segrega-
tion lost considerable force. Indeed, Bickel’s
restatement of Wechsler’s argument, com-
pelling though it may have seemed in 1962,
served the ironic function the following year
of illuminating the hollowness of that con-
cern. To demonstrate the “inscrutable” nature
of such motives, he asked: “Who is to say that
the majority of a legislature which enacts a
statute segregating the schools is actuated by
a conscious desire to suppress and humiliate
the Negro? Who is to say that for many mem-
bers more decent feelings are not decisive—the
feeling, for example, that under existing cir-
cumstances Negro children are better off and
can be more effectively educated in schools
reserved exclusively for them, and that this is
the most hopeful road to the goal of equality
of the races under law?*? As events demon-
strated, black children may well have been in
less danger in separate schools. But the ferocity
that state governments directed toward peace-
ful protest groups comprised partially of chil-
dren, and the fact that state troopers acted to
intimidate black students rather than to pro-
tect them, enabled scholars and jurists to as-
sume that negative effects stemming from the
illicit motives behind segregation outweighed
any benefits that legislative and executive offi-
cials might have anticipated for black children.

In diminishing the basis for concern over
the ascertainment of the legislative motives be-
hind segregation, the events of the early 1960s
lent credence to Black’s belief that the oppres-
sive nature of segregation was a social fact ca-
pable of judicial notice. In Bickel’s words: “To
determine that segregation establishes a rela-
tionship of the inferior to the superior race is
to take objective notice of a fact of our na-
tional life and of experience elsewhere in the
world, now and in other times. . . . It is no dif-
ferent from a similarly experiential judgment
that official inquiries into private associations
inhibit the freedom to join, or that hearsay evi-
dence . . . has a tendency to become distorted.”

Having said this in the same work in which
he expressed concern over the difficulty of
discovering the intentions of southern legis-
lators, however, Bickel added that one could
make such an observation about segregation
“quite without reference to legislative motives
and without reliance on [the] subjective and
perhaps idiosyncratic feelings [of blacks].”>
But, like Black, Bickel could not expect near-
universal agreement over the oppressive nature
of segregation until circumstances deprived
southerners of self-serving rationales for the
practice. In short, as Joseph Tussman and
Jacobus tenBroek observed in an article pub-
lished five years before Brown, it “is in-
deed difficult to see that anything else is in-
volved in. .. discriminatory legislative cases
than questions of motivation[; ]. .. [l]Jaws are
invalidated by the Court as discriminatory be-
cause they are expressions of hostility or an-
tagonism to certain groups of individuals.” In
a passage that anticipated Black’s recasting
of the basis of Brown, they added: “Should
the temper of the Court change, it could, no
doubt, find that segregation laws aim at white
supremacy or are spawned of the great anti-
Negro virus and thus make belated amends for
the shameful history of the ‘separate but equal’
evasion>*

Transposed Reputations

The upshot of developments following the
publication of Black’s defense of Brown was
the vindication of his predictions regarding the
legal profession’s eventual acceptance of the
decision and the basis upon which this outcome
would take place. Indeed, opponents as well as
proponents of the view that the “living Con-
stitution” concept extends to individual rights
as well as governmental powers have accepted
not only the legitimacy of Brown but the great-
ness of the decision as well. As Michael Perry
suggests, “Brown...is generally thought to
represent the Court at its best.”>> And, while
few contemporary scholars would dispute
Perry’s view, or Gerald Gunther’s claim that
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Brown “was an entirely legitimate decision,”*

most do not believe that Warren’s opinion re-
flected the Court’s true rationale for the ruling.
In the words of Philip Kurland, “It would take
an extraordinarily sophisticated, or perhaps an
extraordinarily naive, approach to judicial be-
havior to believe that the cited [social-science]
literature was the cause of the Court’s judgment
rather than the result of it””>” Or, as Robert
Bork suggests, “nobody who read Brown be-
lieved for a moment that the decision turned on
social science studies about such matters as the
preference of black children for white or black
dolls.”*® The certitude with which Bork made
this historically inaccurate statement reflects
just how far the legal profession has moved
from the arguments of van den Haag, Gregor,
Ball, and Garfinkel.

With regard to the conventional under-
standing of the actual basis of Brown, J. Harvie
Wilkinson reveals how contemporary legal
scholars exhibit none of Wechsler’s reluctance
to question the nature of segregation or to
characterize Brown as an attack upon the mo-
tives that most now agree informed the prac-
tice. According to Wilkinson, Brown was “one
of the last, great actions whose moral logic
seemed so uncomplex and irrefutable,” be-
cause the “opposition [to the decision] seemed
so thoroughly extreme, rooted as it was in
notions of racial hegemony and the constitu-
tional premises of John C. Calhoun.” Surely
Black felt a certain satisfaction when Mark
Yudof, seconding Wilkinson’s point, invoked
Black’s essay as support for the proposition
that “Brown was premised on the notion that
state statutes and constitutions that require
the separation of white and black children
in the public schools are designed to and have
the effect of stigmatizing black Americans as
inferior beings.”®"

Brown’s ascendance in status occasioned
a corresponding decline in the reputation of
the Plessy decision. As David Strauss con-
tends, the decision in which the Court placed
its imprimatur upon the “separate but equal”
doctrine “is now universally condemned.”®!

Few scholars would regard as excessive Perry’s
statement that Plessy was a “ridiculous and
shameful opinion.”®® Plessy, Richard Posner
explains, “had come to seem, in the fullness
of time, bad ethics and bad politics.”®3 In-
deed, Wilkinson characterizes the opinion in
that case as “a warechouse of segregationist
‘truths’ that echo through our history.’** Simi-
larly, and in sharp contrast to Wechsler’s refusal
to criticize the logic of Plessy, Bruce Acker-
man states: “Whatever Justice Brown . . . might
have thought, it is now absurd to dismiss the
‘badge of inferiority’ imposed by state offi-
cials as they shunt black children to segregated
schools as if it were ‘solely’ the product of a
‘choice’ by the ‘colored race’. .. to put [a de-
grading] construction upon it.”%

Scholars now contrast the abstract nature
of Justice Brown’s majority opinion in Plessy
with the striking candor of John Marshall
Harlan’s dissent in that case. Perry, for exam-
ple, notes that, unlike the Plessy majority,
Harlan was willing to face the “undeniable
fact” that segregation was “rooted in white-
supremacist ideology.” “In one of the most
prophetic dissents ever penned by a Supreme

Young black men in Texas protest racially segregated
schools in the 1940s.
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Court Justice, [Harlan] protested: ‘We boast
of the freedom enjoyed by our people above
all other peoples. But it is difficult to rec-
oncile that boast with a state of the law
which, practically, puts the brand of servitude
and degradation upon a large class of our
fellow-citizens, our equals before the law."
H. N. Hirsch expresses a similar admiration
for Harlan’s dissent, which, he says, “makes
clear. .. [that] ‘separate but equal’ can be in-
terpreted as constitutional only by the most
stubborn refusal to face social facts.”®’

While the transposed reputations of Plessy
and Brown served to vindicate Black, this shift
made a controversial figure of Wechsler, the
most visible of Brown’s more credible critics.
As events in the 1960s began to give substance
to Black’s discussion of the oppressive na-
ture of segregation, Wechsler became a light-
ning rod for the invective of Brown’s defend-
ers. Indeed, a number of scholars went so far
as to charge him with jurisprudential naiveté.
Arthur Miller and Ronald Howell declared that
Wechsler’s counsel of “[a]dherence to neu-
tral principles...[was a call for the discov-
ery of] principles which do not refer to value
choices.”®® And Martin Shapiro characterized
Wechsler’s constitutional jurisprudence as lit-
tle more than an echo of “the traditional myth
of the impersonal, nonpolitical, law-finding
judge whose decisions are the results of the
inexorable logic of the law and not of his own
preferences and discretion.”®

In response, Wechsler reiterated that he
“[did] not deny that constitutional provisions
are directed to protecting certain special values
or that the principled development of a partic-
ular provision is concerned with the value or
the values thus involved.”’® And he claimed
that he “never thought the principle of neu-
tral principles offers a court a guide to ex-
ercising its authority, in the sense of a for-
mula that indicates how cases ought to be
decided.””!

Wechsler would require the aid of others
to respond to the somewhat more mannerly
criticism that he was “more misleading than

enlightening” regarding what the doctrine of
neutral principles implies, and was thus irre-
sponsible in challenging a decision that “struck
a tremendous blow for the Declaration of In-
dependence, the Gettysburg Address, and the
fourteenth amendment, not to mention our po-
sition in a world in which a majority of the peo-
ple are not white””? To clarify Wechsler’s posi-
tion, M. P. Golding suggested that “[n]eutrality
and generality are to be found not in the con-
tent of the law but in its application or admin-
istration’” Adhering to the same view, Louis
Henkin elaborated: “{A] court should not an-
nounce a principle if it is...not intended to
be applicable in a general area in which no le-
gitimate distinctions are apparent.”’* In short,
the basic elements of Wechsler’s doctrine of
neutrality include uniformity of application (a
decision ought to rest only on a principle that
judges are willing to apply in other, similar
contexts) and adequate generality (judges must
articulate a principle broadly enough to make
its scope of application fairly clear).
Wechsler apparently accepted this formu-
lation of his argument. He commented that
courts should not “judge the instant case in
terms that are quite plainly unacceptable in
light of other cases that it is now clear are
covered by the principle affirmed in reach-
ing judgment and indistinguishable upon valid
grounds.” Returning, once again, to Brown, he
elaborated upon the Court’s failure to adhere
to the formal requirement of neutrality in its
opinion. Assuming the need to find a basis for
the holding other than the vulnerable empiri-
cal argument that the Court offered, Wechsler
argued that one “could not responsibly de-
clare the principle that race is outlawed as a
basis of official action.” For, to provide ade-
quate generality, the Justices “were required to
anticipate the problem of benevolent [racial]
quotas, which would be outlawed by the prin-
ciple . . . [mentioned], and indicate if they con-
sidered them distinguishable.””> The Court’s
failure to discuss the impact of the ruling
“apon measures that take race into account to
equalize job opportunity or to reduce de facto
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segregation” thus rendered the opinion in
Brown unprincipled.’®

While these observations may have saved
Wechsler from the charge of incoherence, other
comments he made subsequent to his initial
criticism of Brown have prompted vehement
criticism from contemporary scholars who
have concluded that his constitutional jurispru-
dence is incompatible with judicial recogni-
tion of racial oppression. As one who rejects
the view that Wechsler’s neutral principles re-
quirement precludes judicial acknowledgment
of racial domination, Kent Greenawalt offers
the following as a “principle [that] would sat-
isfy Wechsler’s demand [for neutrality:]...
Racial classifications that disadvantage or stig-
matize members of minority racial groups
are unconstitutional unless they are necessi-
tated by a very grave public need or, perhaps,
unless they promote integration and the long-
term advantage of those groups.”’” As Barbara
Flagg points out, however, Wechsler indicated
that Black’s justification of Brown, which is
implicit in Greenawalt’s principle, “would not
allay his concerns.”’® Specifically, Wechsler
confessed that he was “[unable] to accept
[Black’s and Pollak’s] rationales as an answer
to the difficulties [he had] raised.” The prin-
ciple in Brown (or any constitutional deci-
sion, for that matter), he said, should have
“a scope that is acceptable whatever interest,
group, or person may assert the claim.”’ Flagg
concludes that Wechsler believed neutrality
requires judges to avoid making “analytic out-
comes turn on the identity of affected individ-
uals” or the actual social status of groups.®° Or,
as Cass Sunstein observes, Wechsler thought
that “[t]he existing distribution of power and
resources as between blacks and whites should
be taken by courts as simply ‘there’: neu-
trality lies in inaction; it is threatened when
the Court ‘takes sides’ by preferring those
disadvantaged.”®'

Echoing Black,%? Gary Peller is willing
to entertain the possibility that “Wechsler was
not asserting that broad-scale racial domina-

tion did not exist.” Rather, in spite of his de-
fense of the “living Constitution” concept and
the attendant belief that the meaning of con-
stitutional provisions (including constitutional
rights) is relative to time and circumstance,
Wechsler was concerned about “the contin-
gent and subjective nature of any evaluation of
power in society.” He thought that “[t]he deter-
mination whether broad-scale social domina-
tion of blacks existed—so that the segregation
in Brown would be seen as part of a larger so-
cial inequality—was a [subjective] value ques-
tion,” as opposed to an objective determina-
tion of fact. In spite of his protestations against
his early critics, then, Wechsler apparently im-
posed a substantive, and not merely a for-
mal, constraint upon judicial decision-making
when he forbade judges to make this value
choice. In Peller’s view, however, “the actual
distribution of wealth, jobs, political power,
intellectual prestige, educational opportunity,
housing, and social status between whites and
blacks in fifties America” (to say nothing of
the racial violence during the early 1960s) was
more than sufficient to “prove the inequality
that Wechsler could not find from the fact of
segregated schools in Brown.” Since Wechsler
never wavered from his earlier position, Peller
concludes—in a statement at odds with the
measured tone of his initial assessment—that
Wechsler “assumed that social domination of
blacks either did not exist or that such a racial
regime did not impugn the legitimacy of the
legislature.”®3

Pellers criticism of Wechsler’s “apolo-
getic vision of American society,”®* however,
pales in contrast to that of David Richards.
Borrowing from Black’s analysis of Brown,
Richards characterizes the decision “as an at-
tempt to assure special protection to groups
systematically denied the moral consideration
due them.” Brown, he believes, “reflects se-
rious consideration of social facts of group
prejudice and its unfair force in majoritarian
politics.” Wechsler’s “summary dismissal of
any kind of inquiry into legislative motives,”
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by contrast, “evidences his refusal to take seri-
ously familiar facts of social life, in this case,
the force of the separate-but-equal doctrine as
a formal mask of racial hatred.” Wechsler’s re-
sulting conclusion that Brown is unprincipled
and therefore illegitimate, Richards contends,
reveals not only “the excessively formal char-
acter of his notion of ‘neutral principles™ but a
“striking failure of moral imagination” on his
part as well.®°

Conclusion

The near-universal agreement regarding
Brown’s greatness, and the invective visited
upon those few individuals who would ques-
tion the legitimacy of the decision, should not
lead one to conclude that Brown is no longer
the subject of scholarly controversy. Ironically,
one contemporary debate focuses upon an
issue that even the members of the Supreme
Court in 1954 had conceded to defenders of
segregation—Brown’s apparent inconsistency
with the intentions of the Framers of the
Fourteenth Amendment. The urgency that
certain scholars exhibit in defending the view
that Brown can be reconciled with traditional
legal materials®® stems, in part, from the
fact that the decision has been a particularly
effective weapon in the arsenal of defenders
of the “living Constitution” concept.?’ As
Michael McConnell notes: “[Wlhat was
once seen as a weakness in the Supreme
Court’s decision in Brown™—namely, the
decision’s nonconformity to the Framers’
intentions—“is now a mighty weapon against
the proposition that the Constitution should
be interpreted as it was understood by the
people who framed and ratified it.” Indeed,
“[sJuch is the moral authority of Browrn that
if any particular theory [of judicial review]
does not produce the conclusion that Brown
was correctly decided, the theory is seriously
discredited.”8®

A more pertinent line of inquiry from
the perspective of the majority of scholars
who accept Brown’s irreconcilability with tra-

ditional materials of constitutional interpreta-
tion is the decision’s import for current con-
stitutional controversies involving race. While
Wechsler was wrong about the legitimacy of
Brown, he observed correctly that the deci-
sion did not provide clear guidance for con-
troversies over “benevolent” racial classifica-
tions. Even the scholarly recasting of Brown in
the 1960s did not afford such guidance, since
a judicial attack upon institutions of white
supremacy can be justified through resort to
principles that legitimize such classifications
as well as through reference to principles that
are hostile to them. Not surprisingly, schol-
ars who are convinced of the dangerousness of
and the lack of need for remedial racial clas-
sifications seek to enlist the moral authority
of Brown by reconciling the decision with the
color-blindness concept.?” Similarly, scholars
persuaded of the need for and the benign nature
of affirmative action are equally intent on link-
ing Brown to the racial subordination concept,
or the idea that government may not act to re-
inforce the subordinate status of a racial group
but may employ racial classifications to aid the
victims of discrimination.’® This debate over
Brown’s legacy reinforces an important lesson
of the battle over the legitimacy of the deci-
sion: that Supreme Court Justices are limited
in their ability to give permanence to the mean-
ing of their decisions. As the history of Brown
demonstrates, the meaning of the Court’s de-
cisions is, at times, the result of a contest
among political forces—forces that would
use those decisions as symbols for political
purposes.’!

*Note: I would like to thank the American
Philosophical Society and the Earhart Foun-
dation for grant support that facilitated the
completion of this paper.
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General Yamashita

and Justice Rutledge

JOHN M. FERREN*

At 2:30 in the morning on February 23, 1946, in a small country village south of Manila
in the Philippines, Japanese Lieutenant General Tomoyuki Yamashita was told, “It’s time.” Not

three weeks after the U.S. Supreme Court had

denied his request for review—with Justices

Wiley Rutledge and Frank Murphy dissenting—General Yamashita, the “Tiger of Malaya,” was

hanged.’

Yamashita had earned his title by taking
Singapore from the British in January 1942
with only 30,000 men to the Brits® 100,000.
Clearly, Yamashita was a brilliant strategist.
But he was no “tiger.” Although he was “a
heavily muscled bear of a man,” he was a calm
soul, a lover of nature. He had outspokenly op-
posed war with the United States and Great
Britain, and thus the Tojo faction rising in
Japan despised him. The Japanese high com-
mand had needed Yamashita in Malaya, but
straightaway thereafter Hideki Tojo assigned
him to an outpost in Manchukuo for the next
two and a half years.> When Saipan fell in
July 1944 and Tojo and his cabinet resigned,
the successors in power recalled Yamashita to
defend the Philippines—a hopeless proposi-
tion, he discovered. Named the Philippines’
military governor, Yamashita took control of

Japan’s 14™ Area Army on October 9, 1944,
when American invasion was imminent.
Less than two weeks later, General
MacArthur landed on Leyte Island midway
along the Philippine archipelago while the Pa-
cific fleet was crippling the Japanese navy
in Leyte Gulf. Yamashita devised a plan to
defend the Japanese occupation on the large
northern island of Luzon in the mountains
around Manila. At that time he had but 100,000
troops, the Americans more than 400,000.* On
January 9, 1945, MacArthur reached Luzon
and advanced toward Manila. Yamashita had
not declared Manila an “open city” outside
the battle zone; because he depended on sup-
plies stashed there. He left a skeleton force
in Manila to inhibit the American advance
while his main forces withdrew. Although
Yamashita had gained effective control over
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General Douglas MacArthur and aides waded ashore on the island of Leyte on October 20, 1944 after Amer-
ican forces overthrew Japanese occupation of the Philippines. As military governor of those islands, General
Tomoyuki Yamashita planned Japan’s vigorous but unsuccessful defense of the occupation. There is still no
proof that he knew of the gruesome atrocities committed by his doomed troops in Luzon.

the air force and ordered it out of the capi-
tal city, he had not been able to assume au-
thority over the navy, which left 20,000 forces
in Manila after informing Yamashita—now in
mountain headquarters—that 4,000 would re-
main. Contrary to Yamashita’s orders, more-
over, his subordinates, in discussions with
the Japanese naval commander, Rear Admiral
Sanji Iwabuchi, did not effectively negotiate
a timely naval retreat from Manila. Although
on paper Iwabuchi reported to Yamashita, he
complied instead with Vice-Admiral Desuchi
Okuchi’s order to remain in Manila, destroy
all naval facilities, and “fight MacArthur
‘to the death.”” As a result, MacArthur—
arriving on February 3—trapped the imperial
navy.’

In his headquarters 125 miles to the north
of Manila, Yamashita had not been able to

learn how rapidly the Americans were advanc-
ing, but by mid-February he realized the sit-
uation and, for the second time, ordered the
Japanese navy out of Manila. It was too late.
By March 3, Japan’s naval and residual army
forces there, including Admiral Iwabuchi,
were dead. In holding out as long as they could
before the Americans wiped them out, how-
ever, Iwabuchi’s navy—filled with liquor and
ordered to take enemy lives—had spread out
as a drunken mob to rape, torture, shoot, and
burn. “Young girls and old women were raped
and then beheaded; men’s bodies were hung
in the air and mutilated; babies’ eyeballs were
ripped out and smeared across walls; patients
were tied down to their beds and then the hospi-
tal burned to the ground”—until MacArthur’s
forces, fighting Japanese sailors hand-to-hand,
ended the atrocities.®
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To this day it is unknown whether
Yamashita had any idea of the Manila carnage
at the time. He had divided his forces into three
groups—one under his direct command in the
mountains well north of Manila, another under
Lieutenant General Shizuo Yokoyama to the
east, and the third under Major General Rikichi
Tsukada to the west. Yamashita’s communica-
tions within his own group, as well as with the
other two, ranged from limited to impossible.”
In the meantime, General Yokayama’s troops
were harassed by Filipino guerillas making
way for MacArthur’s advancing forces. In
a fateful decision, Yokoyama left guerilla
control—without issuing guidelines—to his
field commanders. As a result, one of his col-
onels, Masatosht Fujishige, leading his “Fuji
Force,” deemed as enemy guerillas all civil-
ians in Fuji’s way, including women. “[K]ill all
of them,” Fujishige ordered. By the time the
Americans liberated the area east of Manila,
the Fuji Force had massacred 25,000 of the
estimated 30,000 to 40,000 civilians slain by
the retreating Japanese in Manila and south-
ern Luzon. Isolated from both Yokoyama'’s and
Tsukada’s forces, Yamashita retreated with his
own troops northward, resisting American at-
tacks until September 3, 1945, when he surren-
dered all Japan’s forces remaining on Luzon.?

k0 ok ok k%

On August 8, 1945, when the Allies signed
a war-crimes agreement in London, it cov-
ered only atrocities in Europe; at the time, not
even the U.S. War Department was prepared to
offer a policy for the Pacific. By the end of
August, however, the department had for-
warded to General MacArthur a list of sus-
pected war criminals and put the burden on
him not only to round them up and to iden-
tify and capture others but also to initiate a
plan for bringing them all to trial. Eventu-
ally, the Secretary of War and the Attorney
General, as well as the Joint Chiefs of Staff,
concluded that military commanders had au-
thority to try suspected war criminals before
military commissions established under reg-

ulations the commanders themselves promul-
gated. This left matters up to MacArthur.’”

Immediately after Japan’s surrender on
September 2, President Truman pressed
MacArthur to get on with war-crimes prosecu-
tions. These were not to include those of major
war politicians, such as Hideki Tojo, who were
to face charges of crimes against the peace as
well as against the law of war before an inter-
national tribunal in Tokyo similar to the trial
of the German high command in Nuremberg.'?
As to crimes suitable for trial before a military
commission, the U.S. War Crimes Office in the
Department of the Judge Advocate General of-
fered suggestions to MacArthur, whose deputy
chief of staff, Major General R. J. Marshall,
convened a conference in Manila on Septem-
ber 14 to work out the details. Marshall
informed the gathering that the first trial
would deal with charges, largely developed
already, against General Yamashita, then
in custody. Essentially, Marshall reported—
acknowledging that there was no legal prece-
dent for the charge—Yamashita would be
tried criminally for “‘negligence in allow-
ing his subordinates to commit atrocities.””
MacArthuralso decided to try Lieutenant Gen-
eral Masaharu Homma, whose campaign on
Luzon resulting in the Bataan “Death March,”
had forced MacArthur’s flight from the Philip-
pines in 1942, These were the first war-
crimes trials to result from World War II,
and both dealt—virtually for the first time—
with a commander’s responsibility for atroc-
ities committed by his troops in violation of
the law of war established by international
conventions.'!

After drafting charges against Yamashita,
MacArthur’s headquarters authorized Lieu-
tenant General Wilhelm Styer, who com-
manded U.S. Army forces in the western Pa-
cific, to form a military commission based
on procedures supplied by MacArthur. Next,
after requesting a brief from Washington on
the theory of command responsibility that
could be used against Yamashita, headquarters
referred to General Styer a team of five experi-
enced prosecutors from the Judge Advocate’s



GENERAL YAMASHITA AND JUSTICE RUTLEDGE

\s

Department, later supplemented by a sixth,
Filipino member. Defense lawyers were not
named until just before arraignment, and none
had much criminal or trial experience. The
chief of the defense team was the director
of the army’s prison in the Philippines, three
other members came from the staff that pro-
cessed Philippine civilian claims against the
U.S. Army, the fifth was a tax lawyer, and
the sixth was a legal advisor to the military
police.'?

Three major generals and two brigadier
generals comprised the commission. None was
a lawyer. Nor was any a combat veteran; all had
held desk jobs. The commission called the ar-
raignment proceeding to order in the ballroom
of the Philippine High Commissioner’s resi-
dence in Manila on October 8, 1945, and read
the following charge:

[Bletween 9 October 1944 and

2 September 1945, at Manila and

at other places in the Philippine Is-

lands, while commander of armed

o
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General MacArthur pinned a Distin-
guished Service Cross on Captain
Jesus A. Villamor of the Philip-
pine Air Force on December 22,
1941, shortly before Manila fell
to the Japanese troops commanded
by General Masaharu Homma. Like
Yamashita, Homma—whose campaign
on Luzon resulted in the Bataan Death
4 March—was tried for war crimes.

forces of Japan at war with the
United States of America and its al-
lies, [General Tomoyuki Yamashita]
unlawfully disregarded and failed to
discharge his duty as commander to
control the operations of the mem-
bers of his command, permitting
them to commit brutal atrocities and
other high crimes against people of
the United States and of its allies
and dependencies, particularly the
Philippines; and he, General To-
moyuki Yamashita, thereby violated
the law of war.
There were 64 individual charges specifying
atrocities. Not one mentioned a direct link to
Yamashita. He pleaded not guilty. Trial was
scheduled for October 29.'3
Three days before trial, the prosecution—
which had reserved the right to file addi-
tional charges—served defense counsel with
59 more. The defense moved for a continu-
ance. It was denied. Senior defense counsel
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Colonel Harry Clarke then moved to dismiss
all charges for lack of specificity:

The Bill of Particulars. . .sets forth
no instance of neglect of duty by the
Accused. Nordoes it set forth any acts
of commission or omission by the Ac-
cused as amounting to a “permitting”
of the crimes in question.

The Accused is not charged with
having done something or having
failed to do something, but solely
with having been something. For the
gravamen of the charge is that the
Accused was the commander of the
Japanese forces, and by virtue of that
fact alone, is guilty of every crime
committed by every soldier assigned
to his command.

American jurisprudence recog-
nizes no such principle so far as
its own military personnel is con-
cerned. The Articles of War de-
nounce and punish improper conduct
by military personnel, but they do
not hold a commanding officer [re-
sponsible] for the crimes committed
by his subordinates. No one would
even suggest that the Command-
ing General of an American occupa-
tion force becomes a criminal every
time an American soldier violates the
law. ...

To use a more recent example to emphasize
the point, Clarke was suggesting that under
the prosecution’s theory (as a number of schol-
ars later argued), Generals Westmoreland and
Abrams could be found criminally responsi-
ble for the massacre directed by Lieutenant
William L. Calley, Jr. at My Lai in South
Vietnam. In response, the chief prosecutor,
Major Robert Kerr, stressed that the atroci-
ties were so “notorious,” “flagrant,” and “enor-
mous” that Yamashita must have known about
them “if he were making any effort whatever”
to meet his responsibilities, and that if he did
not know “it was simply because he took affir-

mative action not to know.”'* Motion to dis-
miss was denied.

The trial, open to the public, lasted for
nineteen days of testimony by 286 witnesses—
including not only eyewitnesses, but also
hearsay testimony upon hearsay, and even
uncross-examined affidavits—spelling out the
gruesome details. Only two witnesses of-
fered testimony directly connecting General
Yamashita to the brutality, and the defense
so discredited this testimony that Major Kerr
did not mention it in his final argument
to the commission. In his defense, General
Yamashita testified, without contradiction dur-
ing cross-examination, that he neither directed
nor even knew about the atrocities commit-
ted in Manila—that he had turned evacuation
of the city entirely over to General Yokoyama
while taking his own army north into the moun-
tains. Yokoyama himself testified, confirming
his superior’s story. Even the butcher Fujishige
was there to testify to the same effect, admit-
ting his own personal responsibility.'>

In closing argument, Major Kerr featured
as legal precedent a recent Connecticut case
in which the officers and employees of a cir-
cus company were found criminally responsi-
ble for the deaths of spectators in a circus tent
that caught on fire because of the defendants’
failure to take the steps necessary to prevent
it. The commission retired on December 5 to
review the evidence, announcing it would is-
sue its findings in open court two days later.
The only twelve reporters who had covered the
entire trial—American, British, and Australian
journalists—took a secret poll and voted 12-0
for acquittal.'®

On December 7, 1945, the fourth anniver-
sary of the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor, the
commission reconvened. Its presiding officer,
Major General Russell B. Reynolds, summa-
rized the evidence presented by each side and
announced the commission’s findings (in part):

The Prosecution presented evidence
to show that the crimes were so exten-~
sive and widespread, both as to time
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Major Robert M. Kerr (right) administers the oath to Yamashita (the interpreter is at left). Kerr argued that
the atrocities committed by Yamashita’s soldiers—including rape, pillage, and torture of civilians—were so
“flagrant” and “enormous” that he must have been aware of them.

and area, that they must have been
wilfully permitted by the Accused or
secretly ordered by the Accused. . ..

Itisabsurd. .. to consideracom-
mander a murderer or rapist because
one of his soldiers commits a mur-
der or rape. Nevertheless, where mur-
der and rape and vicious, revenge-
ful actions are widespread offenses
and there is no effective attempt by
a commander to discover and control
the criminal acts, such a commander
may be held responsible, even crim-
inally liable, for the lawless acts of
his troops, depending upon their na-
ture and the circumstances surround-
ing them.'’

Then, after hearing a final claim of innocence
from General Yamashita personally, General
Reynolds announced the commission’s rul-

ing. Based on “a series of atrocities and other
high crimes. .. committed by members of the
Japanese armed forces under your command,”
and given the failure “to provide effective
control of your troops as was required by
the circumstances,” the commission—"“upon
secret written ballot, two-thirds or more of
the members concurring”™—“finds you guilty
as charged and sentences you to death by
hanging.”'®

* 3k ok ok X

While the trial was in progress,
Yamashita’s defense team filed an appeal
with the Philippine Supreme Court chal-
lenging the commission’s jurisdiction to try
the general and contending that he had not
violated the law of war. The appeal was
denied—one justice dissenting—on Novem-
ber 27, whereupon defense counsel petitioned
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Scene in the courtroom during the war crimes trial of General Yamashita. The defendant is seated at left,
surrounded by his defense lawyers. The trial was held in Manila, arguably not the most emotionally stable
venue.

the U.S. Supreme Court for review. In the
meantime, the day after the commission
decision, an angry MacArthur notified the
War Department that he did not recognize any
right of appeal to civilian courts and that he
accordingly planned to go forward under his
own announced procedures, which allowed
for review of Yamashita’s conviction only by
General Styer and then by MacArthur himself.
This notification telegraphed an intention to
approve the commission’s ruling and hang
Yamashita forthwith. The next day, an alarmed
Secretary of War, Robert Patterson, ordered
MacArthur to stop immediately. On December
17, the U.S. Supreme Court stayed all further
proceedings. '

After three contentious conferences on
December 18, 19, and 20, a Supreme Court
majority tended toward agreement not to hear
the case, and Chief Justice Harlan Fiske Stone
prepared a draft denial of the petitions. Jus-
tice Wiley Rutledge—President Roosevelt’s
last appointee to the Court three years earlier—
penned a dissent. The granting of review re-
quires the votes of only four Justices, and af-
ter a final conference on December 20, four
of the Brethren—1Justices Hugo Black, Frank

Murphy, Rutledge, and, probably, Harold
Burton—voted to hear the case.?’ Argument
was scheduled for an extraordinary six hours
on January 7 and 8, 1946. To a former law
clerk, Victor Brudney, Rutledge later wrote:
“[T]here was a three-day battle in conference
over whether we would hear the thing at all.
From then on the pressure was on full force.””?!

Pressed hard in the barrage of questions
from the bench, the government acknowledged
“the lack of direct proof of Yamashita’s guilt”
but argued that, by failing to carry out his
duty to control his troops, he was culpable on
grounds of “criminal negligence” tantamount
to “manslaughter”—under the circumstances,
a hanging offense. Four days later, at the
Saturday conference, Chief Justice Stone pro-
posed denial of all writs sought, making way
for Yamashita’s execution upon approval by
General MacArthur unless commuted by Pres-
ident Truman. Strongly supported by Reed,
Frankfurter, and Douglas—and opposed by
Murphy and Rutledge—the Chief Justice
assigned the opinion to himself, presumably
in the belief that he could attract either Black
or Burton, if not both. Stone soon circulated
a draft, on January 22, expressing a desire for
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Three members of the defense counsel for Yamashita, acting on orders from Secretary of War Robert Patterson,
flew to Washington in January 1946 to file arguments for a motion to save him from hanging. Pictured during
a conference with the prosecution at the Justice Department are, left to right: Major Robert Kerr, prosecution;
Attorney General Tom C. Clark (prosecution); Assistant Solicitor General Harold Judson (prosecution); Captain
Milton Sandberg (defense); and Captain Frank Reel (defense).

the Court’s opinion to come down less than a
week later, on January 28, which placed un-
usual pressure on the two colleagues who had
announced their intentions to dissent.??

Citing the case of the German saboteurs,
Ex parte Quirin, as his underlying text, Stone
noted initially that the Constitution authorized
Congress to create military commissions “for
the trial and punishment of offenses against the
law of war,” and that federal court scrutiny of
military commissions was limited to “habeas
corpus” review. This meant that the courts had
authority to examine only whether the com-
mission had “lawful power” to try the accused
for the offense charged, leaving the military
authorities alone with power to review the le-
gality of the charges, the commission’s factual
findings, and—as a result—the accused’s guilt
or innocence.?

Stone quickly rejected the first defense
contentions by opining that General Styer,

as military commander of the area where
the Manila atrocities occurred, had law-
fully created the commission to try General
Yamashita, and that its authority continued in
the absence of a peace treaty after hostilities
had ceased. The Chief Justice then turned to
meatier issues: the substance of the charge
and the commission’s procedures for dealing
with it. Stone had no difficulty demonstrat-
ing that the charge against Yamashita, but-
tressed by bills of particulars specifying 123
offenses, adequately identified violations of
the law of war. Next, he asked how detailed the
Court’s inquiry would have to be to determine
whether the commission had “lawful power” to
adjudicate Yamashita’s “command responsi-
bility” for those violations. Not very, con-
cluded the Chief Justice. Citing the Fourth and
Tenth Hague Conventions and the Geneva Red
Cross Convention of 1929, Stone announced
that the law of war imposed “an affirmative
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Justice Wiley Rutledge (far left) was photographed in November 1946 with (left to right) Governor Dwight
Green of lllinois, Attorney General Tom Clark, and fellow Justice Harold H. Burton at the Mayflower Hotel. A
month later, Burton and Rutledge—along with Justices Black and Murphy—voted to hear Yamashita's case.

duty to take such measures™ as are within a
commander’s “power” and are “appropriate in
the circumstances” for protecting “prisoners of
war and the civilian population.” The prosecu-
tion’s charge, he said, satisfied that standard
in alleging that General Yamashita had com-
mitted an “unlawful breach of duty” by “‘per-
mitting”” troops under his command—whom
he had an obligation to “control”™—to com-
mit “the extensive and widespread atrocities
specified.”?*

But this conclusion begged a fundamen-
tal question the defense had raised before the
commission and brought again to the Supreme
Court: should not the prosecution have to pro-
ve that the general knew of the atrocities before
he could be charged criminally with failing to
prevent them? If not actual knowledge, should
not the general at least have had reason to
know that the carnage was taking place? Stone

never expressly addressed the “knowledge” is-
sue, but, confusingly, he did inject it indi-
rectly. After emphasizing that, in sustaining the
charge, the Court did “not weigh the evidence,”
he added inexplicably: “We . . . hold. . . that the
commission, upon the facts found, could prop-
erly find petitioner guilty” of a command vi-
olation. To be sure, he was not evaluating
the quality of the evidence against Yamashita;
but he appeared to be saying that the very
power of the commission to adjudicate the
general’s guilt depended not only on a correct
legal formulation of the charge but also on the
adequacy of the commission’s factual find-
ings in support of it. Was he using the
“facts found” to amplify the ambiguous
charge enough to cover and satisfy—albeit
in conclusory fashion—the “knowledge” is-
sue? Even if so, Stone’s failure to address
that question more clearly by explaining the
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importance of the commission’s factual find-
ings in determining the commission’s “lawful
power” over General Yamashita bred substan-
tial confusion.?’

Yamashita’s next contention—that the
commission lacked jurisdiction because its
procedures permitted conviction on evidence
not admissible under the Articles of War (en-
acted by Congress), the Geneva Convention
(adopted by treaty), and Fifth Amendment due
process (established by Constitution)}—gave
the Court a most difficult issue. Over de-
fense objection, the commission had admit-
ted not only live testimony subject to cross-
examination but also depositions, hearsay, and
opinion evidence contrary to the plain lan-
guage of the Articles and the Convention.
Specifically, Article of War 25 prohibited de-
position evidence in capital cases before mili-
tary commissions; Article of War 38 limited
the “procedure, including modes of proof,”
in cases before military commissions—insofar
as the President “shall deem practicable”—to
the “rules of evidence” generally applicable in
federal district court criminal trials, which ex-
cluded hearsay and lay opinion; and Article 63
of the Geneva Convention of 1929 limited sen-
tencing of prisoners of war “to the same pro-
cedures” applicable to members of “the armed
forces of the detaining power”—that is, in mil-
itary courts-martial.%6

Stone held for the Court majority, how-
ever, that, because Article of War 2 specified
that the Articles applied to “persons subject
to military law,” Articles 25 and 38 applied
only to “members of our own Army” and to
personnel who “accompany the army”—not
to “[e]nemy combatants.” Further, concluded
Stone, Article 63 of the Geneva Convention,
while applicable to enemy prisoners, pertained
only to offenses while in captivity, not to war
crimes before capture. Finally, Stone summar-
ily held the Due Process Clause of the Fifth
Amendment inapplicable by writing crypti-
cally that for “reasons already stated,” only
the military authorities—not the courts—had
authority to review the “commission’s rulings

on evidence” and “mode of conducting these
proceedings.”?’

In response to Stone’s draft, Rutledge sug-
gested to Murphy, “You take the charge; I'll
take the balance.” Justice Murphy—a former
high commissioner of the Philippines as well
as governor of Michigan and Attorney Gen-
eral of the United States—soon circulated a
broadside against the majority. Proclaiming
that “due process of law applies to “‘any per-
son,”” including “an enemy belligerent,” Mur-
phy perceived “no serious attempt” to charge
Yamashita with “a recognized violation of the
laws of war.” The general had not been charged
with “personally participating” in “acts of
atrocity,” whether by “ordering,” “condoning,”
or even knowing about them. Rather, opined
Murphy, he had been charged merely with
failing to discharge a duty “to control” the
troops under his command, a charge without
the “slightest precedent” in international law,
especially in the context of a defeated army
in disarray from “constant and overwhelm-
ing assault.” Murphy called Stone’s reliance
on “vague and indefinite references” in the
Hague and Geneva Conventions to define vi-
olations of the law of war “misplaced,” stating
that the provisions cited were “devoid of rel-
evance.” Reiterated Murphy, “In no recorded
instance . . . has the mere inability to control
troops under fire or attack by superior forces
been made the basis of a charge of violating the
laws of war.” Fundamentally, Murphy was ac-
cusing the majority of applying an ex post facto
law by permitting the “military commission to
make the crime whatever it willed” depending
on its “biased view” of Yamashita’s “duties”
and “disregard thereof.”?

Murphy was preaching a sermon based
on natural law, not just on the Constitution.
“The immutable rights of the individual, in-
cluding those secured by the Due Process
Clause of the Fifth Amendment, belong not
alone to the members of those nations that
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excel on the battlefield or that subscribe to the
democratic ideology.” Rather, “[t]hey belong
to every person in the world, victor or van-
quished, whatever may be his race, color or
beliefs.” And, because prisoners of war lack
direct access to the courts, the “judicial re-
view available by habeas corpus must be wider
than usual in order that proper standards of
justice may be enforceable,” added Murphy.
“Indeed,” he concluded, “an uncurbed spirit of
revenge and retribution, masked in formal le-
gal procedure for purposes of dealing with a
fallen enemy commander, can do more last-
ing harm than all of the atrocities giving rise
to that spirit.”>> Murphy overstated his case.
The international conventions cited by Stone
offered a substantial basis—albeit with lit-
tle precedent—for charging criminal liability
for breach of command responsibility. More-
over, some of Murphy’s analysis featured as-

Justice Murphy led a vi-
tuperative attack against
the majority, saying “In no
recorded instance...has
the mere inability to con-
trol troops under fire or
attack by superior forces
been made the basis of
a charge of violating the
laws of war.”

sertion over documentation.* It remained for
Justice Rutledge—formerly dean of two mid-
western law schools (Washington University
and lowa), then federal appellate judge of
the District of Columbia Circuit—to expose,
with intellectual precision, the flaws in Stone’s
presentation.

Murphy had begun writing his dissent
before the Court heard from Stone. Because
Rutledge’s task was more complex, he waited
until he received Stone’s “full opinion” on
January 22 so that he would know his tar-
get precisely. Stone had seemed so determined
that the Court’s opinion issue on Monday,
January 28, that one of the Justices even had
suggested that the majority honor that dead-
line by requiring the dissenters to file their
opinions later. “1 was not going to do that,”
Rutledge wrote a friend. Not trusting that the
majority would extend the usual courtesy of
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waiting to issue the Court’s opinion until all
who were writing had finished, the dissenting
justice “worked night and day until Saturday
noon [the 26™], finishing the first draft one
minute before the conference bell.” He worked
“one night until five o’clock” in the morning,
and collaborated Friday night with law clerk
and secretary “until after midnight.”

Then I went home and worked the
rest of the night, not taking off my
clothes, and coming back the next
morning without either breakfast or
shaving, to spend the next two hours
driving here at my desk with all my
might. ... I notified the conference
that my opinion would be circulated
that afternoon. .. .[TThe brethren all
at once realized that they might not
be ready Monday morning. ... Now
that the tables were somewhat turned
they agreed that we would meet on
Monday morning at ten o’clock to
discuss whether the case should be
sent down at noon.

Stone and the majority decided they needed
another week.’!

Rutledge later wrote to Victor Brudney,
“I had not heretofore had an experience here,
and hope never to have another one, of being
forced to the gun as we were in that case.” The
Justice added, “T didn’t give the boys as much
hell in Yamashita as I wanted to. I felt like turn-
ing loose with all the fire that Murphy poured
on.” Concerned about Murphy’s vituperation,
however, Rutledge believed that, for maximum
impact, he had to keep his own “tone within
some bounds ofrestraint.” So the Rutledge dis-
sent began respectfully:

Not with ease does one find his
views at odds with the Court’s in a
matter of this character and gravity.
Only the most deeply felt convictions
could force one to differ. That reason
alone leads me to do so now, against
strong considerations for withholding
dissent.

More is at stake than General
Yamashita’s fate. There could be no
possible sympathy for him if he is
guilty of the atrocities for which his
death is sought. But there can be and
should be justice administered ac-
cording to law . . .

With all deference to the op-
posing view of my brethren, whose
attachment to . . .[our great constitu-
tional] tradition needless to say is no
less than my own, I cannot believe in
the face of this record that the peti-
tioner has had the fair trial our Con-
stitution and laws command.??

In a dissent scholars have called “master-
ful” and “penetrating,” “undoubtedly a great
opinion”—a “careful examination of detail”
that exemplifies “the fairness” which the
Justice himself “commends as a precept™—
Rutledge then produced an exhaustive
analysis that combined scholarship with elo-
quence. Itis one of the Court’s truly great—and
influential—dissents. Wrote Charles Fairman,
then of Stanford, later of the Harvard law
faculty, “Whether one agrees with him or not
on his several points—and individuals will
vary greatly in their evaluation of the com-
peting interests involved—one must respect
the ideal of justice” for which Rutledge was
striving.*>

In apt summary of the disagreement, Jus-
tice Rutledge observed in dissent:

The difference between the Court’s
view of this proceeding and my own
comes down in the end to the view,
on the one hand, that there is no
law restrictive upon these proceed-
ings other than whatever rules and
regulations may be prescribed for
their government by the executive au-
thority or the military and, on the
other hand, that the provisions of the
Articles of War, of the Geneva Con-
vention and the Fifth Amendment

apply.
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In elaborating his position, Rutledge first
agreed, briefly, with the defense’s argument
that Ex parte Quirin did not justify trial
by military commission in lieu of a civil-
ian court, since cessation of hostilities had
removed all “military necessity” for such a
commission. Rutledge accordingly disagreed
with Justice Murphy’s acknowledgment that
the commission had been legally established.
For that reason, in addition to his concern about
his colleague’s tone (Murphy had even used
the word “vengeance™), Justice Rutledge did
not formally join Murphy’s opinion (although
Murphy joined his). Rutledge did, how-
ever, join unequivocally in Murphy’s con-
demnation of the charge against General
Yamashita.>*

Specifically, in Rutledge’s view, the law of
war permitted conviction of a commander for
failure to control his troops only if there was
credible proof that the commander knew of the

In one of the greatest and most influential
Supreme Court dissents, Rutledge used intel-
lect and careful reasoning to refute Chief Jus-
tice Stone’s legal analysis in /n re Yamashita
fod and argue that the Japanese general was enti-
ﬁ tled to due process.

crimes his troops had committed in time to stop
or at least punish them. According to Rutledge,
however, Stone’s opinion would uphold the
general’s conviction on the ambiguous charge
that he had failed in his duty simply by “per-
mitting” his troops “to commit brutal atrocities
and other high crimes.” Although some might
read the word “permitting” to imply knowl-
edge and acquiescence, noted Rutledge, oth-
ers would say it implied “mere failure to dis-
cover” through the institutional structure of
command—at worst, negligence. Because the
charge, fairly read, authorized conviction on
the latter interpretation—which did not state
a law-of-war violation—Rutledge concluded
that it was fatally defective.®

But, assuming that the charge adequately
informed Yamashita of the conduct and
“knowledge™ that made him legally account-
able under the law of war for what his
troops were doing, Rutledge argued that the
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commission’s findings were inadequate. As
noted earlier in this article, the only two
witnesses who proclaimed Yamashita’s direct
knowledge of the brutality had been so sub-
stantially discredited that the prosecutor ig-
nored them in closing argument. Years later,
Major William H. Parks, in an exhaustive
analysis of the record, identified circumstan-
tial evidence that the commission might have
specified to find that Yamashita at least had
had reason to know of several alleged bru-
talities as they were going on. The commis-
sion, however, made no such express finding.*¢
At most, according to Rutledge (and to others
who have studied the case), the commission—
referring to no facts—proffered “inferential
findings” that Yamashita had “had knowl-
edge.” In the commission’s words, the prosecu-
tion had “presented evidence” tending to show
that the crimes had been “so extensive and
widespread” that the general must have “will-
fully permitted” or “secretly ordered” them.
On their face, these findings revealed no more
than surmise, maintained Rutledge.’’

Furthermore, the “ultimate findings”—
commonly called conclusions of law—on
which the commission premised guilt did not
mention the general’s knowledge. As Rutledge
noted, the commission based conviction on no
more than “(1) the fact of widespread atroc-
ities and crimes” and (2) Yamashita’s failure
“to provide the effective control...required
by the circumstances.” In sum, stressed
Rutledge, whatever findings the record may
have supported, the commission—sustained
by the Stone majority—had found Yamashita
guilty and recommended death by hanging
without either specifying the level of knowl-
edge, if any, legally required for culpability or
attributing to the general any awareness of a
particular atrocity. Because of its ambiguity,
Rutledge concluded, the commission’s ruling
could be read as no more than a conviction for
negligence.®

Moreover, proposed Rutledge, assume
that these ultimate findings—ambiguous, at

best, as to knowledge—would suffice nonethe-
less for conviction if supported by the ev-
idence. The required proof was lacking, he
concluded, because the evidence was tainted
by the “complete abrogation of custom-
ary safeguards” required for its admission.
The commission’s regulations allowed in evi-
dence “[e]very conceivable kind of statement,
rumor, report, at first, second, third or fur-
ther hand, written, printed or oral, and one
‘propaganda’ film.” The commission thus
condemned the general to death, Rutledge
observed, with findings based substantially
on “untrustworthy, unverified, unauthenticated
evidence” not questioned—or even effec-
tively questionable—by “cross-examination or
other means of testing credibility, probative
value, or authenticity.” As a result, reasoned
Rutledge, Yamashita had been convicted based
on knowledge merely imputed to him from evi-
dence that, in fair part, “would be inadmissible
in any other capital case or proceeding under
our system, civil or military.” Nor, finally, had
Yamashita received a real opportunity to
prepare his defense, according to the Jus-
tice, if only because the commission had
denied a requested continuance after the
prosecution—three days before trial—served
on defense counsel “a supplemental bill of
particulars” that contained “59 more spec-
ifications” in addition to the 64 originally
charged.®

Critical to the dissent, of course, was
Rutledge’s legal analysis showing why these
procedural shortcuts violated enforceable
rights of a Japanese general tried for war
crimes in the Philippines. Even the majority
would have agreed that the Articles of War,
the Geneva Convention of 1929, and the Fifth
Amendment Due Process Clause, ifapplicable,
would have required reversal of Yamashita’s
conviction and a retrial, because the commis-
sion’s loose charges and methods of proof had
not conformed to the standards prescribed.
Accordingly, Rutledge detailed the arguments
refuting Stone’s legal analysis.
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In the first place, noted Rutledge, Articles
of War 25 and 38—respectively excluding un-
cross-examined deposition evidence in capital
cases and incorporating, insofar as “practica-
bie,” the rules of evidence applicable to crim-
inal trials in federal district courts—expressly
applied to trials by “military commissions.”
Rutledge recognized, along with Stone, that
Article 2 specified categories of military and
related personnel who were “subject to these
articles”: namely, members of the Regular
Army, cadets, Marines attached to the army,
“retainers to the camp” and other civilians “ac-
companying or serving with” the army, persons
sentenced by court-martial, and residents of
the “Regular Army Soldiers’ Home.” But he
emphatically rejected Stone’s conclusion that
Article 2 should be read to delimit the entire
universe of persons eligible for Article 25 and
38 protections.*

Where, more specifically, was the Stone-
Rutledge conflict? After Congress revised
the Articles of War in 1916, the articles
recognized, as they always had, the military
“court martial” traditionally used to try U.S.
military personnel for military crimes. In
addition, as Justice Rutledge observed, the
revised articles acknowledged, for the first
time, the “military commission.” Since the
days of the Mexican War, the military had con-
vened such commissions—without statutory
authority—to try civilians for ordinary crimes
committed in the “theater of hostilities”
and to prosecute both civilians and enemy
belligerents for offenses against the common
law of war. Confusion developed, however,
because the revised articles did not retain
courts-martial and military commissions
as mutually exclusive tribunals; to some
extent they became overlapping. Specifically,
field commanders were given court-martial
authority to try civilians and enemy belliger-
ents who, when charged with violating the
law of war, had hitherto been triable only
by military commission. But that broad-
ened authority was optional. Accordingly,

to make clear that expanded court-martial
jurisdiction did not contract the jurisdiction
of military commissions, the revised articles
expressly stated that the provisions expanding
court-martial jurisdiction should not be
interpreted to deprive “military commissions”
of “concurrent jurisdiction” for trial of
“offenders or offenses” under the “law of
war.”¥! The question for interpretation, then,
was whether the procedural protections in the
revised Articles of War—newly applicable in
courts-martial of civilians and enemy
belligerents—also now applied to trials before
military commissions. Stone answered “no”;
Rutledge said “yes.”

Stone acknowledged that the revised ar-
ticles did grant protection, for the first time,
to U.S. military (and related) personnel if
tried by military commission, but he per-
ceived no congressional intent to extend those
protections to others. Rutledge, on the other
hand, found no such bifurcation of rights;
to him, the revised articles’ plain language
and legislative history—both of which he
addressed in detail—conferred rights and pro-
tections, such as those in Articles 25 and
38, on trials before courts-martial and mili-
tary commissions alike, without differentiation
among particular classes of defendants. Af-
ter illustrating various anomalies revealed by
the Stone interpretation—including the un-
availability of the articles’ procedural pro-
tections to American civilians tried before
military commissions—Rutledge concluded
that Congress could not have intended “two
types of military commission” in the arti-
cles, the first conducting trials of American
military personnel and civilian followers in
one way, the second trying other American
civilians and enemy belligerents in a different
way.#?

Through similar, meticulous textual
analysis, Rutledge also countered Stone’s
conclusion that the Geneva Convention ap-
plied only to offenses committed by prisoners
while prisoners. If, as Rutledge contended,
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Geneva Convention protections applied to
trial of war crimes committed prior to capture,
then the Articles of War—court-martial
protections—would have applied by way of
that treaty. Finally, Rutledge invoked Fifth
Amendment due process “[w]holly apart from
the violation of the Articles of War and of
the Geneva Convention,” and rejected the
majority’s denial of “all such safeguards.” To
Rutledge, due process was “the great issue in
the cause.” “Not heretofore,” according to the
Justice, “has it been held that any human being
is beyond [the Fifth Amendment’s] universally
protecting spread in the guaranty of a fair trial
in the most fundamental sense.” Warned Rut-
ledge, “That door is dangerous to open. I will
have no part in opening it. For once it is ajar,
even for enemy belligerents, it can be pushed
back wider for others, perhaps ultimately for
all.”®

Specifically, Rutledge added, “the heart of
the security” of a fair trial—especially a trial
on charges carrying the death penalty—lies
in two elements of due process. “One is that
conviction shall not rest in any essential part
upon unchecked rumor, report, or the results
of the prosecution’s ex parte investigations, but
shall stand on proven fact; the other, correla-
tive, lies in a fair chance to defend,” including
a timely understanding of “the exact nature”
of the charged offense, a “reasonable time for
preparing to meet the charge,” the “aid of coun-
sel,” and reasonable continuances to deal with
“surprise.”*4

In conclusion—after forty printed pages
(compared with Stone’s twenty-one and
Murphy’s sixteen)—Rutledge wrote, “What
military agencies or authorities may do with
our enemies in battle or invasion . . . is beside
the point. Nor has any human being heretofore
been held to be wholly beyond elementary pro-
cedural protection by the Fifth Amendment. I
cannot consent to even implied departure from
that great absolute.”** (Rutledge did not elabo-
rate how due process as applied to prisoners of
war might differ, if at all, from the protections

guaranteed to our own military by the Articles
of War.)

L I I

Upon receiving the Rutledge dissent,
Stone drafted over the weekend a section on
due process, concluding that the military com-
mission, by analogy to an expert administra-
tive agency, had used a procedure and ap-
plied an evidentiary standard high enough to
satisfy the Fifth Amendment. His colleagues
Reed, Frankfurter, and Douglas remained on
board, and Burton joined for the first time.
But Justice Black balked. He found Stone’s ad-
ministrative agency analogy too strained; the
commission had conducted a judicial proceed-
ing carrying criminal sanctions. If due process
applied, Black said, the commission had failed.
Black accordingly drafted a concurring opin-
ion to explain why constitutional due process
was unavailable for trials by military commis-
sion. In order to avoid a fractured majority, the
Chief withdrew all discussion of due process.
Black withdrew his own draft and joined Stone.
The others in the majority remained. The
opinions came down on February 4, 1946. Four
days later, President Truman denied executive
clemency. By sunrise on February 23, 1946,
General Tomoyuki Yamashita was dead.*é

The majority’s refusal to address due pro-
cess in Yamashita, according to Princeton’s
eminent constitutional historian Edward S.
Corwin, reflected “a complete [retreat], as
well as [a] completely silent retreat,” from Ex
parte Quirin, on which Stone had relied to
establish the commission’s authority and the
Court’s standard of review. In Quirin, Stone
himself had written that “the detention and
trial” of enemy aliens, charged before a mil-
itary commission with sabotage in the United
States, are “not to be set aside by the courts
without the clear conviction that they are
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in conflict with the Constitution or laws of
Congress constitutionally enacted.” But, the
Chief Justice had emphasized, “constitutional
safeguards for the protection of all who are
charged with offenses are not to be disre-
garded in order to inflict merited punishment
on some who are guilty.” The Quirin Court
accordingly had to evaluate, on habeas cor-
pus, whether the Constitution permitted trial
of “unlawful combatants”—in that case, spies
without uniforms—before a military commis-
sion, rather than a civilian court. It held the
commission proceeding constitutional. In so
ruling, the Court not only addressed the power
of a military commission to try “unlawful com-
batants” for alleged violations of the law of
war, but also necessarily analyzed (before re-
jecting) the defendants’ claimed Fifth Amend-
ment right to presentment before a grand jury
and Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial. Four
years later, however, the Yamashita Court, in
dealing with a uniformed prisoner of war—a
“lawful combatant”—altogether avoided con-
stitutional analysis in rejecting the general’s
Fifth Amendment due-process claim without
discussion.*’

As to construing the Articles of War,
Charles Fairman, a military and constitutional
law expert, wrote at the time that “Mr. Jus-

General Yamashita con-
ferring with his counsel.
He was hanged on Feb-
ruary 23, 1946, nineteen
days after the Supreme
Court issued its opinion.

tice Rutledge would seem to have the better of
the argument.”*® Other scholars have agreed.*’
But this is not to say the Chief Justice lacked a
plausible interpretation. When Stone’s statu-
tory approach is compared with Rutledge’s
analysis, one must say that persons trained in
the law could reasonably differ on this first-
time case. Critical statutory language was am-
biguous; some provisions, literally construed,
conflicted with others; legislative history was
confusing as witnesses before congressional
committees, in focusing on one point, ignored
the implications of their testimony for other
issues perhaps not even visible at the time.
For difficult cases such as Yamashita, the
interesting question often is not what judge
is “correct” when interpreting a statute or
treaty, especially since Congress, in drafting or
approving the legislation, probably did not
come to grips with the issue. In these situa-
tions, there is no “right” answer short of what
a majority of the appellate bench says it is.
Rather, the intriguing inquiry concerns how a
conscientious judge goes about marshaling the
statutory language, committee reports, hear-
ing testimony, and floor speeches in a way
that leads to a particular, coherent result. Ini-
tially, the judge will examine these data and,
when the “answer” is not readily apparent, will
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try to find the most reasonable interpretation
by applying time-honored canons of statutory
construction and scrutinizing the legislation
by reference to external sources, such as ear-
lier versions of the statute that may suggest a
change of congressional policy and prior judi-
cial decisions that give answers to analogous
questions. But there is a deeper influence at
work—the judge’s own persona—that in the
most complex and controversial cases is likely
to channel the judge, at the threshold of the
inquiry, in a particular direction, if not toward
a foreordained result.

Three members of the Yamashita
majority—Stone, Black, and Douglas—
evidenced profound concern for civil liberties
over the years. But they joined Justices
Reed and Frankfurter—and Rutledge—to
comprise the majority during the Court Term
prior to Yamashita in Korematsu v. United
States, upholding six to three (with Justices
Roberts, Murphy, and Jackson dissenting) the
military directive that ordered relocation and
internment of all persons—even American
citizens—of Japanese ancestry living in desig-
nated areas on the West Coast.*° After Japan’s
attack on Pearl Harbor, the Constitution’s
war power left these six Justices unwilling to
interfere with Congress, the President, and the
military.

Once hostilities ceased, with Japan’s sur-
render in early September 1945, a different re-
ality confronted the Court. Although the na-
tion technically remained at war with Japan
(there was no peace treaty until 1952), this
defeated enemy posed no threat. And yet,
in the war’s aftermath, a new mix of anti-
Japanese psychology in the general public—
including the judiciary—took hold. There was
a powerful American feeling that the Philip-
pine people, whom Japanese forces had bru-
talized, deserved to have those responsible
for the carnage brought to justice as soon
as possible. Manila, after all, had been “the
second-most devastated city of World War
11, after Warsaw.” Thus, beginning with the
trials of Generals Yamashita and Homma, al-

ready in captivity, the pursuit of justice in the
Philippines proceeded swiftly, beginning less
than two months after the fighting stopped.
Indeed, these first war-crimes trials required
expedition for another reason: by November
1945, 2,000 Japanese awaited prosecution be-
fore U.S. military commissions.>!

In addition to pressure for speed, other
factors affected these initial prosecutions. The
trials were held in Manila, not an emotion-
ally stable venue. Furthermore, all members
of the commissions appointed to try the two
generals were affiliated with the American
military command (plus a Philippine gen-
eral, in Homma’s case). Neither of these com-
missions, therefore, had even the increment
of detachment that might have been pos-
sible through appointment of a member or
two from another allied country. 3> Moreover,
there surely was concern in the air that un-
less the prosecution obtained convictions in
these first “command responsibility” trials un-
der international law, subsequent trials might
go nowhere. This widely felt need for con-
viction surely affected commission procedure.
MacArthur’s headquarters knew that evidence-
gathering in war-torn areas was difficult,
and particularly that arranging for testimony
subject to cross-examination would often be
impossible. Had MacArthur prescribed for
military commissions the evidentiary stan-
dards of our Constitution, or even of the Ar-
ticles of War and the Geneva Convention, he
would have imposed requirements that made
trial of war crimes more problematic. Fi-
nally, because no commission member was a
lawyer—not even the commission president,
designated the “law member,” with final au-
thority over legal rulings—there was serious
risk that, both in conducting the trials and in
preparing their findings, the Yamashita and
Homma commissions could stumble badly, or
at least make a reviewing court’s task far more
difficult than it would be if the commission
members had legal training.>?

For all these reasons, the first trials
of Japanese generals before U.S. military
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commissions in the Philippines immediately
after World War II were likely to deviate from
the norms that governed criminal trials in fed-
eral and state courts on the American main-
land. U.S. Supreme Court justices looking at
what happened in those first commission pro-
ceedings, therefore, had to know that under
the circumstances, not much better could have
been expected. Thus, one can at least under-
stand why a Justice would not have been will-
ing to set the bar higher than the Stone ma-
jority placed it. Moreover, at some level a Jus-
tice may have asked himself, were not the war
crimes trials part of the war itself—a final
reckoning—rather than severable accountings
under the system of justice applicable in peace-
time? Rutledge and Murphy were taking stan-
dards of criminal procedure prevalent in a sta-
ble society and applying them to judgment of
behavior in a chaotic, war-torn environment.
This arguable disconnect between wartime evil
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When Gordon K. Hiribayashi (center, teaching at the University of Alberta in Canada) was a college senior

and peacetime justice was a powerful pres-
sure to temporize. The Supreme Court Justices
could not have avoided thinking about the pre-
dictable impact of a decision to reverse the first
conviction of a Japanese general. Other com-
mission proceedings in progress would have
had to be redone or even abandoned. Feeling
in America—not to mention the Philippines—
would run high. And there was likely to be
damage to the Court as an institution if it was
publicly branded again as an obstructionist in-
stitution out of touch with the nation’s idea of
justice (recall the “Court-packing” days less
than a decade earlier**), particularly when the
country was coming out of a war with several
brutal enemies. And what if the President—
or even General MacArthur himself—decided
to execute General Yamashita no matter what
the Court said? These possibilities may not
have been as far-fetched as modern Court-
supporters might assume.® The Justices’
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in 1942, he refused to obey orders that required Japanese-Americans such as himself to comply with a
curfew and to register for evacuation to relocation centers. In 1943, a unanimous Supreme Court—including
Justices Rutledge and Murphy—held that the threat of invasion and sabotage justified the curfew limiting the
constitutional rights of Japanese-American citizens. But later, in the Korematsu case, Murphy dissented while
Rutledge joined when the Court upheld the evacuation program.



GENERAL YAMASHITA AND JUSTICE RUTLEDGE 73

inevitable concern about the Court’s reputation
thus compounded the pressure on them not to
interfere with military commission justice.

Undoubtedly aware—especially after
reading Stone, Murphy, and Rutledge—that
the Yamashita decision could reasonably
go either way, each Justice had to make a
judgment that, realistically, would not be
purely legal. Its content, unavoidably, would
be intellectual, practical, and emotional. In
deciding General Yamashita’s fate, would it
be more sound and responsible for a Justice
to invoke separation of powers doctrine,
meaning deferral to the President and General
MacArthur, or to extend rights specified in
international treaties and the U.S. Constitution
to enemy prisoners of war in trials of charges
condemning belligerent acts prior to capture?
Put another way, should the Court clear the
way for the democratically elected branches of
government to assume the moral and political
responsibility for determining, ultimately,
the rules for going forward against captured
enemy commanders—subject only to the
most limited scrutiny by the small cadre of
lifetime judicial appointees in the Marble
Palace on Capitol Hill? Or should the only
branch of government the Founders had
established to protect the individual against
majority passions hold firm—for the sake
of the very principles the war was fought to
protect—against procedural shortcuts which,
upon reflection in less stressful moments,
might be seen to suggest vengeance more than
justice?

It is doubtful that any Justice put ques-
tions to himself in quite this way. Any is-
sue presented to a court, at least initially, is
posed in a conscientious judge’s mind as a
purely legal one. And, in most instances, it
stays that way, because the law has developed
to a point at which the result is indicated with-
out serious doubt. Yet sometimes the issue is
novel, the result is far from clear, the conse-
quences are enormous, and the judge—after
hard work and deep debate—is honest enough
to acknowledge, privately, that an opinion

will “write”—that is, it will reflect sufficient
intellectual integrity—with more than one out-
come. At that point, as Rutledge himself would
have agreed,’® the judge inevitably confronts a
question of personal values that ultimately will
drive the judge’s decision, however clothed in
legal language. Once that inherently emotional
“values™ content is added to the mix, more-
over, a decision on which reasonable minds
can differ often will become transmuted in
the particular judge’s mind into a decision that
could come out only one way. Merger of emo-
tion with intellect becomes complete. The in-
quiry, initially laden with doubt, becomes a
conviction, finally suffused with certainty—
sometimes even permitting anger at a col-
league who disagrees.

Armed with conviction by this intel-
lectual-practical-emotional process, the Court
majority in Yamashita, led by Stone but influ-
enced significantly by Black, opted for the war
power over individual rights—indeed, for for-
bearance and deference to the executive branch
over prerogative and engagement as a Court.
Black’s desire to avoid compromising due pro-
cess jurisprudence—as Stone’s revisions in re-
sponse to Rutledge would have required—
achieved some damage control. And Stone’s
desire—shared by others—for as close to a
unanimous opinion as possible accomplished
an authoritative decision without dilution by
separate concurrence. But, as we have seen, by
skipping discussion of the Fifth Amendment,
the Yamashita majority voted for constitutional
avoidance.

To Justice Rutledge, as well as to Jus-
tice Murphy, any rationale for compromising
a constitutional protection of individual rights
was suspect. Rutledge is not known to have
written or spoken about Korematsu in con-
nection with the later war-crimes rulings. But
there can be little doubt that the anguish he
felt in joining that decision—however correct
he believed it was—must have fed his emo-
tions while writing, in his Yamashita dissent,
that “the Constitution follows the flag” to the
Philippines.>’
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Rutledge cared very much about the Court
as an institution; he was not temperamentally
a contrarian; and in war matters he had shown
his respect for congressional and executive
prerogatives. Furthermore, he tried conscien-
tiously to discern and apply the law in every
case with intellectual honesty, come what may.
And there can be no doubt that he tried very
hard to evaluate Stone’s positions with an open
mind. But his highest personal, political, and
judicial value was the worth-—the dignity—of
the individual. And once, by his lights, the war
was over, everything in his makeup encour-
aged a reading of the Constitution and our in-
ternational treaties that would protect the due-
process rights of every individual within this
country’s jurisdiction.

But where, more precisely, did Rutledge
get the idea that uniformed enemy combat-
ants, taken as prisoners of war and tried over-
seas by military commissions for atrocities
violating the law of war, were entitled to con-
stitutional due process? At the time, that was
not established law. “[W]e enter wholly un-
trodden ground,” Rutledge acknowledged.’®
Squarely presented in Yamashita, however, the
issue would be decided.

As a Justice vigilant to protect consti-
tutional rights in all criminal prosecutions,
Rutledge proceeded from an inclination—
call it a rebuttable presumption—that General
Yamashita could rely on the Fifth Amend-
ment. Rutledge was aware, as noted above,
that the Court never before had “held that
any human being is beyond its universally
protecting spread in the guaranty of a fair
trial.” This perspective accordingly affected
how he expressed the specific question pre-
sented: whether “our system of military jus-
tice” shall, alone “among all our forms of
judging,” remain outside constitutional pro-
tection. He found no useful legal precedent
in the Court’s jurisprudence or in that of any
other democratic nation. But, Rutledge ob-
served, “[p]recedent is not all-controlling in
law.” He then outlined his approach to constitu-
tional decision-making. “There must be room

for growth, since every precedent has an origin.
But it is the essence of our tradition for judges,
when they stand at the end of the marked way,
to go forward with caution keeping sight, so
far as they are able, upon the great landmarks
left behind and the direction they point ahead.”
His eye was on a new world order under law.
“If, as may be hoped, we are now to enter
upon a new era of law in the world, it becomes
more important than ever before for the nations
creating that system to observe their greatest
traditions of administering justice . . . The pro-
ceedings in this case veer so far from some
of our time-tested road signs that I cannot
take the large strides validating them would
demand.”®

In ratifying the Constitution, Rutledge
emphasized, the American people had created
a government with a “basic scheme,” reflect-
ing “basic concepts” and “elementary protec-
tion[s]” formulated into trial standards that
incorporated “the fundamentals of fair play.”
Significantly, Rutledge found no indication in
text or history that these protections did not
apply to everyone within the reach of our gov-
ernment institutions. Particularly as our post-
war government anticipated joining a world
community—with enlightened legal protec-
tions reciprocally enforced, he hoped—it was
important, he believed, that this country, in
its own interest, not fail to enforce norms
it would expect others to extend to our own
nationals.®

By saying simply that the commission’s
evidentiary rulings and “mode” of procedure
were “not reviewable by the courts,”®! the
Yamashita majority held cryptically but un-
equivocally that the Fifth Amendment was
not available to the general. In the next Term
of Court, moreover, Justice Frankfurter—
over the dissenting votes of Justices Black,
Douglas, Murphy, and Rutledge—rejected due
process for enemy aliens in greater detail
than in Chief Justice Stone’s Yamashita rul-
ing. Frankfurter held for the Court that, during
a declared war, the President had authority un-
der the Alien Enemy Act of 1798 to deport
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an enemy alien unfettered by due process.®?

Later, in the 1950 Term, Justice Jackson for
the Court—in ruling that German enemies
tried and held by the U.S. military on for-
eign soil were not entitled to habeas corpus
review of their detention after convictions by
military commission—expressly rejected the
contention that the petitioners were entitled to
Fifth Amendment protection.5? Justices Black,
Douglas, and Burton dissented. Of perhaps en-
during significance, Justices Tom Clark and
Sherman Minton, who had taken the seats va-
cated in 1949 upon the deaths of Justices Mur-
phy and Rutledge, respectively, helped form
the majority.
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Scholars have debated, in light of the
Yamashita commission’s conclusory findings,
whether the decision held the general “strictly
accountable” for his troops’ criminal acts or
whether instead, given the commission’s ref-
erence to “extensive and widespread” crimes
“both as to time and area,” the commission
found, implicitly, that General Yamashita ei-
ther knew or must have known what was going
on.% Justice Jackson’s successor as chief pros-
ecutor at Nuremberg, Telford Taylor, pressed
for the stricter understanding at German
war-crimes trials two years after Yamashita,
but he failed.®> The military tribunals con-
ducting the multidefendant trials known as the
German Hostage and High Command cases
took the knowledge issue seriously. The first
applied a standard expressly limiting criminal
responsibility to a commander who “knew or
should have known” what the troops were do-
ing. The second appeared to impose an even
higher standard, requiring “personal derelic-
tion” amounting to a “wanton, immoral disre-
gard” of subordinates’ actions tantamount to
“acquiescence.”®

In the years after Yamashita, war crimes
trials took place around the world, not only
in Manila and Nuremberg and Tokyo but also
in Britain, Australia, China, Russia, Canada,

New Zealand, and the Netherlands. Yamashita
established for use in these trials the doctrine
of criminal liability under the international
law of war for violating the duty of command
responsibility, as refined case by case to re-
solve a variety of issues inherent in a chain of
command. But, the World War II war-crimes
tribunals after Yamashita and Homma rejected
strict accountability in favor of holding a com-
mander criminally responsible only if he ei-
ther had actual knowledge or, under all the
circumstances, should have had knowledge of
his troops’ derelictions—and, with means at
his disposal, failed to act. By 1956, this stan-
dard was appearing in the US. Army Field
Manual ¥’

Fast-forward to the late nineties. Under
Article 7 (3) governing individual criminal re-
sponsibility for war crimes tried at The Hague
by the International Criminal Tribunal for the
Former Yugoslavia, a commander will be ad-
judged criminally responsible for the acts of a
subordinate only if the commander “knew or
had reason to know” of those acts and “failed to
take the necessary and reasonable measures”
to “prevent” them or to “punish the perpetra-
tors.” In contrast, one panel of the International
Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda required, for
conviction, proof that the commander’s “neg-
ligence was so serious as to be tantamount to
acquiescence or even malicious intent.” The
point is that in war-crimes prosecutions after
Yamashita and Homma to the present day, the
“knowledge” deficiency identified by Justices
Rutledge and Murphy has been recognized the
world over, beginning almost contemporane-
ously at Nuremberg and reaching the atroci-
ties in Bosnia and Rwanda over a half-century
later.%®
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Is Yamashita, nonetheless, still good law
in the United States, with its “must have
known” (or lesser) standard for imputing to
commanders criminal responsibility for their
subordinates’ war crimes, and with its largely
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carte blanche deference to military commis-
sion trials of U.S. prisoners of war? Be-
cause Yamashita did not permit conviction
of a commander expressly found to be with-
out knowledge of a subordinate’s atrocities—
indeed, because the military commission prob-
ably should be understood to have found,
however imprecisely, that the general must
have had an inkling or more of what was
going on in Manila—Yamashita does not
stand in the way of an argument that an ap-
preciable level of commander knowledge is
required.®’

Furthermore, important amendments
in Geneva—which the United States has
accepted—brought change to U.S. military
commission treatment of prisoners of war,
effectively overruling Yamashita. Not long
after World War II, tribunals in France, the
Netherlands, and Italy, in line with Yamashita,
rejected arguments that the 1929 Geneva
Convention applied to trials for war crimes
allegedly committed before capture (although
later the French Supreme Court of Appeal,
taking the Rutledge view, reversed that
position).”® Then, in 1949—a month before
Justice Rutledge died of a stroke at age
55—the International Committee of the Red
Cross revised the Geneva Convention to
conform to Rutledge’s understanding of the
1929 provisions, applying the Convention’s
protections to “prisoners of war” charged with
offenses “prior to capture” as well as after.”!
The 1949 revisions—ratified by the U.S. Sen-
ate in 1955"2—also assure that prisoners of
war held by the United States for war-crimes
prosecution will receive the same procedural
safeguards guaranteed to members of the
U.S. military, beginning with notice of the
charge “as soon as possible and at least three
weeks before. .. trial””> and with the right
to “qualified” counsel and to a “competent”
interpreter.”* Of greatest significance overall,
in language virtually identical to that of the
1929 Geneva Convention, a “prisoner of war
can be validly sentenced only ... by the same
courts according to the same procedure”

applicable to the “armed forces of the Detain-
ing Power.””> And a convicted war criminal
is entitled to the same “right of appeal or
petition from any sentence” available to
the Detaining Power’s armed forces.”® As
a result, by reflecting the United States’s
treaty obligation to try prisoners of war in a
forum and with right of appeal under rules
equivalent to those of a military court-martial,
the Geneva Convention of 1949 effectively has
satisfied—and thus substantially mooted—
Justice Rutledge’s procedural concerns
derived from the Court’s failure to apply the
Articles of War either by their own terms or
via the earlier Geneva Convention.”” (It is
unlikely that Fifth Amendment due process,
if applicable to prisoners of war as Rutledge
contended it should be, would have afforded
greater protections than those guaranteed
by the Articles of War to the United States
military.”®)

The Yamashita dissents doubtless con-
tributed to the eventual acceptance around the
world of the rights the dissenters espoused
for prisoners of war charged with war crimes.
By preventing a unanimous Court in the first
postwar trial, and by articulating their legal
views with precision and passion, Justices
Rutledge and Murphy offered lawyers and
judges in subsequent war-crimes trials—as
well as international delegates soon to revisit
the Geneva Convention itself—persuasive al-
ternatives to the rules of law and procedure
applied in Yamashita. Undoubtedly, lawyers in
subsequent trials would have argued, without
help from Rutledge and Murphy, that guilty
knowledge is required before imposing crim-
inal liability on a commander for atrocities
committed by the troops. But with Rutledge
and Murphy in dissent, that effort was all the
more credible. Their dissents also had a chas-
tening impact on the press and the public.
They made opinion leaders think, as editori-
als reflected nationwide—some praising them
greatly.”” These dissents energized the Amer-
ican liberal community, in particular, to moni-
tor the increasing number of war-crimes trials
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taking place around the world.®® And the dis-
sents stood out as expressions of national con-
science at a time when feelings of hate and re-
venge otherwise might have overwhelmed the
nation.

* %k ok ok ok

Near the beginning of his Yamashita dis-
sent, Justice Rutledge wrote:

In this stage of war’s aftermath it is
too early for Lincoln’s great spirit,
best lighted in the Second Inaugu-
ral, to have wide hold for the treat-
ment of foes. It is not too early,
it is never too early, for the nation
steadfastly to follow its great con-
stitutional traditions, none older or
more universally protective against
unbridled power than due process of
law in the trial and punishment of
men, that is, of all men, whether
citizens, aliens, alien enemies or
enemy belligerents. It can become
too late.

He closed by quoting Thomas Paine: “‘He that
would make his own liberty secure must guard
even his enemy from oppression; for if he vio-
lates this duty he establishes a precedent that
will reach to himself.””8!

*Note: Senior Judge, District of Columbia
Court of Appeals. This article is taken from
a forthcoming biography, Salt of the Earth,
Conscience of the Court: The Story of Jus-
tice Wiley Rutledge.
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The death of Justice Byron R. White on April 15, 2002, occasioned numerous assessments,

as had happened when he retired in 1993. From his perspective, he was the accidental jurist.
“Well, I never wanted to be a judge,” he confessed to a reporter in a rare interview in 1999.
“I said to the president I would give it a try.”! White’s “try” lasted thirty-one years, among the
longest tenures of twentieth-century Justices. Yet many appraisals of White passed over a critical
point: the Supreme Court in 1993 was a very different institution from the one he joined in 1962.
This was true beyond the obvious changes in personnel. No one on the bench in 1962 was still
sitting when White retired. In 1962, Ruth Bader Ginsburg, who succeeded him, was only four

years out of Harvard Law School and was completing a year as a research associate at Columbia

University Law School prior to joining the professorate at Rutgers in Newark.

The Court was a different place because
of vast changes in its agenda. The first cases
in which White participated fell late in volume
369 of the U.S. Reports. His first opinion for
the Court came down on June 18, 1962, in vol-
ume 370.% His last opinion for the Court was
published on June 25, 1993, in volume 509.3
The contrast in the Court’s business between
the earlier and later volumes is striking. Some
matters that consumed the Court’s time in 1962
were nonexistent or much less visible by the
early 1990s. Volumes 369 and 370 contain a
sprinkling of cases under the Jones Act and the
Longshoremen and Harbor Workers Compen-
sation Act and a variety of other labor cases as
well. The Court reined in the power of judges
to punish adverse public comment as a con-

structive contempt of court, sit-ins challenged
racial segregation in the waiting rooms of bus
stations, a state legislative committee had a re-
calcitrant witness jailed for refusing to answer
questions, and so on.

Similarly, some issues dominating the
docket in White’s last years on the Court were
either absent or only small dots on the con-
stitutional horizon in 1962. Just weeks before
White arrived, the Court had ventured into the
“political thicket” of legislative districting.*
By 1993, not only was the one-person, one-
vote standard well in place, but the Court
had already confronted partisan gerrymander-
ing and had engaged the problem of majority-
minority districts.> Few perceived immediately
after the 1961 ruling in Mapp v. Ohio® that the
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Court had become the superintendent of law-
enforcement practices in every town across the
land. In 1962, the Court was still nine years shy
of its first invalidation of a statute on grounds
of gender discrimination’ and three years from
a forthright declaration of a constitutional right
to privacy,® with its implication for abortion
rights in the 1970s and beyond. The Justices
had yet to hold unconstitutional any state fi-
nancial aid to sectarian schools,” and debates
over affirmative action were still more than a
decade from reaching the High Court.'” Only
about half the protections in the Bill of Rights
had been made applicable to the states by
way of the Fourteenth Amendment.'! Issues of
workplace discrimination could not make their
claim on the Justices’ time until after passage
of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, and applica-
tion of environmental standards still seemed
far removed from the Marble Palace. Frontal
assaults on the death penalty might be read

Reluctant jurist Byron R. White in 1962, the year he
was appointed to the Supreme Court.

about in law reviews but were not yet being se-
riously developed in briefs and oral argument.

Although free-expression cases were
plentiful enough in the 1950s and early 1960s,
the Court by 1962 had not clearly staked out the
stringent and systematically articulated pro-
tection for speech—political, symbolic, so-
cial, and otherwise—that would be in place
a decade later.'"” This fact should not surprise
anyone who reads Free Speech, “The People’s
Darling Privilege”'? by Michael Kent Cur-
tis of Wake Forest University. Just as White’s
tenure mirrors a docket being recast by politics
and culture, Curtis demonstrates how politics
and culture recast an idea, and eventually the
Supreme Court.

Americans today make an immediate and
correct association between the Court and the
First Amendment’s guarantee of free speech.
For reasons clear to anyone who follows ju-
dicial decisions each Term, it is difficult to
talk for more than a few seconds about free
speech without mentioning the Court. Yet for
Americans living more than a century ago,
that association did not exist. Many, no doubt,
had strong views about freedom of speech, but
there would have been little cause for them
to associate free speech with the federal judi-
ciary, or perhaps even with their state courts.
What those associations were consumes most
of Curtis’s book.

Curtis does not mention Ex parte Cur-
tis,"* but he might have. It illustrates a the-
sis of the book: values undergirding the pri-
macy accorded free speech today largely took
shape outside the judicial arena. In Curtis,
the Supreme Court upheld an act of Congress
aimed at ending the corrupt practice of as-
sessing government workers as a condition
for employment. But it did so by sweeping
broadly: no officer or employee of the govern-
ment could give to, or receive from, another
officer or employee anything of value for po-
litical purposes. Justice Joseph Bradley filed
a lone dissent: “The freedom of speech and of
the press. . . are expressly secured by the Con-
stitution. The spirit of this clause covers and
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embraces the right of every citizen to engage
in such discussions, and to promote the views
ofhimself and his associates freely, without be-
ing trammeled by inconvenient restrictions.”!®
The date of Curtis is 1882, and it may well
be the Supreme Court’s first free-speech de-
cision. Yet by then, serious debate about free
speech had been going on in the United States
for at least eighty-four years. To be sure, the
Court would occasionally revisit free speech
in a few other cases, such as Patterson v. Col-
orado,'® but not until well into the twentieth
century would the Justices begin to speak rou-
tinely about what the clause protected and to
whom it applied. The Court arrived late at the
free-speech party.

The book is not a survey of free-speech
history or doctrine. Readers looking for sum-
maries of decisions on picketing, flag-burning,
flag-saluting, or other specific topics will have
to go elsewhere. Rather, the book is largely
confined to the seventy-year period between
1798 and 1868, dates that demarcate the seed-
time of free speech as the tradition developed
on this side of the Atlantic. Those years began
with enforcement of the Sedition Act and con-
cluded with the ratification of the Fourteenth
Amendment. In between came efforts to si-
lence abolitionists in both North and South,
including attempts to close the mails to aboli-
tionist literature, attacks on dissent in the North
during the Civil War, and endeavors to protect
speech through congressional construction of
the Fourteenth Amendment in 1866. Only in
the final pair of chapters, out of a total of sev-
enteen, does Curtis connect those conflicts and
movements with current Supreme Court doc-
trine and to contemporary proposals on mat-
ters as varied as campaign finance reform and
group libel, wisely noting that an appreciation
of the nineteenth century will inform policy de-
bate today. It is from these, mainly nineteenth-
century episodes, which highlighted widely di-
vergent ideas about free speech, that Curtis
believes modern thinking about free speech
emerged. In them, one finds nearly every imag-
inable argument in favor of speech and nearly

every imaginable excuse for its suppression.
Moreover, the episodes taught valuable lessons
about essentials (and risks) of democratic
government.

Collectively, those free-speech conflicts
highlight two questions that have infused
Supreme Court decisions since the 1920s.
First, was freedom of speech to be a national
right, applying to all Americans, or would it
be left to the discretion of state governments?
In 1798, of course, that question was phrased
somewhat differently: did the national govern-
ment have any authority over speech at all?
If not, where might one look for redress if it
overstepped the line? During the debates over
ratification of the Constitution, Federalists had
maintained that no bill of rights was necessary
because, under a scheme of enumerated pow-
ers, the proposed national government lacked
authority to restrict speech or the press. The
First Amendment, ratified because of the dubi-
ousness of that claim, seemed to add a second
line of defense. Congress, however, thought
otherwise in 1798 and enacted a seditious li-
bel statute that criminalized abusive comments
about the President and members of Congress
(but not the Democratic-Republican Vice Pres-
ident, President Adams’s presumed opponent
in 1800). The Kentucky and Virginia resolu-
tions, drafted by Thomas Jefferson and James
Madison, called on the states to defend fed-
erally protected liberties through interposition
once it became clear that Supreme Court Jus-
tices, sitting as circuit judges, had no misgiv-
ings about applying the act.

The trials and convictions of Republican
newspaper editors undercut the argument, bor-
rowed from Jefferson, that Madison made in
June 1789 on the floor of the House of Rep-
resentatives concerning the efficacy of a bill
of rights: “If they are incorporated into the
constitution, independent tribunals of justice
will consider themselves in a peculiar manner
the guardians of those rights; they will be an
impenetrable bulwark against every assump-
tion of power in the legislative or executive.”!’
Madison thus encountered first-hand a tension
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that not only pervaded the 1798-1868 period
but persisted well into the twentieth century.
“[Tlhere were two American approaches to
free speech,” Curtis explains, “an orthodox le-
gal view and a more popular free speech tra-
dition.” The first was the understanding of the
right as applied by most judges. In the contro-
versy over the Sedition Act, the orthodox view
found punishment of seditious libel accept-
able and considered the First Amendment a
bar only against prior restraints on speech. The
second view of free speech was the right that
many people thought they had: a freewheeling
freedom to criticize government. Although it
lacked solid official footing, the popular view
“had real-world effects—in elections, in legis-
latures, for at least some judges, and in actions
by government officials.” The popular tradi-
tion was “popular” in that it “grew up outside
the courts. . ., and it had significant popular
appeal.”'® Thus, the story of free speech in
America is that of the gradual replacement of
one approach by the other. In a first step, for
example, a salutary result of the Sedition Act
controversy was the near total fall from favor
by the early 1800s of the most crabbed view
of the First Amendment: that it was a barrier
only against prior restraints.

The question whether free speech was a
national or state right resurfaced as abolition-
ism grew into a formidable political force after
1830. Advocates of suppression emphasized
that speech was a matter reserved to the states,
a position reinforced in 1833 by Chief Justice
John Marshall in Barron v. Baltimore," reiter-
ating the prevailing view that the federal Bill
of Rights restrained the national government,
not the states. In the mid-1850s, however,
abolitionist authors in the south found them-
selves under indictment because their thinking
presented a public danger.?® Similarly, the
newly established Republican party found its
message against the expansion of slavery muf-
fled in the South—hence its slogan of 1856:
“Free Speech, Free Press, Free Men, Free La-
bor, Free Territory, and Frémont.”?! In an ex-
ample of necessity begetting invention, theo-

ries combined the privileges and immunities
clause of Article IV with the guaranty of a re-
publican form of government for each state as
a way of asserting a federally protected right
of free speech against invasion by the states.
Thus, Curtis finds the record convincing that
when a Privileges and Immunities Clause was
inserted into the Fourteenth Amendment af-
ter the war, the “original meaning” of sec-
tion one included protection for freedom of
speech.”? Again, the orthodox view did bat-
tle with the popular view. In decisions such as
the Slaughterhouse Cases and United States
v. Cruikshank,® a Supreme Court Bench now
heavily populated by Republican jurists made
sure that fundamental liberties such as speech
remained rights derived from state, not na-
tional, citizenship, and so lacked federal pro-
tection against state infringement. In this re-
spect, at least, President Lincoln’s call at Get-
tysburg for a “new birth of freedom” remained
premature.

The second question highlighted by the
1798-1868 conflicts probed the circumstances
under which speech might be legitimately
abridged. The orthodox view that underlay the
Sedition Act of 1798 (and that the Supreme
Court articulated arguably as late as 19512%)
held that speech crossed into the unprotected
realm if it had a “bad tendency” or advocated
serious harm. The popular view (translated
in the twentieth century into the clear-and-
present-danger test and the more stringent in-
citement test) allowed greater play for the ex-
change of ideas. Yet when war broke out in
1861, the party that had trumpeted free speech
to broadcast its antislavery message took a very
different view of antiwar speech in the North.
To be sure, there were those willing to commit
treasonous acts, but that was not the same as
dissent about war policy or the war itself. For
instance, William B. Woods, a distinguished
Union combat officer whom President Grant
appointed as U.S. circuit judge in the South in
1869 and whom President Hayes elevated to
the Supreme Court in 1881, was the Demo-
cratic speaker of the house and the minority
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leader in the Ohio legislature when Lincoln
was elected. Before finally accepting the need
to protect the northern states, he forthrightly
opposed every Republican measure, including
a loan bill for defense after the firing on Fort
Sumter.?®

Far more outspoken was a former Demo-
cratic member of Congress from Ohio named
Clement L. Vallandigham, one of Lincoln’s
most persistent and vociferous critics whom
Republicans redistricted out of his seatin 1862.
Lincoln’s proclamation of September 24, 1862,
authorized military commissions to try persons
“discouraging volunteer enlistments, resisting
militia drafts, or guilty of any disloyal prac-
tice” and suspended the writ of habeas cor-
pus for those so detained. On April 13, 1863,
General Ambrose Burnside (fresh from the
demonstrable incompetence he had exhibited
in December at the Battle of Fredericksburg)

issued an order in Ohio promising to arrest
those in “[t]he habit of declaring sympathies
for the enemy.” On May 1, Vallandigham spoke
at a Knox County Democratic rally in Mount
Vernon, Ohio, and was arrested on Burnside’s
directive on May 5. According to specifica-
tions in the charges against him, he referred in
his address, among other things, to “a wicked,
cruel, and unnecessary war,” “a war not be-
ing waged for the preservation of the Union,”
and “a war for the freedom of the blacks and
the enslavement of the whites” and insisted
“that if the Administration had so wished,
the war could have been honorably terminated
months ago . . . [through] the intermediation of
France.” After a federal judge refused a writ of
habeas corpus, announcing that there was “too
much of the pestilential leaven of disloyalty
in the community,”?® Vallandigham was found
guilty and remanded to prison, a sentence later

MB. VALLANDIGUAN DELIVERED ATJINE LISSS 70 THE OPIIOKA OF TH6 REUEL PIOKEISIUARD,

Former Democratic member of Congress from Ohio Clement L. Vallandigham was arrested in May 1863 for
publicly declaring his sympathies for the South and condemning the Civil War. This engraving shows him being
delivered at the lines to the officer of the rebel picket guard.
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modified to banishment to the Confederacy.
(The Supreme Court declined jurisdiction over
the commission.?’) So emboldened, Burnside
had the offices of the opposition newspaper
Chicago Times seized in June, but reaction
to that was so negative that Lincoln revoked
the order. Defenders of Vallandigham and the
Times drew on core ideas of free speech: that
it encompassed criticism of government offi-
cials and policies and that it was essential to
popular government. Defenders of suppression
insisted that both Vallandigham and the Times
had crossed the line from free speech into li-
cense, and that their ideas might undermine the
war effort and so bring about harmful results.

While dissent in wartime poses special
difficulties, the trial of Vallandigham and re-
action to it, like the other episodes Curtis re-
counts, were lessons in democracy. Americans
have sometimes been uncomfortable with the
reality that, because ultimate power is vested in
“We the people,” political combat is invariably
a contest for votes. Indeed, elections are op-
portunities for the legal subversion of those in
power. “Politics . . . ain’t beanbag,”?® observed
Mr. Dooley three decades after the Civil War.
Without wide latitude for criticism of public
officials and policies, the promise in the Decla-
ration of Independence for government “by the
consent of the governed” falls short. Democ-
racy presupposes rule by the majority—but
also the freedom of minorities to try to be-
come the majority. A rigorous guarantee of
free speech presupposes a population capable
of rational thought and considered judgment; it
also assumes a population prepared to squelch
unpopular ideas. The ultimate irony of the sto-
ries Curtis tells so well is that “the people”
who fought for broader freedom of speech,
as well as their elected officials, were (are)
neither always correct nor tolerant. It fell to the
Supreme Court to place speech in a preferred
constitutional position to protect democracy
from itself. In order for it to be fully shared
and maintained, the “popular” approach, as
Curtis calls it, has required an embrace by
the judiciary. Exactly why things have worked

out this way is a puzzle that lies beyond the
bounds of Free Speech, “The People’s Dar-
ling Privilege,” but is one that remains to be
solved.

The half-decade after passage of the Sedi-
tion Act witnessed remarkable events. The first
political party system took shape, a develop-
ment Federalists tried to prevent by suppress-
ing their opponents. Jefferson’s Democratic-
Republicans triumphed by winning control of
the presidency and Congress in the elections
of 1800. Even though partisan tensions were
exceedingly high (Jeffersonians accused Fed-
eralists of wanting to reestablish a monarchy;
Federalists labeled Jefferson’s followers as
Jacobins), the world, for the first time, watched
the surprisingly peaceful transfer of politi-
cal power from one party to another.?’ More-
over, the country faced the novelty of divided
government because the federal judiciary re-
mained thoroughly Federalist in its member-
ship. Against this backdrop, Chief Justice John
Marshall issued his opinion for the Court in
Marbury v. Madison® in February 1803.

That case is the title of a monograph®! by
New York University’s William E. Nelson, one
of the most recent of at least fifteen books
now available in the “Landmark Law Cases
and American Society” series, published by the
University Press of Kansas under the general
editorship of Peter Charles Hoffer and N. E. H.
Hull. Much of the series focuses on twentieth-
century landmark decisions, but Nelson’s fits
in well. Without Marbury or another decision
like it, most of the later cases in the series
would never have happened. Within a lean 135
pages of text, Nelson firmly places Marbury
in its historical context and offers perspec-
tive that complements other recent studies®?
on this distinctively American contribution to
political science. He then contrasts Marshall’s
judicial review with its transformations in the
late nineteenth and twentieth centuries, adds
an overview of its adoption by other nations,
and concludes with an extensive bibliograph-
ical essay on Marshall, the Court, and the pe-
riod. The book belongs in the library of anyone,
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Union General Ambrose Burnside ordered the offices of the pro-Confederate Chicago Times seized in June
1863, but reaction by supporters of free speech was so negative that President Lincoln rescinded the order.
Burnside stands in the center of this cartoon in a tattered uniform stamped repeatedly with the legend “Chicago

Times.”

novice or expert, interested in constitutional
development.

At its most basic level, Marshall’s opin-
ion ended the suit filed by William Marbury
and three others to become justices of the
peace for the District of Columbia. Congress
had authorized the judgeships early in 1801,
President Adams had made his nominations,
and the still-Federalist Senate had confirmed
them. But Marshall, still serving as Secretary
of State, had not delivered the commissions be-
fore he swore in the new President on March
4. Disinclined to ensconce more Federalists on
the bench, the new administration refused to
hand over the credentials of office to Marbury
and the others. At the outset, Marbury’s suit
appeared mainly partisan—an attempt to ruf-
fle the new administration. However, by the
time the litigation concluded fourteen months
later, the case had accomplished much more.

Claiming that the minor judgeship was
his, Marbury requested a writ of mandamus
from the Supreme Court, under its original ju-

risdiction, to Secretary of State Madison. But
the premise of the writ was that the execu-
tive branch was answerable to the judicial pro-
cess in the course of exercising presidential
powers such as appointments. In this instance,
that meant a Democratic-Republican execu-
tive official answering to a Federalist Court.
By early 1803, when the case was argued, the
atmosphere was such that Marshall and his
colleagues must have realized that Secretary
of State Madison, with the President’s bless-
ing, would almost certainly ignore a writ. The
Justices’ recourse was a decision that avoided
a confrontation with the executive, addressed
the Court’s role, and handed Marbury nothing
more than a moral victory.

The Court achieved the third objective
by excoriating the Jefferson administration for
withholding the commissions from the would-
be magistrates. The Court achieved the first
objective by concluding that it was powerless
to order delivery of the commissions because
Section 13 of the Judiciary Act of 1789, which
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authorized the Court to issue writs of man-
damus as part of its original jurisdiction, vio-
lated Article III of the Constitution. Because
Article Il spelled out the Court’s original juris-
diction, Marshall reasoned that Congress could
no more add to that jurisdiction than take it
away. If there was no order for Madison to dis-
regard, there could be no confrontation.

Marshall’s opinion addressed the second
objective in two ways. First, in support of the
position that the statute conflicted with the
Constitution, the Court for the first time ar-
ticulated a defense of the doctrine of judicial
review. That is, the Court explained why the
judiciary could not apply a statute passed by
Congress that, in the Justices’ view, conflicted
with the Constitution. In so doing, Marshall
implicitly countered competing theories, dat-
ing from the Kentucky and Virginiaresolutions
and from congressional debates over the Judi-
ciary Act of 1802 (the latter erased the cir-
cuit judgeships created by Federalists in the
Judiciary Act of 1801), that a state legislature
or Congress, respectively, was the appropriate
forum for adjudicating the constitutionality of
national policy. Second, Marshall’s opinion ex-
plained why the executive must be answerable
to the Court, although in doing so Marshall was
careful to distinguish between discretionary
(that is, “political”) actions that were not judi-
cially cognizable and other actions that were.
“By the constitution of the United States,” con-
ceded Marshall, “the President is invested with
certain important political powers, in the exer-
cise of which he is to use his own discretion,
and is accountable only to his country in his po-
litical character and to his own conscience™>
But delivery of commissions fell into the sec-
ond category. “The question whether a right
has vested or not, is, in its nature, judicial,
and must be tried by the judicial authority.”**
Marshall thus assumed the authority to do what
he concluded later in his opinion that the Court
could not do.

Nelson’s goal in Marbury v. Madison
is to present the case as a key step in the
development of American and, much later,

In his new work, Marbury v. Madison, William Nel-
son notes that one of Chief Justice John Marshall’s
principal critics was John Bannister Gibson of the
Pennsylvania Supreme Court. Gibson opposed judi-
cial review because he believed that the people were
the best defenders of the Constitution. Art historians
have questioned whether this image is indeed a por-
trait of Gibson.

global constitutionalism. The decision rested
on “what the justices and nearly all their fel-
low citizens found best in eighteenth-century
constitutionalism™3—a distinction between
law and politics. This itself was an elaboration
of the rule of law, a concept that distinguished
between rules and rulers that lay at the heart
of the Declaration of Independence. Liberty
derived from application of fixed and know-
able law; tyranny and arbitrary government
were associated with law that changed with the
whims of those in power. Even though the elec-
tions of 1800 themselves commanded changes
in the laws, maintenance of liberty remained
identified with the preservation of something
that did not change. “The core thesis of this
book,” contends Nelson, “is that in Marbury
v. Madison, Chief Justice John Marshall drew
a line, which nearly all citizens of his time
believed ought to be drawn. .. between those
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matters on which all Americans agreed and
which therefore were fixed and immutable and
those matters which were subject to fluctuation
and change through democratic politics.”*

Judicial review was hardly an accom-
plished fact in 1803; it took several decades for
it to work its way thoroughly into the American
legal and political consciousness. After all, one
could agree with the premise of the necessity of
maintaining the line between the fixed and the
fluctuating without adopting Marshall’s device
for doing so. Indeed, one of Marshall’s chief
critics, as Nelson notes,?” was John Bannister
Gibson of the Pennsylvania Supreme Court,
who believed that the people were the most res-
olute defenders of the Constitution. In the oth-
erwise obscure 1825 ejectment case of Eakin v.
Raub,’® he deployed a dissenting opinion that
many scholars regard as the most telling re-
buttal by a sitting judge to Marshall’s defense
of judicial review. Denying its legitimacy in
any court, state or federal, unless expressly
authorized by the appropriate constitution,>
Gibson’s opinion remains a storechouse of ar-
guments against judicial review.

Yet it is helpful in the context of Nel-
son’s Marbury v. Madison to recall why Gib-
son changed his mind. As Nelson acknowl-
edges, Gibson recanted on judicial review in
the 1840s because the people’s representatives
had “sanctioned the pretensions of the courts to
deal freely with the acts of the legislature, and
from experience of the necessity of the case”**
What exactly did Gibson mean? The former
reference was to the state convention, which
produced the new constitution of 1838 that, by
its silence on the subject, seemed to counte-
nance judicial review. Reformers had managed
only to impose fixed judicial terms and senate
confirmation of judicial nominees.

Gibson’s second reference harkened to a
peculiarity of Pennsylvania law: the common-
wealth long had no system of equity jurispru-
dence. Instead, judges administered some eq-
uity through common-law channels, and, in a
sharp departure from the principle of separa-
tion of powers, the legislature routinely dis-

pensed equity through private bills. Largely as
a result of Gibson’s nudging, the legislature
granted complete equity jurisdiction to the
state courts in 1836, but in succeeding years
it continued to intrude statutorily into mat-
ters now presumably the province of the
judiciary.*! In 1843, for example, a statute
seemed to allow an illegitimate child to dis-
pose of property that the mother had willed to
others. That construction, Gibson held, would
sanction arbitrary power and would violate the
“law of the land” clause in the state consti-
tution. Were that the intention, “it would be-
come our plain and imperative duty to obey
the immediate and paramount will of the peo-
ple expressed by their voices in the adoption
of the Constitution, rather than the repugnant
will of their delegates acting under a restricted,
but transcended authority.”*> This had been
precisely the basis of Marshall’s reasoning in
Marbury in defense of judicial review. Perhaps
Gibson had come to the conclusion that the
people were not always the trusted guardians
of the constitution, as he had supposed nearly
two decades before. As Edward S. Corwin re-
marked a century later, “Judicial review repre-
sents an attempt by the American Democracy
to cover its bet*>

Nelson believes that Scott v. Sandford and
Pollock v. Farmers’ Loan & Trust Co.** her-
alded a transformation of judicial review into
the mechanism for policy that is familiar today.
“No longer a device for protecting the people
as a whole from faithless legislators, judicial
review had become a means for sectional and
political minorities or individuals lacking con-
trol of the legislative process to . . . overturn the
legislature’s political judgments.” After 1937,
judicial review became a tool “to protect the
interests of powerless minorities identified on
racial, ethnic, religious, or sexual grounds.™>
In both instances, politics merged with law.

However, it may be that Marshall’s attempt
to draw a line between law and politics (on the
assumption that widespread agreement existed
on what “the law” was) had begun to disinte-
grate well before Dred Scott. The decade of
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the 1820s, after all, was a veritable petri dish
of proposals in and out of Congress to rein in
the judiciary, as Gibson’s opinion illustrates.
With Jacksonianism on the march, Marshall’s
opponents were hardly blind to the policy im-
plications of his jurisprudence. The merger of
the two, as Nelson suggests, may have been
inevitable all along.*®

Scholars usually characterize the Marshall
era or others based more on larger-than-life rul-
ings than on run-of-the-mill decisions. Even
decisions important at the time may fade from
sight as a period recedes in time. The Warren
Court (1953-1969) is no exception. Measured
by its impact on the nation, it was one of the
most important epochs in Supreme Court his-
tory. With landmark rulings on race discrimi-
nation, legislative districting, criminal justice,
privacy, and the First Amendment, little of
life seemed to go untouched. By one count,
in the approximately 150 years before Earl
Warren’s appointment as Chief Justice, the
Court had overruled eighty-eight of its prece-
dents. In Warren’s sixteen years, it added an-
other forty-five to the list.*” Closer examina-
tion, however, reveals that, aside from Brown v.
Board of Education®® in 1954 and 1955, most
of the decisions that today are most vividly
associated with the Warren Court fell into the
second part of Warren’s Chief Justiceship, after
Justice Felix Frankfurter’s retirement in 1962
and the arrival of Justice Arthur Goldberg.
According to conventional wisdom, the lib-
eral bloc of four Justices (Warren, William J.
Brennan, Hugo L. Black, and William O.
Douglas) could not reliably prevail without the
addition of Goldberg’s fifth vote. As a result,
the last seven Warren Terms have tended to
overshadow the first nine, leading some com-
mentators to speak of “two Warren Courts” or
to apply words such as “beginnings” or “stale-
mate” to the first period, as if, in view of what
lay ahead, little of consequence happened aside
from Brown.

Yet many people in the late 1950s thought
plenty was going on wholly apart from Brown.
Even before the first school-prayer case in

1962, the Court had gotten into hot wa-
ter. While the most severe forms of political
witch-hunts had dissipated by 1956, fear of
the “Red Menace” had not. Thus when the
Court rendered a series of decisions limiting
the authority of both state and federal govern-
ments to investigate and to penalize suspected
subversives,”® some critics accused the Jus-
tices of following the “Communist line.” “I’m
not accusing . . . [Warren] of being a [Commu-
nist] Party member,” declared Mississippi Sen-
ator James Eastland, “[bJut he takes the same
position they [the Communists] do when he
says the Communist party is just another polit-
ical party.”>! Southerners already perturbed by
Brown now acquired new allies in their cam-
paign against the Supreme Court.

What followed was the first significant na-
tional debate on the Supreme Court since 1937,
outside as well as inside Congress. Alongside
protests such as the “Impeach Earl Warren—
Save the Republic” billboards erected by the
John Birch Society® were mainstream attacks
on Warren and the Court, as happened at a
London meeting of the American Bar Associ-
ation in 1957 to which the Chief Justice had
been invited. Warren was so embarrassed and
offended that he resigned his long-standing
membership in the ABA.>® Another unprece-
dented rebuke followed in 1958, when the Con-
ference of State Chief Justices overwhelmingly
adopted six resolutions that highlighted ques-
tionable decisions. “It has long been an Amer-
ican boast that we have a government of laws
and not of men,” read a report that the con-
ference adopted. “We believe that any study
of recent decisions of the Supreme Court will
raise at least considerable doubt as to the va-
lidity of that boast”** Former Justice James
Byrmnes called for Court-curbing.>

On Capitol Hill, Senator William Jenner
of Indiana introduced a measure that would
have stripped the Court of its appellate ju-
risdiction in several classes of national secu-
rity cases. Other senators and representatives
tried to reverse particular decisions that they
found objectionable. The Senate defeated the
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Jenner bill 49 to 41, and another anti-Court
bill failed by the close vote of 41 to 40. By
late summer of 1958, only one relatively mild
reprimand had actually become law.>®
theless, the Court had been taken to the con-
gressional woodshed.’” Congressional viru-
lence waned only when the Court moderated
its stance in late 1958 and 1959, avoiding
further high-profile national security rulings
that went against the government.*® Had the
pattern of 1956-1957 persisted, the Court
might well have been an issue in the 1960
election. Instead, the campaign was virtually
silent on the Court.

In The Eisenhower Court and Civil
Liberties,”” Oklahoma State University’s
Theodore M. Vestal returns to these and other
decisions and events. He prefers to call the
hardly quiescent judicial years between 1953
and 1962 by the name of the President who
appointed five Justices during his two terms

None-

(1953-1961).%° Vestal’s intention is to rescue
those nine Terms from obscurity and to “pay
retrospective homage to a Court that has not re-
ceived proper accolades for its achievements.
Keeping in mind “the complexity of issues that
form the daily work of the Court®' and with
an appreciation of the times, the author suc-
cessfully supports three propositions using a
combination of statistical data, case analysis,
and contemporaneous commentary.

First, while most Eisenhower appointees
were not judicial liberals in the Black and
Douglas mold, neither were they as conser-
vative as Justice Tom Clark who, by 1958,
was the sole remaining Truman appointee.
Rather they fell into a “middle ground. . . with
Justice Frankfurter occupying a central posi-
tion in their midst.”®> For instance, in federal
and state civil liberties cases in the nine Terms,
Frankfurter voted for the civil-liberty claim in
28 percent of cases from state courts but in

2

The Eisenhower Court and Civil Liberties, by Theodore M. Vestal, seeks to rescue the 1953-1961 terms
from obscurity and to “pay retrospective homage to a Court that has not received proper accolades for its
achievements.” Pictured are Justices William O. Douglas and Stanley Reed, Chief Justice Earl Warren, and
Justices Hugo L. Black, and Felix Frankfurter with newly elected President Eisenhower in 1953.
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42 percent of federal cases, a greater differen-
tial than with any other member of the Court
and ranking just below the Court norm in the
latter category.®® Frankfurter was literally sur-
rounded by Eisenhower appointees. Immedi-
ately below Frankfurter in this ranking were
Justices John Harlan and Charles Whittaker.
Immediately above were Justices Brennan and
Potter Stewart.

Second, the cumulative effect of these
more or less moderate Justices was to lend
the Court a more civil-libertarian shading
than is commonly recognized. Here the author
spots a probably coincidental parallel with the
Eisenhower presidency itself. Crediting
“hidden-hand” techniques and ploys, later
scholarship on Tke has given him higher
marks on leadership than did many observers
at the time.** Similarly, the Court’s “in-
direct correction of oppressive actions of
the government accomplished much more
than was realized.”® The pair of Brown
cases fit this pattern as well. Although the
Eisenhower Court had little to say about
racial discrimination after 1955 other than
in the Little Rock imbroglio,*® the Justices
had “tossed this moral question squarely into
the forum of public opinion. The result was
rational thought and action in an area where
only a decade before there had been silence
and complacency.”®’

Third, even without counting the 1954
and 1955 school decisions, the Court set in
motion major constitutional changes with con-
siderable long-run influence. Justice Bren-
nan’s opinion in Roth y. United States®® “rad-
ically liberalized standards to be applied in
obscenity cases.”® Chief Justice Warren’s
opinion in Trop v. Dulles,”® the expatriation
case, looked to a maturing society’s “evolving
standards of decency” as the preferred method
of construing the Eighth Amendment. Justice
Harlan’s opinion in NAACP v. Alabama’" not
only blocked a clever form of race discrim-
ination but also expressly established a First
Amendment right to association. It was the
Eisenhower Court that set the due-process rev-

In his newly published memoir, John Knox, former
law clerk to Justice James Clark McReynolds (above),
describes how the Court-packing episode of 1937
heightened the seventy-five-year-old Justice’s desire
to remain on the Bench.

olution in motion with its decision in Mapp
v. Ohio, with Justice Clark (a former U.S. at-
torney general) writing the majority opinion.
Justice Brennan’s opinion in Baker v. Carr not
only applied the Equal Protection Clause to
redistricting issues but was “the predecessor
of a new body of law encompassing substan-
tive equal protection [dealing with] alienage,
illegitimacy, age, mental retardation, gender-
based classifications, and indigency.””?
Robert G. McCloskey’s early assessment
of the Eisenhower period makes a thoroughly
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fitting conclusion to the book: “This may not
be quite all a Court could have done. But it is
a lot to do nonetheless.””

Four Justices in the first Term of the Eisen-
hower Court had also sat with Justice James
Clark McReynolds. An unsuccessful “Gold
Democrat” candidate for Congress in 1896,
an assistant attorney general in the adminis-
tration of Theodore Roosevelt, and Woodrow
Wilson’s first Attorney General, McReynolds
was moved to the Court in 1914 after Wilson
found him to be a disruptive force in the cab-
inet. Probably because of his irascible person-
ality, his anti-Semitism, and a jurisprudence
that was obsolete before he retired, the litera-
ture on McReynolds remains scanty compared
to that on other twentieth-century Justices, de-
spite his twenty-seven years on the bench. For
that reason alone, publication of The Forgot-
ten Memoir of John Knox™* is a welcome
event. The volume will not elevate the Jus-
tice’s abysmal “performance ranking,””” but it
illuminates him as a person and as an official
serving in an era that, from the distant perspec-
tive of the early twenty-first century, seems
quaint.

John Knox was “secretary” or law clerk to
McReynolds during the historic October 1936
Term. The volume is an entertaining (and even
suspenseful’®) memoir that Knox began in the
early 1950s on the basis of a detailed diary
he had kept as a young man during his year
with McReynolds immediately after comple-
tion of the L.L.M. at Harvard Law School in
1936. Indeed, the memoir’s editors (Dennis
J. Hutchinson of the University of Chicago,
where Knox spent his undergraduate years be-
fore going to law school at Northwestern, and
David J. Garrow of Emory University) report
that Knox was an habitual diarist, having begun
recording impressions and events as a shy high-
school student in Chicago during the 1920s. In
1978, with qualms about confidentiality ap-
parently eased, Knox released different parts
of his memoir to several law schools and to
the library at the Supreme Court. Nonetheless,
“[t]he work, so long in genesis and distributed

so hesitantly, has been neglected to the point
of being forgotten.”””’

To be sure, this is not a memoir on the
scope of Malvina Shanklin Harlan’s Some
Memories of a Long Life, 1854-1911.78 Her
recollections have the perspective of a mature
woman’s thoughts about many people in many
settings over many years. Forgotten Memoir
is far more narrowly conceived. As Knox be-
gins, “This is the story of a bachelor seventy-
five years old, and of my experience with him
and his negro [sic] maid and butler.””® Despite
its limited focus, the editors believe, Knox’s
memoir is not only unique but valuable. “No
other work,” they write, “captures the tightly
knit relationship between a justice and his tiny
staff: secretary cum law clerk [Knox], ‘mes-
senger’ (driver, valet, general factotum) [Harry
Parker],%° and cook [Mary Diggs].*®! It is also
a story about socially and racially stratified
life in Washington before World War II, when
both personal and professional engraved call-
ing cards were still a social necessity for some-
one in Knox’s position.%?

Knox had Justice Willis Van Devan-
ter to thank for his job with McReynolds.
As a law student Knox had begun a cor-
respondence with Van Devanter (as well as
with Justice Holmes). His shyness evidently
a thing of the past, Knox even invited him-
self to visit Van Devanter, who entertained the
young man with a tour of Mount Vernon and
Arlington Cemetery. But Knox’s initial meet-
ing with McReynolds in the latter’s spacious
ten-room apartment—Iike most of the se-
nior Justices, McReynolds worked at home
and not at chambers in the new Supreme
Court Building—almost scuttled the clerkship.
‘When McReynolds asked if he could take dic-
tation, Knox replied that he used a stenotype
machine. McReynolds said he could not have
such a device in his apartment and would
have to find someone else. Knox saved his
job by promising that he would devote six
weeks of the summer, while the Justice was
away, learning pencil shorthand. The Justice
agreed, then added, “Of course, you won’t be
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paid any salary during those six weeks, you
understand %

One senses something of what it was to
work for McReynolds in the instructions Knox
received from two quarters. The Justice was
firm to the point of being brittle. “You will do
no work at the new Court building. If you need
any books, a messenger from the Court will
bring them out to you in a truck. ... In your
work here,” McReynolds continued, “you will
be both a secretary and a law clerk. I have no
use for women secretaries . . . . They ultimately
became very possessive and wished to run the
whole show . ... And please do not come here
after seven o’clock unless you telephone me
first. A dinner party might be in progress, and
I would not want the noise of a typewriter to
be heard at such a time.”®* Messenger Parker
also advised Knox, “You can’t smoke or drink,
and you can’t have no dates with girlfriends
during the year. If anybody is going to do any
dating, it will be the Justice and nobody else.
You will also be fired if the Justice ever calls up
his apartment during the day and finds that you
are not there. You cannot eat at the Justice’s,
and you will have to walk six or seven blocks
to a restaurant at Eighteenth and Columbia
Road®

The Court-packing plan of 1937, made
public immediately after the Justice’s seventy-
fifth birthday, occupies a chapter of its own.
Knox believed that it steeled McReynolds to
stay on the bench no matter what. “To think
that the President would bring us to this,” Knox
records McReynolds saying in exasperation.
“He was determined to stand his ground, but
he had by now resolved to withdraw . ..and
wait out the hurricane.” Bundles of unsolicited
correspondence soon arrived and made matters
worse. Knox remembers “smeli[ing] smoke
coming from his study. He was burning his cor-
respondence again—and doing so each morn-
ing. [It] was causing both of us embarrass-
ment.” The letters included sentiments such as
“Just-Ice,” “You old Crab,” and “RESIGN.%6

McReynolds is not among those profiled
in Great American Lawyers.?’ Edited by

John R. Vile of Middle Tennessee University,
this two-volume encyclopedia contains bio-
graphical essays, written by more than fifty law
professors, historians, and political scientists®®
on one hundred individuals who achieved fame
as trial litigators and appellate advocates. Each
essay is approximately 2,500 words in length
and concludes with a bibliography.® “Assess-
ing lawyers, like assessing presidents and jus-
tices,” writes Vile, “often requires making
complex moral judgments™® (although no-
toriety as a courtroom trickster was appar-
ently not an automatic disqualification from
inclusion)—and numerous professional judg-
ments, too. Given the multitude of attorneys
who have populated the nation for more than
two centuries, such assessment is a task no one
lightly undertakes. To make the “top” one hun-
dred lawyers in American history, the editor
employed a combination of methods. A sur-
vey allowed legal scholars both to rate individ-
uals Vile had preselected and to suggest some
of their own. The editor’s own careful prese-
lection research was exhaustive. While some-
one might quibble with the final list, no one
is present who does not arguably belong. The
roster contains the names of persons who left
(or who are leaving—nineteen of the essays are
about persons who were very much alive when
Great American Lawyers went to press) in-
delible marks on the practice of law. Thus, part
of the challenge of selection was to confine
the encyclopedia to those who achieved gen-
uine prominence as lawyers, not lawyers who
achieved their prominence elsewhere. Accord-
ingly, the challenge for each contributor was to
emphasize a subject’s legal practice and to re-
sist the temptation to wander far into other ac-
tivities, such as elective office, that might have
engaged a subject’s time. The fact that Vile, as
general editor, is not an attorney (although he
is trained as a political scientist in the judicial
process) may well have enhanced the balance
of the final selection of subjects and the overall
utility of the essays themselves.

Although most Supreme Court Justices®!
are missing from the set, thirteen are included:
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Brandeis, Campbell, S. P. Chase,’®> Curtis,
Fortas, Ginsburg, Harlan II, Hughes, R. Jack-
son, J. Marshall, T. Marshall, Roberts, and
Story. In addition, the list includes at least three
Supreme Court might-have-beens: Jeremiah
Black, nominated by James Buchanan; Caleb
Cushing, probably Grant’s third choice in his
search to fill Chief Justice Chase’s seat; and
Roscoe Conkling, who declined to sit after
nomination by Chester Arthur and confirma-
tion by the Senate. More than one Supreme
Court wanna-be is included as well. Also
present are a host of those who earned a rep-
utation as advocates before the High Court:
Joseph Choate, Archibald Cox, Francis Biddle,
Hayden C. Covington, John W. Davis, and Rex
E. Lee, to name but some, plus the “dream
team™? (William Pinkney, Daniel Webster,
William Wirt, Walter Jones, Joseph Hopkin-
son, and Luther Martin) that presented argu-
ments in McCulloch v. Maryland >*

Aside from the information and perspec-
tive it contains, Great American Lawyers has
a civic mission too. This is apparent in Vile’s
hope that the pair of volumes “will be one way
of directing renewed focus on those who have
distinguished themselves as litigators and of
rekindling serious thought about those quali-
ties that make for a great lawyer.” On balance,
the editor concludes that the categories “great
lawyers” and “great men (and women)”®® are
not mutually exclusive and that the profession
has served the nation well.

“America is the paradise of lawyers,” Jus-
tice David J. Brewer is supposed to have said.
That claim aside, a giance through the direc-
tory of names in Vile’s encyclopedia is a suffi-
cient reminder of the varied roles that lawyers
have played in public affairs since colonial
times. The legal profession has been a source of
civic leadership “far exceed[ing] its proportion
in the population.”®’ That much seems appar-
ent, whether the context is our own day, the dis-
tinct eras of Justices White and McReynolds,
the Eisenhower Court, the free-speech battles
ofthe nineteenth century, or the Marshall Court
itself.
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